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Principal Trading Subsidiaries

SIG’s strategy is to develop and grow the
Group as a leading supplier of specialist
products to the construction and related
markets, in order to achieve sustainable
long term growth in shareholder value.
Insulation Distributors Limited
Germany

A Barry Leonard has worked for SIG for 19 years. He started
as a lorry driver and is now the Logistics Manager for our
new Birmingham insulation warehouse, which covers
80,000 square feet.
B Pauline Rowley is an Administrative Assistant, has worked
for the Company for 20 years, and is responsible for
coordinating customer requirements and liaising with the
warehouse to ensure that all customer orders are fulfilled.
C Robert O’Brien, Sales Executive, explains the benefits
of acoustic insulation material to a customer at an SIG
trade counter.

A

B

D

D Providing excellent service to customers is vitally
important, SIG therefore invests in appropriate delivery
vehicles to meet customer requirements.

C
E

E SIG works closely with architects and contractors to
provide products which meet the required specifications.

I
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At a Glance: Performance

Revenue

17.2%

**

496

1,639

1,500
1,398

trading sites at 31 December 2005

1,269
1,000
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8,000
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05

employees at 31 December 2005

Profit before tax

23.6%

**

£1.07bn

market capitalisation at 8 March 2006

86.8

75
70.2
50

£110m
spent on acquisitions in 2005
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Like for like sales growth***

Underlying* operating profit

Underlying* profit before tax

9.3% 32.6%
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Return on capital employed

30.8%

0

05

Dividend per share

52.7
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* Underlying figures are stated before the amortisation of acquired intangibles, the impairment/amortisation of goodwill and hedge ineffectiveness.
** Represents the percentage growth in 2005 when compared to 2004.
*** Like for like is defined as the business excluding the impact of acquisitions made in the current and prior year.
2004 and 2005 figures are stated in accordance with IFRS.
2003 figures are stated in accordance with UK GAAP.
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About SIG

“Whilst the acquisition programme achieved the largest
number of transactions in any year, it is particularly
encouraging to see the continued progress and growth
achieved on a like for like basis.”
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At a Glance: Activities

SIG is a supplier of specialist
products to the building and
construction industry. It focuses
its activities into four business
sectors: Insulation, Roofing,
Commercial Interiors and Specialist
Construction and Safety Products.
Focus, Specialisation and
Service are the core principles
of SIG enabling the Group’s
businesses to offer expert advice
and know-how, wide product
choice and a fast and efficient
delivery service.
SIG is committed to providing fast,
efficient, no nonsense service to
customers, locally and nationally,
as required.

Insulation

Roofing

Local staff with local knowledge
is the driving force of the
business and empowers it
to effectively compete with
local market conditions.
This mixture of skilled and focussed
people, efficient business processes
and specialist infrastructure
differentiates SIG and has enabled
the Group to become the leading
supplier of specialist building
materials in Europe.

Commercial Interiors

Specialist Construction and Safety Products

04
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About SIG

SIG is Europe’s leading supplier of insulation, roofing, commercial
interiors and specialist construction and safety products.

SIG is the largest supplier of insulation products in Europe. It holds leading market
positions in the UK, Ireland, Germany and Poland and is the leader in industrial
insulation in France. SIG also operates in Belgium, The Netherlands and Austria.
In the USA SIG holds a strong regional position in the industrial insulation market.
Countries of operation:
United Kingdom
Ireland
Germany

France
The Netherlands
Belgium

Austria
Poland
USA

SIG is the largest supplier of roofing products in the UK and Ireland. SIG supplies
products and systems to every sector of the roofing industry for new projects
and for repair and maintenance.

Countries of operation:
United Kingdom
Ireland

SIG is the leading supplier of commercial interiors products in the UK, Ireland
and in the Netherlands. SIG also has activities in Germany, Belgium, France,
Austria and Poland. The product range includes partitioning, ceiling systems,
wall storage, dry wall construction and door systems.
Countries of operation:
United Kingdom
Ireland
Germany

France
The Netherlands
Belgium

Austria
Poland

SIG is a leading supplier of specialist construction and safety products in the
UK and offers a wide portfolio of products including concrete accessories,
waterproofing systems and chemicals, brickwork support systems, specialist
fixings and safety products.
Countries of operation:
United Kingdom
France (Safety)
USA (Safety)

SIG plc Annual Report and Accounts 2005
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Chairman’s Statement

“The Group
enters 2006
with confidence
that further
progress will
be made.”

In 2005, SIG continued its policy of investing in growth and development
both organically and through acquisition. This programme of targeted
investment, and the strong entrepreneurial spirit of the management
and staff throughout the Group produced outstanding levels of growth
over prior year.
Whilst market demand in most of the key areas in which the Group is located
was good, we believe that SIG again outperformed the overall market.

Results
For the year ended 31 December 2005, compared with the corresponding
period in 2004:
Sales
Total sales in Sterling increased by £241.1m (17.2%) to £1,639.3m
(2004: £1,398.2m).
Sales growth, excluding the marginally positive impact of foreign exchange
movement, was 16.7%.
Like for like sales growth (i.e. excluding the impact of acquisitions made in 2004
and 2005) was 9.3% in Sterling and 8.8% on a constant currency basis.
Profits
Underlying operating profit increased by £25.1m (32.6%) to £102.1m
(2004: £77.0m).
Amortisation of acquired intangibles increased by £3.1m to £3.7m
(2004: £0.6m).
As notified in our Trading Statement in January 2006, an exceptional
goodwill impairment charge of £5.7m was made in the year, relating
to the write off of the remaining goodwill of the Screenbase business
(which was acquired in 2000).
Underlying net finance costs increased by £1.7m to £7.8m (2004: £6.1m),
before a credit of £1.9m to finance income relating to hedge ineffectiveness,
arising from the new accounting requirements of IAS 39.
Underlying profit before tax increased by £23.4m (33.0%) to £94.3m
(2004: £70.9m).

The results have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), which are fully effective at
31 December 2005. The comparative information for the year ended
31 December 2004 has been restated on an IFRS basis.
Where reference is made to “underlying”, this should be taken
as before the amortisation of acquired intangibles, the impairment
of goodwill and hedge ineffectiveness.
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Profit before tax increased by £16.6m (23.6%) to £86.8m (2004: £70.2m).
Margins
The gross margin increased to 27.0% (2004: 25.8%).
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G

G

G

Whilst market demand in most of the key areas in which the Group is located
was good, we believe that SIG again outperformed the overall market.
Underlying basic earnings per share increased by 12.4p to 52.7p
(2004: 40.3p), an increase of 30.8%.
We plan to continue the focused and measured expansion of the
Group’s activities.

Les Tench, Non-Executive Chairman

The net underlying operating profit margin increased to 6.2% (2004: 5.5%).

Basic earnings per share increased by 7.1p to 47.0p (2004: 39.9p),
an increase of 17.8%.
A final dividend of 11.5p is proposed, subject to shareholder approval.
This would make a total dividend for the year of 16.8p, an increase of 2.8p
(20%) on the 2004 full year dividend of 14.0p per share. If approved, this will
be payable on 22 May 2006 to Shareholders on the register at 21 April 2006.

Finances
SIG has benefited from another good year of generating cash enabling its
investment in organic and acquired growth, with 97% of profit attributable
to equity holders being converted into free cash flow. After acquisition
spend, gearing increased to 60% (2004: 39%). Interest cover improved
to 13.1 times (2004: 12.5 times).

In the USA, the specific industries which we serve are expected to continue
the programme of investment and rebuilding that began in 2005.
Looking at the prospects of SIG on a longer term basis, we plan to continue
the focused and measured expansion of the Group’s activities, by adding
additional trading sites, and by widening the range of specialist products that
the Group sells. The strength of the Group’s finances will enable the
Company to take advantage of opportunities that may arise.
Increasing global energy prices and concern about the harmful impact of
energy consumption on the environment are expected to influence demand
for insulation. Insulation materials offer a proven solution in the quest to
reduce energy consumption in buildings and in industry. Over time, the
Group believes that governments, businesses and the public will increasingly
focus on reducing energy consumption more vigorously than in the past,
and that as a result insulation demand will rise in the years ahead.

Acquisitions
2005 was the most successful year yet in respect of the Group’s acquisition
programme, with 21 acquisitions completed during the year, for a total
consideration of £110m including assumed debt.

The Group enters 2006 with confidence that further progress will be made.

Each of these acquisitions is complementary to our existing trading activities,
and is within our existing geographic trading regions.
Les Tench

Employees
Personal commitment and the personal will to excel lies at the heart of the
culture of the Group and I would like to thank all employees for their hard
work and valuable efforts during the year.

Non-Executive Chairman

Prospects
The Group has benefited from increased demand and a positive pricing
environment in most of the main areas in which it operates during both
2004 and 2005.
Coming into 2006, it is expected that demand will continue to improve
modestly, but that the impact of pricing, and in particular that of price
inflation, will be less helpful than has been the case for the last two years.
Looking at the three geographic regions in which we have trading
operations, beginning with the UK and Ireland, we expect demand from
both residential and non-residential new build to continue to be positive,
and anticipate some continued weakness in the residential repairs and
maintenance sectors.

Focus, Specialisation and Service
SIG plc Annual Report and Accounts 2005
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Review of the year

Earnings and dividends
Underlying basic earnings per share increased by 12.4p to 52.7p
(2004: 40.3p), an increase of 30.8%.

In Mainland Europe, positive conditions are expected in France, Benelux and
Poland. In Germany, whilst market conditions are expected to continue to
be difficult, we do not expect to see the same degree of decline in general
construction activity which occurred in 2005.
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Business Review

“The combination
of strong growth
from the core
operations of SIG,
and the high level
of acquisition
activity during the
year, produced
excellent overall
results in 2005.”

Glossary of terms
Like for like
Like for like is defined as the business excluding the impact of
acquisitions made after 31 December 2003.
Underlying basis
Where reference is made to “underlying”, this should be taken as before
the amortisation of acquired intangibles, the impairment of goodwill and
hedge ineffectiveness. These items are presented separately on the face
of the Consolidated Income Statement on page 54.
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This Business Review is intended to provide Shareholders with a summary
of the development, performance and financial position of the Group for
2005 and while it takes account of a number of recommendations as set
out in the ASB’s statement of best practice on the Operating and Financial
Review, it is not intended to comply with all aspects of that statement.
The review provides details of the main trends and factors underlying the
year’s results and which are likely to affect future performance and describes
the Group’s business and its key objectives, strategies, values and resources,
together with the main risks and uncertainties it faces. A cautionary
comment relating to forward looking statements is provided on page 23.
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Gareth Davies, Finance Director

Introduction to SIG

The following table provides an indicative estimate, based upon SIG’s
analysis of sector information, of the breakdown of the 2005 Group
sales into the different end markets. It is not possible to provide an exact
breakdown because there is no reliable means of identifying the specific
end use for every sale that is made.

SIG plc is a leading supplier of specialist materials to the professional
building, construction and related industries, with over 490 trading sites
throughout the UK, Ireland, Mainland Europe and the USA and employs
8,000 people.
The Company has been trading for 50 years, and was listed on the
London Stock Exchange in May 1989.
SIG is a constituent member of the FTSE 250 index, and until
31 December 2005 its listing was included within the Construction
and Building Materials sector. On 1 January 2006 its listing was transferred
to the Support Services sector as part of a general reclassification conducted
by the London Stock Exchange.
On 8 March 2006, the share price closed at 878p. At this date there
were 121,898,166 shares in issue, giving a market capitalisation at that
date of £1,070m.
The vast majority of sales are made to specialist contracting companies and
professional trades, both for new construction and for repairs, maintenance
and improvement (“RM&I”).

Revenue by geographic region
2005 total revenue – £1,639m

Non housing, building and construction
Housing
Industry (non construction)

New
build
% of
subgroup

RMI
% of
subgroup

58%
27%
15%

58%
42%
58%

42%
58%
42%

SIG plays an important role in the construction products supply chain.
This role is characterised by SIG:
G

breaking bulk for manufacturers;

G

providing “immediate” availability of product close to site location;

G

having the most extensive delivery fleet in the industry in the UK;

G

providing technical advice and product expertise; and

G

enabling contractors to maximise efficient use of labour.

Revenue by market segment
2005 total revenue – £1,639m

£68m
4.1%

Total
% of
Group

£90m
5.5%

£328m
20.0%

£473m
28.9%
£1,098m
67.0%
I UK & Ireland

I Insulation

I Mainland Europe

I Roofing

I USA

I Commercial Interiors

£787m
48.0%

£434m
26.5%

I Specialist Construction
and Safety Products

Focus, Specialisation and Service
SIG plc Annual Report and Accounts 2005

09

Review of the year

David Williams, Chief Executive
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Business Review continued

Strategy and objectives
SIG is committed to the following key long term objectives:
G

develop and grow within the Group’s three core principles
of Focus, Specialisation and Service;

G

expand the Company and its activities as a leading specialist supplier
to professional trades in the construction and related industries;

G

supplement organic growth with carefully targeted acquisitions;

G

provide annual dividend growth; and

G

create long term growth in shareholder value.

These objectives are supported by the following operational activities
and dynamics:
1) Organic expansion within the existing geographic regions
A key feature of the essential service to customers is the ability to deliver
product to site or the customer’s premises at very short notice. Lead times
from order placing to actual delivery are usually between one and two days.
In most cases customers are unable to hold any inventory, and delivery
times are critical to ensure the efficient use of manpower on site.
SIG has a programme of investing in new trading sites, in order to increase
inventory holding capability and reduce delivery journey times. The delivery
fleet, which is controlled and directed by local management in each trading
area, is being expanded to ensure rapid availability and flexibility to meet
customer demands.
2) Extending the product range
Extending the range of specialist products and services which SIG offers
improves customer service and market penetration. A recent example is the
growth in sales of specialist building plastics, especially low maintenance PVC
materials used around the roofline of both new and existing properties, as an
alternative or replacement for traditional high-maintenance wood products.
SIG has expanded rapidly in this product line over the last two years, as part
of its focused expansion in the roofing materials market place in the UK.
3) Growth through targeted acquisitions – geographic and product expansion
SIG employs a carefully targeted acquisition strategy. The rationale is to
improve SIG’s geographic coverage, widen its product range, consolidate
and strengthen its market position.
In 2005 SIG invested £110m on 21 acquisitions, which is a record year of
investment both in terms of quantum and value. These acquisitions were widely
spread right across SIG’s geographic areas and in each of SIG’s four business
streams. SIG continues to actively seek further acquisition opportunities.

10
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Over recent years, acquisitions have increased the number of trading sites
in addition to organic trading site openings. This is demonstrated in chart C
on page 19.
The table below details the growth in trading sites during the year:
Number of
trading sites

1 January
2005

Organic net
openings and 31 December
acquired
2005

UK and Ireland
Mainland Europe
USA

257
133
22

80
6
(2)

337
139
20

Total

412

84

496

Further details of SIG’s 2005 acquisition programme are provided on pages
13, 15 and 16.
4) Development of new business streams
SIG has a policy of applying sharp focus to specific specialist products and
customer requirements. This can lead to the creation of a separate strategic
business unit (“SBU”) for particular products or market sectors. At this point
dedicated management and resources are applied, in order to improve
market penetration and grow the business by increasing the focus. As an
example, during 2005 the Specialist Construction Products (“SCP”) business
unit was formed, to concentrate and develop a range of specialist
construction materials including fixings, construction chemicals, specialist
concrete accessories and other related products.
Many of these products have been sold in small volumes as accessories
within other parts of SIG and the creation of a dedicated division
is a natural development.
5) Development of our people
SIG is committed to ensuring that all employees and management
are properly inducted into SIG and given the necessary training to fulfil
their roles.
There is an active and extensive programme of training in place. Full time
dedicated professional trainers are employed, and their work is supplemented
as required by external courses and external agencies. In order to meet ever
increasing customer demand particular emphasis is placed on customer service
and interpersonal skills in the training programme. SIG has an objective of
increasing the number of man-hours of staff and management training each year.
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2005 was a year in which the Group achieved unprecedented levels of growth
and expansion.
Sales increased by £191m (21%) in the UK and Ireland, £40m (9%) in
Mainland Europe and £10m (18%) in the USA.
Two points stand out as key features of the 2005 results; the underlying like
for like growth in sales, and the improvement in the net operating margin.

David Williams, Chief Executive

Trading performance

In markets where we have market leadership, this was reinforced and in
areas where we are still developing our position, considerable progress has
been made.
Whilst the acquisition programme achieved the largest number of
transactions in any year, it is particularly encouraging to see the continued
progress and growth achieved on a like for like basis.
This demonstrates the Group’s policy of driving for organic growth, and
supplementing this with targeted acquisitions.
Two points stand out as key features of the 2005 results; the underlying
like for like growth in sales, and the improvement in the net operating profit
margin. The improvement in these two key performance measures are a
result of SIG’s core principles of Focus, Specialisation and Service.
Trading highlights
Where reference is made to underlying operating profit and net underlying
operating profit margin, this is defined as being before the amortisation of
acquired intangibles and impairment of goodwill.
UK and Ireland (67% of total sales)
G
Total sales increased by £191.0m (21.1%) to £1,098.1m (2004: £907.1m).
G

Like for like sales increased by £86.6m (9.8%).

G

Underlying operating profit increased by £20.6m (32.2%) to £84.4m
(2004: £63.8m).

G

Like for like underlying operating profit increased by £9.4m (15.2%)
to £71.3m (2004: £61.9m).

G

The net underlying operating profit margin was increased to 7.7%
(2004: 7.1%).

G

80 trading sites were added in the year, taking the total at
31 December 2005 to 337 (31 December 2004: 257).

Still the largest single part of the Group, the Insulation operations in the UK
and Ireland had an excellent year.
Total sales increased by 17.3%, and 9.9% on a like for like basis. The net
underlying operating profit margin increased and underlying operating profits
were substantially ahead of prior year.

In line with expectations, the increased demand for thermal insulation products
for use in new buildings, arising from the increased mandatory standards which
were introduced by a change in the UK Building Regulations in April 2002, had
levelled off by mid year 2005. This is reflected in a reduced rate of growth in
like for like sales in the second half year.
After periods of product shortages in 2003 and 2004, additional manufacturing
capacity began to come on stream throughout 2005, partly to meet demand
but also in anticipation of future increases in demand, as the Building
Regulations introduce higher minimum standards of thermal performance in
new buildings again in April 2006. This change in the supply/demand balance
put pressure on pricing in 2005, and some product prices fell during the year.
Demand for insulation for upgrading standards in existing residential
properties increased during the year, and the Group’s leading position with
a number of energy producers and grant schemes enabled it to benefit from
these positive conditions.
In summary, our Insulation business in the UK and Ireland had an excellent
performance in market conditions which became more challenging as the
year progressed.
Against the background of reduced market demand, the Roofing division
increased sales by 15.7% in total, and 5.7% on a like for like basis.
The net underlying operating profit margin was slightly reduced, due to cost
increases associated with expansion and the dilutive impact of acquisitions
made during the year. Underlying operating profits were increased
significantly over prior year.
A significant proportion of sales in this division are materials for the repair and
renovation of the roof areas of existing domestic properties. Some of this work
is driven by discretionary consumer spending – for example the practice of
replacing wood boarding around the perimeter of house roofs with long lasting,
low maintenance, PVC materials. Reduced consumer spending in 2005 has
had some impact on some parts of the roofing industry, and this, together
with a reduction in housing transactions meant that overall market demand
was reduced in the UK. However, in some areas of the country, urban
renewal schemes such as the Decent Homes programme created demand
for complete roof renewals in older residential properties.
In addition, the continued strength of construction in Ireland augured well
for our roofing products, and our roofing sales grew substantially on a like
for like basis through our trading sites in this region.
Market coverage was improved significantly during the course of the year,
and we increased the number of dedicated roofing product trading sites by
64 to 193 at 31 December 2005. The new trading sites were a mixture
of brownfield openings and acquisitions.

Focus, Specialisation and Service
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Review of the year

It is pleasing to report that 2005 was a year in which the Group achieved
unprecedented levels of growth and expansion.
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Business Review continued

Trading performance continued

Mainland Europe (29% of total sales)
Total sales in Mainland Europe increased by £39.8m (9.2%) to £473.4m
(2004: £433.6m).

UK and Ireland continued
The Commercial Interiors operations in the UK and Ireland, benefited
from government expenditure on the renovation and replacement of
schools, hospitals and other public buildings. In addition, other areas of
non-residential construction were quite strong, including hotels, retail
developments, leisure complexes and offices. As the leading supplier of
internal fit-out products to the non-residential building industry, the Group
made substantial progress in 2005. Total sales in the sector were up 25.9%,
and 15.0% on a like for like basis.

G

The net underlying operating profit margin was increased, due to positive
changes in the mix of sales, together with the positive impact of the higher
margin in the business acquired during the year.
The operating profit was substantially increased, both before and after
the £5.7m goodwill write off relating to Screenbase, a business which
was acquired in 2000 and which forms a small part of our UK Commercial
Interiors operations.
In June 2005 we acquired the UK’s premier supplier of high performance
interior door sets, with a proven track record in the design and supply of
quality products to all types of non-residential buildings. This substantially
increases our existing doors business, and is part of the programme of
offering a wider range of products to customers.
The 2004 revision of the UK Building Regulations concerning the acoustic
performance of buildings had an impact on parts of the Commercial
Interiors business (in addition to the UK Insulation business itself), and
resulted in increased sales of certain products to meet the new standards.
Within Specialist Construction and Safety Products, excellent progress
was made with sales up 57.6% in total, and 9.2% on a like for like basis.
The net underlying operating margin increased, and underlying operating
profits were substantially ahead of prior year.
Within Safety products, sales via the Company internet trading site
increased significantly.
During 2005 the Specialist Construction Products division was created
and given increased focus and identity. A new senior management team
was appointed with dedicated responsibility for this emerging division.
Operating in a focused but fragmented industry, the business supplies
essential specialist materials and products to tradesmen and construction
companies working on both housing and non-residential building projects.
Specific products include specialist mechanical fixings and fastenings, chemicals
and metal reinforcing products used in concrete structures and other civil
engineering applications. There are related uses for certain types of insulation
materials, which provide a natural synergy with other parts of SIG.
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G

Like for like sales, on a constant currency basis, increased by 5.8%
over 2004.

G

Total underlying operating profit increased by £4.2m (26.9%) to
£19.6m (2004: £15.5m).

G

Underlying operating profit, on a constant currency basis increased
by 25.6%.

G

Six trading sites were added during the year, taking the total in Mainland
Europe to 139 at 31 December 2005 (133 at 31 December 2004).

G

All countries in which SIG has trading activities increased both sales and
operating profit on a like for like basis, over 2004.

G

The net underlying operating profit margin was increased to 4.1%
(2004: 3.6%).

In Germany (60% of total sales in Mainland Europe), the construction and
building industry experienced lower levels of activity across both residential
and non-residential sectors, which caused a reduction in market demand
for our products, principally insulation and commercial interiors materials.
Market prices weakened, and the combination of these factors made trading
conditions very challenging.
Demand for more specialist insulation materials for a range of process and
industrial applications held up rather better. In addition, we had the benefit
in 2005 of a full year’s contribution from the new trading sites which began
trading towards the latter part of 2004 including three brownfield trading
sites in Austria. Overall, sales increased by 4.2% in Euros, 4.8% in Sterling,
a good performance in a difficult market.
Continued close management attention to pricing controls and cost
efficiencies enabled the net operating margin to be improved, and the
operating profit was substantially increased.
During the course of 2005, we added one further trading site, taking the
total in Germany and Austria combined to 65.
In France (25% of total sales in Mainland Europe), overall market conditions
were favourable, with good levels of demand for both insulation and
commercial interiors products, and pricing levels firm.
In addition, we continued to expand our sales of air handling products,
which are used primarily in larger, non-residential buildings.
The two roofing trading sites which were opened in 2003 on a trial basis
had not met our expectations, and they were sold in November 2005.
Total sales in France increased by 13.6% in Euros, 14.3% in Sterling.
The like for like sales growth on a constant currency basis was 8.2%.
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“This performance also demonstrates the success
of another combination; that of clear, focused
strategies combined with the drive, energy
and enthusiasm of all our employees.”
This momentum was accelerated by the after effects of the catastrophic hurricane
damage which occurred in the Southern US States in September 2005.

We added three new trading sites during 2005, taking our network to a
total of 45 at the year end.

The Group has its larger trading operations in the area affected by the
hurricanes and after a period of major disruption throughout the region,
customers involved in oil, gas and petrochemical industries began to
rebuild, repair and replace process plants. This work requires technical
high temperature insulation as a core material, and the Group’s operations
were able to quickly respond to the increased demand.

In Benelux (7.5% of total sales in Mainland Europe), market conditions
contrasted from weak in the Netherlands, to strong in Belgium. Our activities
are biased towards the Netherlands, and we acquired a further trading site
in Belgium towards the year end to improve our market penetration.
The changes made in 2004 to the branch structure and to the local
management team had a very positive impact on our performance in 2005.
Total sales increased by 9.2% in Euros, 9.9% in Sterling. Like for like sales
growth was 6.7% on a constant currency basis, an excellent achievement
in difficult markets.

It should be recognised that many of our staff experienced enormous
personal difficulties and loss due to the storm damage, including in some
cases the complete destruction of their homes. The speed with which
employees responded to both the personal and business challenges was
very impressive.

Acquisitions
The net operating margin was increased and operating profits rose substantially.
We added three trading sites in the year, taking our total at the year end
to ten.
In Poland (7.5% of total sales in Mainland Europe), we had our most
successful year. Market conditions were actually less favourable than had
been expected, and whilst non-residential construction was a little stronger
than in the previous year, housebuilding, which is very fragmented in
Poland, was reported to have declined.

A total of 21 acquisitions were completed in the year, all of which
complement existing businesses within SIG, and are within countries
in which we already have a trading presence.
The total spend on these acquisitions was £110m (including assumed debt
and contingent consideration) bringing £145m of annualised sales to the Group.
17 of the acquisitions were made in the UK, comprising two in Insulation,
nine in Roofing, one in Commercial Interiors and five in Specialist
Construction Products.

We continued to invest in our operations to improve customer-facing
services, and believe we have made good progress despite the rather
hesitant recovery in the building sector.

The remaining four businesses acquired are in Mainland Europe, comprising
an insulation business in France, an insulation and a commercial interiors
business in Benelux, and a commercial interiors business in Germany.

Total sales, entirely like for like, were up by 23.2% in local currency, 38.9%
in Sterling. In line with the pattern across SIG’s operations in Europe, both
the net operating margin and operating profits were substantially ahead of
prior year.

All of the acquisitions meet the strategic requirement of being suppliers
of specialist products, chiefly to the building and construction industry
and the integration process is progressing well.

USA (4% of total sales)
G
Total sales increased by £10.3m (17.9%) to £67.9m (2004: £57.6m).
G

Like for like sales in local currency increased by 16.4%.

G

Total operating profit increased by £1.3m (78.9%) to £3.0m
(2004: £1.7m), entirely on a like for like basis.

G

The net operating profit margin increased to 4.4% (2004: 2.9%).

Specialist technical insulation materials, used in a wide range of industrial,
process and air-handling applications, form the core of the Group’s sales
in the USA, and demand increased throughout the year.

The 68 additional sites added through the acquisition programme have
enabled SIG to reach new customers, extend our product offering to
existing and new customers, and to further improve our standards of
service to all customers thereby continuing the process of strengthening
the Company going forward.

Summary of trading performance
The combination of strong growth from the core operations of SIG, and the
high level of acquisition activity during the year, produced excellent overall
results in 2005. This performance also demonstrates the success of another
combination; that of clear, focused strategies combined with the drive,
energy and enthusiasm of all our employees.

Focus, Specialisation and Service
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Again, local management were successful in achieving an increase in the net
operating profit margin, and operating profits were increased significantly.
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Business Review continued

Financial review
Revenue
Sales for the year rose by 17.2% to £1,639m (2004: £1,398m).
Like for like sales increased in all geographical locations with growth of 9.3% in
Sterling and 8.8% on a constant currency basis. This is the second consecutive
year that we have achieved over 8% constant currency like for like sales growth.

Amortisation of acquired intangibles, goodwill impairment loss and
hedge ineffectiveness
As explained in the Glossary of Terms at the beginning of this review,
the net sum of these items has been presented separately on the face
of the Consolidated Income Statement on page 54 as we believe that
these items should be disclosed separately to assist investors’ understanding
of the underlying performance of SIG. They are explained further below:
G

amortisation of acquired intangibles – £3.7m (2004: £0.6m).
The accounting policies section on page 59 and Note 12 to the
Accounts on page 76 provide details of what is included within intangible
assets and over what periods the assets are amortised. The increase in
the expense is a result of our significant acquisition activity during 2005,
and also because we have taken the option under IFRS 3 not to
calculate and amortise acquired intangibles for acquisitions completed
before 1 January 2004;

G

goodwill impairment loss – £5.7m (2004: £nil). The Directors have
taken the decision to write off all the remaining goodwill relating to
SIG’s Screenbase business. Further details of this impairment are set
out in Note 11 to the Accounts on page 75; and

G

hedge ineffectiveness – income of £1.9m (2004: £nil). There is a small
element of ineffectiveness in our Euro/Sterling net investment hedge
derivatives that we have held since 2001 in relation to our US Senior
loan notes. Under IAS 32 and IAS 39 the movement in the fair value
of this ineffective portion is recorded in our Consolidated Income
Statement. This hedge ineffectiveness is explained further within the
Treasury risk management section on page 22.

Margins
Gross profit margin increased from 25.8% to 27.0% reflecting improved
pricing management and the impact of a number of recent acquisitions that
have historically achieved higher gross margins than that of the Group.
Underlying operating margin improved from 5.5% to 6.2%.
Operating profit
Underlying operating profit rose by 32.6% or £25.1m to £102.1m,
with in excess of 50% of the growth being like for like.
Finance costs
Net borrowing costs (i.e. the net of interest payable and interest receivable
associated with working capital and debt facilities) increased by £1.3m to
£7.0m in 2005. The net borrowing cost as a percentage of average debt
in issue during the year reduced from 6.78% to 4.85%, as SIG refined its
treasury strategy to fully utilise the benefit of lower Euro rates of interest,
whilst maintaining a balance sheet hedged position.
Net borrowing costs benefited from improved working capital management,
which reduced the daily amount of debt outstanding with our banks. Further
details are provided in the cash flow and financial position section on pages
16 and 17.

Foreign currency translation
Overseas earnings streams are translated at the average rate of exchange
for the year with balance sheets at closing rates. The table below sets out
the relevant exchange rates used:

Further details of SIG’s interest rate policies are provided in the interest rate
risk section on page 21.

Average rate

Closing rate

2005

2004

2005

2004

1.464
1.813
5.892

1.473
1.836
6.645

1.457
1.721
5.592

1.413
1.920
5.751

Finance income and charges relating to our defined benefit pension
schemes amounted to £0.9m in 2005 (2004: £0.5m). Further details
are provided in Note 27 to the Accounts.

Euro
US Dollar
Polish Zloty

A credit of £1.9m was made to Finance income in relation to hedge
ineffectiveness. This is explained further in the sections that follow.

Fluctuations in exchange rates have and will continue to give rise to
translation differences of overseas earnings streams.

Profit before tax
Underlying profit before tax rose by £23.4m to £94.3m, representing
growth of 33.0%.

The movement in average exchange rates compared to 2004 had a positive
effect on overseas earnings streams of £7.5m on sales and £0.3m at the
profit before tax level. Further details of SIG’s foreign exchange policies
are detailed in the foreign currency risk section on pages 21 and 22.

Profit before tax increased by £16.6m to £86.8m, representing growth
of 23.6%.
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G

G

G

Underlying operating profit rose by 32.6% or £25.1m to £102.1m, with
in excess of 50% of the growth being like for like.
We have converted 97% (2004: 79%) of the underlying profit attributable
to shareholders into cash.
21 acquisitions were completed in 2005 bringing £145m of annualised sales
to the Group.

Gareth Davies, Finance Director

In 2005, we have seen an upward pressure on the tax charge arising from
increased profits from our overseas businesses taxed at rates higher than
the UK rate of 30%. We would expect our tax charge to continue at
approximately 31% in 2006.
Earnings per share (“EPS”)
SIG achieved 52.7p underlying basic EPS in 2005, which represents an
increase of 30.8% (2004: 40.3p). Basic EPS was 47.0p, representing
an improvement of 17.8% (2004: 39.9p). The weighted average number
of shares in issue in the period rose from 120.9m to 121.6m, as a result
of employees being issued shares under certain of the Group’s share
option plans. Full details of all EPS calculations are set out in Note 8 to
the Accounts on pages 69 and 70.
Dividends
The proposed final dividend of 11.5p per share delivers a full year dividend
of 16.8p, representing an increase of 20%. This is the highest rate of dividend
growth in any of the last ten years. Dividend cover amounts to 2.8 times
(2004: 2.9 times). Going forward SIG intends to maintain its progressive
dividend policy, not necessarily in line with the annual increase in earnings,
whilst maintaining dividend cover of between 2 and 3 times. Chart A tracks
the dividend growth over the last ten years.
Acquisitions
Acquisitions are a key component of SIG’s growth strategy, supplementing
organic growth. The acquisition programme, having been deliberately
de-emphasised in 2003 was re-activated in 2004. The level of acquisition

Chart A – Ten year dividend history

spend in each geographical location will vary each year as opportunities
arise, but has focused on the UK in recent years. Chart B depicts the
acquisition spend over the last three years.
Historically, SIG’s acquisition spend has been contingent upon the availability
of appropriate opportunities and the available internal resource to locate,
complete and integrate investment opportunities. In recent years, SIG has
increased its Corporate Development resources in order to improve the
pace of investment in acquisitions.
A total of 21 acquisitions were completed in the year for a consideration of
£110m (including assumed debt and contingent consideration), all of which
complement existing businesses within SIG, and are within countries in
which we already have a trading presence.
2005

Number of transactions
Annualised sales
Additional trading sites

21
£145m
68

Transactions by geographic segment
UK and Ireland
Mainland Europe

17
4
21

Transactions by business segment
Insulation
Roofing
Commercial Interiors
Specialist Construction Products

4
9
3
5
21

Chart B – Three year acquisition spend
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Taxation
The income tax charge for the year of £28.7m (2004: £21.4m) amounted to
31.0% of profit before tax and impairment of goodwill (2004: 30.5%). This
percentage is quoted before impairment of goodwill as this is a significant non
tax deductible expense in the 2005 Consolidated Income Statement.
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Business Review continued

Financial review continued

G

Acquisitions continued
All of the acquisitions meet the strategic requirement of being suppliers
of specialist products, chiefly to the building and construction industry
and the integration process is progressing well.

a gain of £5.4m as the returns achieved on our pension scheme assets
in 2005 outperformed the core return assumptions; and

G

a loss of £7.3m as a result of changes to two key assumptions, being:
– an increase in the pension scheme liabilities of £6.3m, as a result of
a reduction in the discount rate used to value the pension scheme
liabilities. The discount rate used is the AA rated corporate bond yield,
which, in the UK, has fallen from 5.4% at the beginning of the year
to 4.9% at the end of the year; and

The 68 additional sites added through the acquisition programme have
enabled SIG to reach new customers, extend our product offering
to existing and new customers, and to further improve our standards of
service to all customers thereby continuing the process of strengthening
the Company going forward.

– £1.0m in relation to an increase in the life expectancy assumption
in one of the smaller UK defined benefit schemes.

In order to support SIG’s continued acquisition strategy the Company
obtained additional bank facilities in 2005. Further details are provided
in the liquidity risk section on page 21.

The Group continues to monitor the life expectancy assumptions used to
value its pension scheme liabilities. For the main pension scheme, the life
expectancy for a male pensioner beyond the normal retirement age of 60
is 24 years, which is in line with best practice.

Shareholders’ funds
Shareholders’ funds increased by £35.8m to £289.1m (2004: £253.3m).
The increase comprised the following elements:
£m

Profit after tax attributable to equity holders of the Company
Dividends paid
Exchange differences on assets and liabilities, including tax debits
IFRS transitional adjustments at 1 January 2005
Movements attributable to share options
Actuarial loss on pension schemes (net of deferred tax)
New share capital issued under employee share schemes

57.2
(17.9)
(1.8)
(2.8)
1.3
(1.3)
1.1

Increase in Shareholders’ funds

35.8

Pension schemes
Details of the pension schemes operated by SIG are set out in Note 27
to the Accounts starting on page 90.
SIG contributed £2.8m (2004: £6.5m, including a special contribution
of £4.0m) into its six defined benefit pension schemes during the year.
The total charge to the Consolidated Income Statement was £2.8m
(2004: £1.9m); of this total £1.9m (2004: £1.4m) was charged to operating
expenses and £0.9m (2004: £0.5m) was charged to other finance charges.

Cash flow and financial position
SIG has benefited from another good year of generating cash from
operating activities to help support its strategy of investment in both organic
and acquisition based growth. The following table explains the movement
in SIG’s net debt:
2005
£’m

Cash flow from operating activities
Interest and tax
Maintenance capital expenditure*
Free cash flow available for investment
Acquisition investment (including loan
notes issued to vendors)**
Investment capital expenditure
Dividends (including minority dividends)
Other items
Movement in net debt
Opening net debt
IFRS transitional adjustment at 1 January 2005
(see Note 28)
Closing net debt

The overall defined benefit pension schemes liability, net of deferred tax,
increased during the year by £1.8m to £18.9m. The key component of
this increase is the recognition of an actuarial loss of £1.9m, which can
be broken down as follows:
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2004
£’m

113.6
(29.8)
(21.8)

77.4
(21.2)
(17.8)

62.0

38.4

(104.8)
(10.6)
(18.4)
2.0

(42.7)
(3.3)
(16.0)
1.6

(69.8)
(98.3)

(22.0)
(76.3)

(6.6)

–

(174.7)

(98.3)

* Maintenance capital expenditure is considered as equivalent to depreciation.
** The acquisition investment figure excludes contingent consideration
of £6.0m (2004: £2.3m), which has been recognised as a liability
in the Accounts but is yet to give rise to a cash flow.
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“SIG has benefited from another good year of
generating cash from operating activities to help
support its strategy of investment in both organic
and acquisition based growth.”
Key points to note are:
included within cash flow from operating activities is a working capital increase
of £10.5m (2004: £17.6m), which represents 8.2% (2004:18.1%) of our
like for like sales increase of £127.5m (2004: £97.2m). This compares
favourably to SIG’s working capital to sales ratio of 11.4% (2004: 12.2%)
and demonstrates the further improvements achieved in managing working
capital; and

G

the total level of investment in our business, being acquisition investment
(including contingent consideration). Investment capital expenditure
amounts to £121.4m (2004: £48.3m). Investment capital expenditure
includes new delivery vehicles, new brownfield sites and a number of
trading site relocations. These trading site relocations increase our
operating capacity and will ensure we fully benefit from any upturn
in market demand. The net capital expenditure to depreciation ratio
amounted to 1.49 (2004: 1.18).

Overall, despite our significant rate of like for like sales growth (9.3%),
which has the effect of increasing our working capital requirements to the
detriment of our cash balances, we have converted 97% (2004: 79%)
of the underlying profit attributable to Shareholders into cash as follows:

Free cash flow available for investment
Underlying profit attributable to equity holders
Free cash flow available for investment as a percentage
of underlying profit attributable to equity holders

2005
£’m

2004
£’m

62.0
64.1

38.4
48.7

97%

79%

2005

2004

60%
13.1
times
1.41
times

39%
12.5
times
1.04
times

A summary of the key debt ratios is as follows:

Gearing *
Interest cover **
Net debt to underlying
EBITDA ***

Definitions:
* Net debt divided by net assets.
** Underlying operating profit divided by underlying net finance charges.
*** Net debt divided by underlying operating profit before depreciation.
Significantly, the Group continues to have a healthy level of interest cover of
13.1 times despite the increase in debt. This is a result of both an increase in
operating profits and a reduction in the average interest rate on debt of 1.93%.
The Group’s key borrowing covenants are interest cover and net debt to
underlying EBITDA. The ratios at the end of 2005 provide the Group with
significant headroom against the levels set out in these covenants.
Details of the Group’s treasury risk management policies are set out on
pages 21 and 22 of this review.

The statistics relating to each component of working capital on a like for like
basis are as follows:

Inventory days
Trade receivable days
Trade payable days
Bad debt charge as a % of sales

2005

2004

37
51
37
0.8%

40
52
39
0.8%

Inventory days returned to a more normal level, as the Group invested
less in inventory at pre increase prices at the end of 2005 compared
to 2004. It is especially pleasing to note that our continued efforts in credit
control have resulted in the lowest year end trade receivable days in the
last ten years.
The bad debt charge as a percentage of sales was in line with our historical
norm and our policy in respect of recognition of provisions for doubtful
debts has continued to be consistently applied.
Adoption of IFRS
During 2005, SIG adopted International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) for the first time. SIG has now published its “Final IFRS Restatement
Document” which supersedes the “Preliminary IFRS Restatement Document”
that was published with our interim results on 14 September 2005. Two
adjustments have been made to the preliminary restated 1 January 2005
balance sheet, which when taken together increase net assets by £1.1m at
that date compared to the amount included in the preliminary document.
The adjustments have no effect on profit after tax for 2004 or 2005,
and are as follows:
G

in light of further guidance from the UK tax authorities regarding the
tax treatment of transitional adjustments relating to derivative financial
instruments and foreign currency exchange differences, a deferred tax
asset of £3.9m has been recognised as at 1 January 2005; and

G

in light of further interpretation and guidance relating to the basis of valuing
inventory, early settlement discounts have also been included in the value
of inventory. The effect is to reduce the value of inventory by £2.8m at
1 January 2005.

The “Final IFRS Restatement Document” can be found on our website
www.sigplc.co.uk.
The accounting policies on pages 58 to 62 have been updated to reflect
IFRS and detail the application of the transitional provisions under IFRS 1.
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G

Working capital statistics
The ratio of year end working capital to annualised sales at 31 December 2005
amounted to 11.4% (2004: 12.2%). SIG is continually focusing upon reducing
its working capital requirements. However we maintain flexibility to benefit
from price increases in products by investing where appropriate in inventory
at pre increase prices.
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Business Review continued

Outlook
The Group has benefited from increased demand and a positive pricing
environment in most of the main areas in which it operates during both
2004 and 2005.
Coming into 2006, it is expected that demand will continue to improve
modestly, but that the impact of pricing, and in particular that of price
inflation, will be less helpful than has been the case for the last two years.
Looking at the three geographic regions in which we have trading
operations, beginning with the UK and Ireland, we expect demand from
both residential and non-residential new build to continue to be positive,
and anticipate some continued weakness in the residential repairs and
maintenance sectors.
In Mainland Europe, positive conditions are expected in France, Benelux
and Poland. In Germany, whilst market conditions are expected to continue
to be difficult, we do not expect to see the same degree of decline
in general construction activity which occurred in 2005.
In the USA, the specific industries which we serve are expected to continue
the programme of investment and rebuilding that began in 2005.
Looking at the prospects of SIG on a longer term basis, we plan to continue
the focused and measured expansion of the Group’s activities, by adding
additional trading sites, and by widening the range of specialist products
which the Group sells. The strength of the Group’s finances will enable
the Company to take advantage of opportunities that may arise.
Increasing global energy prices and concern about the harmful impact of
energy consumption on the environment are expected to influence demand
for insulation. Insulation materials offer a proven solution in the quest to
reduce energy consumption in buildings, and in industry. Over time, the
Group believes that governments, businesses and the public will increasingly
focus on reducing energy consumption more vigorously than in the past,
and that as a result insulation demand will rise in the years ahead.
The Group enters 2006 with confidence that further progress will be made.

Building regulations
Building Regulations exist in all developed countries, and these regulations
normally establish legally required performance standards in respect of
fire, acoustic and thermal performance of all newly constructed buildings,
regardless of occupancy or the purpose of the building.
Throughout the EU, each country has sovereignty over its own Building
Regulations, and there has been a pattern of upward revision of the
minimum standards of performance under which new buildings must
be built. This upward revision has most frequently occurred in respect
of thermal performance.
These Regulations are a very important driver of demand for many of the
insulation materials which SIG sells into the new build market. The regulations
are, generally speaking, not mandatory in the repairs, maintenance and
improvement part of the market.
Given the particular mix of business which SIG has in each country in
which we have trading operations, any future changes in the Building
Regulations in the UK, Ireland, Germany and Poland would be expected
to generate additional demand for insulation materials sold by SIG.
The UK Building Regulations are scheduled to be revised in April 2006,
and this is expected to increase demand for thermal insulation materials
used in the construction of new buildings, with the impact on market
demand beginning to be felt from late 2006 onwards.
This change in the UK Regulations is part of an ongoing programme by
the Government to reduce heat loss, and therefore energy consumption
in buildings.
The EU is addressing the issue of energy consumption within existing
dwellings through legislation requiring each member state to introduce
measures, by 2008, to implement a programme of inspecting and
reporting on standards of energy efficiency. These measures are being
implemented in Germany in 2006. There is no legal requirement to
install more insulation under this programme, and it is not possible to
predict what the future impact on demand might be.
The demand for insulation materials for use in technical and industrial
applications are, by implication, not affected by the Building Regulations
in any country.
In the USA, France and Benelux, SIG sales of insulation are heavily biased
towards technical and industrial applications. In Germany, the UK and
Poland, sales of technical insulation are a smaller proportion to our total
insulation sales.
When considering the possible impact of future changes in Building
Regulations on SIG, it is important to recognise that within the general
description of insulation are the sales of a very wide range of products
used alongside the insulation material itself. The demand for these ancillary
and related products may not be affected at all by changes in the demand
for the insulation materials themselves.
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“We plan to continue the focused and measured
expansion of the Group’s activities, by adding
additional trading sites, and by widening the range
of specialist products which the Group sells.”
Resources

Brand strength
SIG operates under a wide range of trading names in the respective markets
and countries in which it has trading sites.
Many of these brands, including the original company name, Sheffield
Insulations, are widely recognised throughout their respective market
sectors or countries as the leading supplier offering very focused products
and services to customers.
SIG believes that the strength and market awareness of its brands are
important assets.
Competitive position
SIG aims to occupy leading positions as a specialist supplier in each of its main
markets of Insulation, Roofing, Commercial Interiors and Specialist Construction
and Safety Products. A position of market leadership has been achieved in a
number of specific markets. Operations in the other countries and business
streams are continuing to develop their position.
Inventory
Immediate availability of a wide range of specialist materials is vital to the
customers served by SIG.

Materials are often required within hours on an emergency basis.
For example, when a roof leak occurs and immediate repairs are
necessary to prevent damage to the building and its contents, or in
a chemical processing plant where a pipeline becomes dangerously
overheated due to a breakdown of the insulation.

Review of the year

Employees
The commitment, drive and enthusiasm of all SIG’s employees are its
greatest asset and SIG’s ability to meet the demands of its customers,
suppliers and Shareholders is dependent upon their efforts. Throughout
SIG, regardless of country or sector, we believe our people are recognised
as the best in their particular field. SIG’s policy and strategy towards its
employees is detailed further in the CSR report on page 35. Training,
coaching and the opportunity for personal career advancement within the
Company are important features of how SIG seeks to recruit, retain and
develop skilled staff.

In both of these examples, customers have an unplanned, unscheduled
emergency need for specific and specialist products in order to prevent
substantial damage and costs.
A fundamental feature of SIG’s position in the supply chain is having these
products, in depth, in strategically located trading sites, to ensure customer
requirements can be met.
Trading sites
SIG has an extensive and expanding network of trading sites as demonstrated in
chart C. These are an important resource and an important feature of the SIG
business model in each country of operation, as they enable the local market
surrounding each trading site to be serviced on an immediate availability basis.
For customers conducting work on a regional or national basis in each country,
SIG can provide a fully national service using locally held inventory, thus
avoiding the time and cost penalties of shipping products over large distances.
Fleet delivery capability
SIG uses a mix of wholly owned delivery vehicles and external hire
to deliver goods to customers. This enables availability and service to
customers to be maximised whilst ensuring that the cost base is flexible
to cope with periods of higher or lower daily demand.
The direct ownership of a large proportion of the fleet, and the
management of this resource on a local basis is an important feature
of the speed, flexibility and responsiveness that SIG offers to customers.

Chart C – Five year trading site history
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Business Review continued

Operational risk management
There are a number of potential risks and uncertainties which could have a
material impact on SIG’s long term performance. SIG has a comprehensive
system of risk management installed in all parts of its business. The processes are
described in detail on pages 42 and 43 of the Corporate Governance Report.
Levels of market demand in the building and construction markets
in which SIG operates
Approximately 85% of sales made by SIG are made to the building,
construction and civil engineering industries.
These industries are driven by private and government expenditure, and
include major new construction projects (e.g. airports, hospitals, and sports
complexes), new residential housing developments and a wide range of
renovation, upgrading and repair work of existing buildings.
SIG is exposed to changes in the level of activity, and therefore demand,
from these industries. Government policy and expenditure plans, private
investor decisions, the general economic climate, and both business and
(to a lesser extent) consumer confidence are all factors which can influence
the level of building activity and, therefore, the demand for many of
SIG’s products.
Approximately 15% of SIG’s sales are made into specific industrial
applications, especially where there are temperature critical processes,
and the use of highly specialist insulation is an important part of the
process plant itself. These industries include power generation, oil and gas
processing, chemical and pharmaceutical process and manufacture, and in
the food chain, cold storage facilities.
SIG is exposed to activity levels, and therefore demand for some of its
products, within these diverse industries. These industries would, in turn,
be affected by the general economic climate, energy demand and energy
costs, and business investment decisions in major industries such as power
generation and petrochemicals.
Competitor risk
SIG has a mix of both direct specialist competition and some overlap with
more general suppliers (such as general builders merchants) in all its markets
and countries.
As a distributor handling and supplying products manufactured by other
companies, SIG is itself dependent upon other companies for in excess
of 90% of the products that it sells. The majority of products that are sold
by SIG are relatively bulky and inexpensive in relation to their mass, and
also in relation to the cost of transport and shipping. This means that
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the risk faced by SIG of price disruption and possible cross border or
international trading having a detrimental impact on prices in any particular
country is low.
Similarly, the risk posed by internet-based trading dependent upon
parcel-carrier service is very low, because of the bulky nature of most
of the products sold by SIG and the fact that specialist handling and
delivery services are an important feature of the service provided
by SIG to many customers.
IT
SIG uses a range of computer systems to provide order processing, inventory
control and financial management within each country. Any lengthy failure or
disruption to the IT system in any business unit or country would result in loss
of sales and delays to cash flow. These systems are not interdependent, and
there are dedicated support staff directly employed, together with external
support service providers, monitoring the IT systems.
Commercial relationships
SIG is exposed to changes in relationships with both customers and
suppliers. It is a key task for the operational management in each country
and business unit to maintain and develop relationships with customers
and suppliers.
Transport
In excess of 70% of total sales are delivered to customers by SIG.
Prolonged disruption to road transport systems or the availability of vehicle
fuel would result in reduced sales in any country in which this may occur.
Product availability and product prices
The availability and the market prices of products that the Group supplies
can change. These changes can affect the Group’s sales and operating
profits. The Group has very regular dialogue with its suppliers to ensure
that it protects its position regarding product availability and product pricing.
If product demand outstrips supply, be it due to demand rising or supply
falling, then this could have an impact on the Group’s ability to service
its customers’ needs. The Group does however source its products from
a number of manufacturers in order to reduce its reliance upon any
one manufacturer.
The Group negotiates purchase prices with its suppliers. The ability
of SIG to secure satisfactory terms of trade is key to its ability to supply
the products to its customers at competitive prices.
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“The proposed final dividend of 11.5p per share
delivers a full year dividend of 16.8p, representing
an increase of 20%. This is the highest rate of
dividend growth in any of the last ten years.”
Treasury risk management

SIG continues to operate in the same geographies it did in the previous
year, and as a result the treasury risks remain the same. SIG’s financial
instruments, other than derivatives, comprise borrowings, cash and liquid
resources and various items such as trade receivables and trade payables
that arise directly from its operations. SIG also enters into derivative financial
instruments (principally foreign currency and interest rate swaps).
The purposes of such instruments are to hedge certain currency risks
arising from SIG’s operations and to hedge interest expenses arising
from SIG’s sources of finance.
Details of derivative financial instruments are shown in Note 18 to the
Consolidated Accounts.
It is, and has been throughout the period under review, SIG’s policy that
no trading in financial instruments or speculative transactions be undertaken.
To minimise the credit risk associated with derivative contracts, SIG only
enters derivative financial instruments with its principal bankers, which are
both AA rated by Standard & Poor’s.
SIG manages its financial liabilities using derivative financial instruments
where appropriate to ensure that it has appropriate maturity profiles in
relation to its borrowings and appropriate levels of protection against
interest rate and exchange rate fluctuations.
The Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2005 of £206.8m
(2004: £117.8m) can be analysed as follows:
G

£64.0m (2004: £60.4m) has a maturity profile of greater than five years;

G

£155.7m (2004: £80.6m) is denominated in foreign currencies, held to
partially hedge the assets of our overseas businesses;

G

£148.6m (2004: £114.5m) carries a fixed rate of interest; and

G

£203.5m (2004: £112.7m) is borrowed on an unsecured basis.

As at 31 December 2005, SIG had undrawn committed borrowing facilities
from its banks of £60.3m (2004: £33.8m).
Gearing increased during the year from 39% to 60% as a result of
increased investment in property, plant and equipment, working capital
and acquisitions.

Interest rate risk
SIG finances its operations through a mixture of retained profits and bank and
other borrowings. SIG borrows in the desired currencies principally at floating
exchange rates and then uses interest rate swaps to generate the desired
interest profile, so managing SIG’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
SIG’s private placement funding, after the application of associated
derivative financial instruments, is at a fixed rate of interest. A small
number of SIG’s assets are funded using fixed rate finance lease contracts.
At 31 December 2005 outstanding liabilities in respect of such contracts
amounted to £1.6m (2004: £2.0m).
During 2005, the Board approved an increase in the amount of fixed
rate debt as a result of a review of the Group’s liquidity and entered
into additional interest rate derivative contracts to hedge our exposure
to Sterling interest rates. These additional derivative financial instruments
are accounted for as fully effective cash flow hedges.
At 31 December 2005, 85% or £148.6m (2004: 116% or £114.5m)
of the Group’s net debt was in the form of fixed rate debt with an average
remaining fixed life of 3.6 years (2004: 4.2 years).
Liquidity risk
SIG seeks a balance between certainty of funding and a flexible,
cost-effective borrowing structure. SIG’s policy is to ensure that, as a
minimum, all projected net borrowing needs for the next three years,
after taking account of projected free cash flow, are covered by
committed facilities.
The Group uses a mixture of sources of funding in order to reduce the risk
of being over reliant upon any one provider. The key sources of finance are
US Senior loan note providers, being mainly US pension fund managers, and
our principal bankers, The Royal Bank of Scotland plc and Barclays Bank plc.
During 2005, an additional £120m of short and medium term loan facilities
were obtained from these banks.
The year end maturity profile and value of undrawn committed borrowing
facilities are set out in Note 18 to the Accounts on pages 82 to 84.
Foreign currency risk
SIG has a number of overseas businesses whose revenues are denominated
in the currencies in which the operations are located. Approximately 40%
of SIG’s revenues are in foreign currencies, being Euros, US Dollars, and
Polish Zloty.
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SIG’s Finance and Treasury Policies set out the approach to managing
treasury risk. These policies are approved by the Board of Directors on
a regular basis. The treasury risks that SIG faces are interest rate, liquidity
and foreign currency risk arising from its international operations.
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Business Review continued

Treasury risk management continued

On 1 January 2005, this additional liability of £6.625m was recorded as a
transitional adjustment through the Consolidated Statement of Recognised
Income and Expense on page 55.

Foreign currency risk continued
The vast majority of SIG’s sales and purchases are not cross border.
When cross border transactions occur it is SIG’s policy to eliminate
currency exposure at that time through forward currency contracts,
if exposure is considered to be material.

From 1 January 2005 onwards the Group is applying hedge accounting
as follows:

The Consolidated Balance Sheet is inherently at risk from movements in
the Sterling value of its net investments in foreign businesses. This risk is
mitigated by SIG combining financial liabilities and derivatives in currencies
that partially hedge the net investment values. During 2005, the Board
approved an increase in the amount of debt to be held in Euros as opposed
to Sterling, with the rationale to both further hedge the net investment in
our European businesses and also to benefit from lower underlying interest
rates associated with the Euro compared to Sterling.

Hedge ineffectiveness
The following section provides an explanation in respect of the hedge
ineffectiveness income of £1.88m arising in the year.
In 2001, the Group borrowed money by entering into $113m of US Senior
loan notes at fixed rates of US Dollar interest. The Group therefore
committed to fixed bi-annual US Dollar interest payments and US Dollar
principal repayments at the end of the loan note terms in 2008 and 2011.
At this time the Group wished to convert this US Dollar exposure into both
Sterling and Euros. It did this by entering into derivative financial instruments
that under the first leg, converted US Dollar exposures into Sterling fixed
rate interest and Sterling principal repayments, and then under the second
leg converted part of the Sterling arrangements into Euro fixed rate interest
and Euro principal repayments.
On 1 January 2005, the Group applied IAS 32 and IAS 39, which required
the fair value of these derivative financial instruments to be included on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet for the first time and disclosed separately.
Previously under UK GAAP, the Group recognised the book value of its
derivatives within the carrying value of its US Senior loan note debt. The
table below shows the effect of including the fair value of these derivatives
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet:
UK GAAP
£’000

IFRS
£’000

At 1 January 2005
US Senior loan note debt
US Senior loan note derivatives

94,268
–

63,854
37,039

Total

94,268

100,893
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for the US Dollar to Sterling leg – this is regarded as a cash flow hedge
associated with the US Dollar debt. From a hedging perspective there
is no hedge ineffectiveness. Further details are provided in our cash flow
hedge accounting policy on page 61; and

G

for the Sterling to Euro leg – this is regarded as a net investment hedge
of our European operations. However, perfect hedge effectiveness is not
achieved as explained below.

For our Euro net investment hedge, the hedged item is the Euro balance
sheet which moves in value from one year to the next depending entirely
upon the closing spot Sterling/Euro exchange rate at the balance sheet date.
The hedging instruments are the derivative financial instruments that convert
Sterling fixed rate interest and Sterling principal repayments into Euro fixed rate
interest and Euro principal repayments. The movement in the fair value of these
derivative financial instruments moves as a result of the following factors:

The net after tax effect on the Consolidated Balance Sheet of currency
transaction and translation differences on all our overseas subsidiaries in
2005 was a loss of £1.7m (2004: loss of £0.6m).

Additional liability under IFRS

G

6,625

G

market movements in forward exchange rates relating to the principal
and interest payment dates; and

G

market movements in interest rates relating to the principal and interest
payment dates.

Fair value movements in the hedged item and the hedging instrument will not
be equal and opposite, the principal difference being the interest rate element
in the hedging instrument.
Of the £6.625m additional liability at 1 January 2005, £6.078m relates to
the ineffective portion of the Sterling to Euro derivative financial instruments.
Between 1 January 2005 and the expiry of the last Sterling to Euro
derivative financial instrument in August 2011, SIG will record movements
in fair values reflecting changes in the financial markets with the result that
the £6.078m will ultimately be included as income in the Consolidated
Income Statement. However, the movements in fair values are likely to
be volatile rather than straight line, reflecting market movements in foreign
currencies and interest rates. During 2005, SIG has recorded movements
in fair values of £1.88m as finance income in the Consolidated Income
Statement, leaving £4.198m included in net debt at 31 December 2005.
It should be noted that the recognition of this additional liability as a result
of adopting IFRS will not impact the cash flows of the Group. At the date
of expiry of these derivatives in 2008 and 2011, the value of the US Senior
loan notes and the associated derivatives under IFRS will equal the UK
GAAP book value of the composite debt at that time.
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“SIG has delivered a 17.7% return on capital employed
(2004: 16.2%).”

Other matters

As at 8 March 2006, SIG’s share price closed at 878p, representing a market
capitalisation of £1,070m at that date. The total dividend for the year of 16.8p
(2004: 14.0p) provides Shareholders with a yield on this date of 1.9%. SIG
monitors relative Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) for assessing relative
financial performance. As at 31 December 2005 the Company’s share
price was 730p per share. When dividends are included this gives a TSR
of 344% over a five year performance period. A performance graph has
been included on page 47 where the Group’s TSR is compared with the
FTSE Construction & Building Materials Index which produced a TSR
of 156% over the same five year period. On 1 January 2006 the Company
became a constituent of the FTSE Support Services Index the performance
of which over the five year period is also included within the same graph
for comparative purposes.
Going concern
The Directors are confident, on the basis of current financial projections
and facilities available, that SIG has adequate resources to continue in
operation for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors continue
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Accounts.
Cautionary statement
The Companies Act 1985 (Operating and Financial Review and Directors’
Report etc.) Regulations 2005 introduced a new requirement into the
Companies Act 1985 for companies to prepare a business review for
financial years which begin on or after 1 April 2005. As the Company’s
financial year began on 1 January 2005, there is no statutory requirement
for the Company to produce a business review for this Annual Report and
Accounts. Although this Business Review contains some of the information
which will in due course be required to be included within a statutory
business review, it should not be taken to have been prepared in
accordance with statute.
This Business Review has been prepared to provide the Company’s
Shareholders with a fair review of the business of the Company and a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing it. It may not be
relied upon by anyone, including the Company’s Shareholders, for any
other purpose. This Business Review and other sections of this report
contain forward looking statements that are subject to risk factors including
the economic and business circumstances occurring from time to time
in countries and markets in which the Group operates and risk factors

associated with the building and construction sectors. By their nature,
forward looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties and
future assumptions because they relate to events and/or depend on
circumstances that may or may not occur in the future and could cause
actual results and outcomes to differ materially from those expressed in
or implied by the forward looking statements. No assurance can be given
that the forward looking statements in this Business Review will be realised.
Statements about the Directors’ expectations, beliefs, hopes, plans,
intentions and strategies are inherently subject to change and they are
based on expectations and assumptions as to future events, circumstances
and other factors which are in some cases outside the Company’s control.
Actual results could differ materially from the Company’s current
expectations. It is believed that the expectations set out in these forward
looking statements are reasonable, but they may be affected by a wide
range of variables which could cause actual results or trends to differ
materially, including but not limited to, changes in risks associated with the
Company’s growth strategy, fluctuations in product pricing and changes
in exchange and interest rates. The forward looking statements should be
read in particular in the context of the specific risk factors for the Company
identified on page 20 of this Business Review. The Company’s Shareholders
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward looking statements.
This Business Review has not been audited or otherwise independently
verified. The information contained in this Business Review has been
prepared on the basis of the knowledge and information available to
Directors at the date of its preparation and the Company does not
undertake any obligation to update or revise this Business Review
during the financial year ahead.

David Williams
Chief Executive

Gareth Davies
Finance Director
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Shareholder return
SIG has delivered a 17.7% return on capital employed (2004: 16.2%),
which compares favourably to SIG’s estimated weighted average cost
of 6.8% (2004: 7.8%), thus generating substantial shareholder value.
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Insulation

A

B

D
C
E

A In Birmingham, Dal Singh is a member
of the experienced team working in
the warehouse, ensuring the efficient
and safe storage of products.
B John Metcalf sorts products in the Bedford
branch prior to delivery.
C Robert O’Brien explains to a customer the
benefits of a particular insulation material.
D SIG has developed its own range of acoustic
products which are sold across the Insulation
businesses. Here, Barry Huelin checks stocks
of SIG’s own brand E-cousti product prior to
delivery to a customer.
E SIG has supplied specialist thermal and
acoustic materials to The Deep, a unique,
Millennium-funded visitor attraction,
education, research and conservation
centre in Hull.
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Countries of operation:
United Kingdom
Ireland
Germany
France
The Netherlands
Belgium
Austria
Poland
USA

High energy costs and environmental concerns
drive the use of insulation products across a wide
range of industrial and construction applications.
The diverse range of these applications means
that a wide portfolio of products and materials
needs to be held at a local level to effectively and
efficiently meet the demands of local contractors
and installers.
As the importance of a high standard of insulation
continues to grow through increasing energy costs
and market regulation, product developments
using new materials and techniques broadens the
requirements of stock holding and of staff
expertise. SIG believes in working with the leading
manufacturers to bring new products to market
but also supports innovative new concepts and
products developed by smaller businesses and
by its own in-house fabrication capabilities.
Whereas new construction is affected by
Building Regulations, there is a huge proportion
of existing buildings, both residential and
non-residential, with very poor standards of
thermal performance.

Review of the year

Insulation materials are used across all areas of industry and construction.
Traditionally, insulation materials have been used to resist the transfer of
Heat and Fire. The control of Noise is also now an important issue for the
building industry.

In the UK there is a system of government
grants and separate stimulus provided by energy
producers, aimed at improving the energy efficiency
of existing residential properties. SIG is the leading
insulation provider to these programmes.
The development of acoustic sound insulation
products is particularly active as a result of
increasingly dense building patterns and new
regulations. Similarly, thermal insulation
regulations are being tightened and this will
lead to further opportunities for the Group.
SIG believes that the best way of meeting demands
is through a branch network that can respond to
local issues and local concerns. Each branch is able
to utilise the processes and best practices that are
identified across the Group but has the authority
to respond to local market conditions.
Reducing energy consumption means
lower costs and less damage to the
environment. The use of insulation is a
proven, cost effective means of reducing
energy consumption.

These older buildings are increasingly expensive
to heat, and are also a major source of wasted
energy. The EU and individual governments
are increasingly seeking ways of improving the
energy efficiency of existing buildings, and SIG
believes that this will result in increased
demand for insulation materials to be
installed retrospectively.
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Roofing

A

B

D
C
E

A There are many different styles of roof
tiles available from stock at our roofing
trading sites. Here Chris Homer checks
quantities and prepares tiles ready
for dispatch.
B Steve Meredith picks specialist roofing
materials prior to delivery.
C SIG trading sites have tile libraries of different
roofing tiles to help customers select those
appropriate to fit their environment.
D Trade counters are an important point
of contact and support for our customers.
Here Stuart Pierpoint offers advice to a
customer on the alternative materials
suitable for a particular type of roof.
E In Ireland, SIG’s Roofing business provided
the K Club (host venue for the 2006 Ryder
Cup) with the Brazilian natural green roof
slate for its prestigious Club House.
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Countries of operation
United Kingdom
Ireland

SIG is the largest supplier of roofing products
in the UK and Ireland. The demands of the market
are for local supply of materials which the Group
supports with a network of over 200 trading sites.
Each trading site supplies products from the
leading manufacturers into the flat, pitched,
industrial and agricultural trading sites. As well
as the core roofing products, trading sites offer
a wide variety of accessories ranging from
consumable items such as fixings and safety
products to specialist tools and equipment.
Alongside the actual waterproofing materials sold
by SIG, there are increasing requirements for
insulation materials and for a range of specialist
ventilation products needed to prevent
condensation build-up due to new designs
and specification of roofs.
As the number one supplier to the roofing
industry, SIG keeps at the forefront of technical
developments and makes new products available
to customers after careful evaluation.
SIG is also a leader in the reclaiming and
recycling of pre-used roof tiles which have two
key advantages over newly manufactured tiles.

Review of the year

The roof is the most critical part of a building as it protects the integrity
of the structure and the contents within from the elements. Repair and
maintenance are often urgent requirements and this means that the right
products must be available on demand.

Firstly, they are environmentally friendly in terms
of recycling, minimising waste and removing the
need for extra energy costs in manufacturing
new tiles. Secondly, they are aesthetically pleasing
as they appear aged and can blend with existing
buildings and the surrounding environment –
a major consideration for Planning Control
in many parts of the Country.
The ongoing need for repair or replacement
of existing roofs, whether as the result of
natural wear and tear or of storm damage,
creates a resilient market for roofing materials.
The emergency nature of some repairs requires
materials to be available immediately from stock.
Alternatively, where a new or replacement roof
is being specified, consumers and designers may
wish to select a particular style or finish and visit
one of SIG’s “roof libraries” to aid this process.
SIG has extended its presence in the roofing
market through the development of specialist
“Roof Line” trading sites which provide perimeter
materials such as rainwater and guttering, soffit,
fascias and bargeboards.
The Group has been particularly active
with acquisitions in the roofing sector,
and this has allowed SIG to extend
geographic coverage and reach increased
numbers of customers.
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Commercial Interiors

A

B

D
C
E

A Paul Hampden, Bedford Branch Manager,
shows a customer a glazed demountable
partition system, with integral privacy
blinds fitted.
B In 2005, SIG acquired the brand leading
producer of performance doorsets adding
to the existing commercial door business.
C High performance office door and
surrounding frames are made to individual
client requirements to match the overall
interior design concept, thus giving a unique
style and appearance to a building.
D SIG works closely with architects and
contractors to provide products which
meet the required specifications.
E SIG provided a range of interior products
for the Lifeboat College at Poole.
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Countries of operation:
United Kingdom
Ireland
Germany
France
The Netherlands
Belgium
Austria

SIG supplies a wide range of systems and
products, including ceiling, partitioning, doors,
lighting and washroom products to the
commercial interiors market. The supply of
products is supported by high levels of technical
expertise and support to contractors working
on both new and refurbishment projects.
All types of non residential buildings, including
offices, shops, hotels, schools, hospitals and
public buildings use various elements of SIG’s
commercial interiors product range.

SIG is the leading supplier of purpose-made
interior products in the UK and is the largest
supplier of the complementary brand leading
products used throughout the UK, Ireland
and in Mainland Europe.
Fire performance, acoustic standards,
visual appearance and design innovation
all affect the choice of commercial
interior products. SIG enables clients
to make the right choices and to produce
high quality working environments.

Poland
SIG works closely with the major suppliers to
the sector and also has its own manufacturing
capability for partitioning systems, wall storage
and specialist door systems.
In the case of many interior fit-out projects,
clients and architects want to have purpose-made
products with a design and finish to suit their
own style and requirements. The interior doors,
partitioning and related products set the scene
for the occupancy of the workspace, as well as
meeting the vital requirements of fire prevention,
noise control and safety.
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The commercial interiors market place is demanding, sophisticated and
fast-moving. Emphasis is on achieving an optimum balance between efficient
utilisation of space and the quality and comfort of the working environment.
There is also an added requirement of flexibility to meet the changing business
requirements of today’s world.
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Specialist Construction and Safety Products

A

B

D
C
E

A Appropriate personal safety equipment
is vital within the construction industry,
as demonstrated at this site at Croke Park
in Ireland.
B Diamond-tipped blades supplied by SIG
are used by a civil engineering customer
to cut concrete at the Old Sea Bathing
Hospital in Kent.
C Specialist steel reinforcement products
are supplied for poured concrete
applications in a wide range of large
scale construction projects.
D Daniel Ball, a member of the technical team,
applies an own brand epoxy resin fixing
system with a customer on a site in Kent.
E Heathrow Terminal 5 has provided
significant work for many SIG businesses.
In particular, the Specialist Construction
and Safety Products division has supplied
concrete accessories and specialist fixings
to the project.
© BAA plc see www.baa.com/photolibrary

30

SIG plc Annual Report and Accounts 2005

_9SIG_2005arf.qxd

30/03/2006

12:11

Page 31

Countries of operation:
United Kingdom
France (Safety)
USA (Safety)

The Specialist Construction and Safety Products
division covers a wide portfolio of products from
concrete accessories, waterproofing systems and
chemicals, brickwork support systems, specialist
fixings and safety products.
Typically products are supplied to large
commercial infrastructure or civil engineering
projects. Examples include tunnels, bridges,
airports, sports stadiums, hospitals and
underground car parks. Although the cost of the
product or system is often low relative to the size
of the project it is often of critical importance to
the whole building programme. Relationships
with contractors and the ability to resolve
problems with expert technical advice and
rapid delivery times are of vital importance
to maintain workflows on large projects.
The increasing scale of SIG facilitates global
sourcing for this sector which is allowing the
Company to bring the best products from
around the world.

Review of the year

Specialist Construction and Safety Products provide materials and
consumable products which are essential to the construction process
and are specialist, not mainstream. Detailed product knowledge,
and a keen understanding of specialist applications is vital to provide
customer support.
The sector also includes the activities of SIG’s Safety
equipment business which unlike other business
areas manages its resources from a single site
offering guaranteed next day delivery throughout
the UK mainland. Specialist products including
eye, hand and foot protection, together with
respiratory masks form the core of the product
range which is supplied to a wide range of
industries with particular emphasis on the
construction industry.
The Safety business reaches a wide and
growing range of customers by direct mail,
personal representation, telephone order
line service and a strong web presence
(www.protecdirect.com). The growing
requirement for customers to have
certain products branded with their
own logo for corporate identification
purposes is met by having in-house
print and embroidery capabilities.

A nationwide network of trading sites is being
developed for each of the specialist areas
and utilises the successful business approach
of staying close to customers whilst efficiently
managing the back office activities.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

“SIG recognises
its corporate
and social
responsibilities to
its Shareholders,
customers,
suppliers and
employees and
is committed to
good practice in
all activities.”
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SIG has made significant progress in the year in developing and implementing
its Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) policies and is pleased to be able
to inform its stakeholders of the measures which it is taking to continue to
monitor and improve its CSR performance.
In accordance with the ABI reporting guidelines SIG is able to confirm that
the Board takes regular account of the significance of social, environmental
and ethical matters to the business of the Group and that it has in place a
comprehensive risk management and internal control process which identifies
and assesses the significant risks to the Company’s short and long term value
arising from such matters.
SIG recognises its Corporate Social Responsibilities to its Shareholders,
customers and suppliers and is committed to good practice in all its activities.

Environment
As a leading international supplier of insulation and related materials our
core business is focused on the reduction of energy consumption and the
subsequent reduction in harmful environmental impacts.
The Chief Executive, Mr. D. Williams, is the Board Director responsible
for the environmental performance of the Group. SIG is committed to
minimising the environmental impact of its activities through good
environmental management practices. The Group’s Environmental Policy
was reviewed in 2005. The Policy is displayed in all trading sites and offices
throughout the Group and on the SIG website. Environmental objectives
and targets have been established at relevant functions and levels within
the organisation.
SIG is committed to conducting its activities and operations in line with best
environmental practice, seeking continual improvement and innovation within
all Group businesses and activities.
All SIG plc UK companies actively seek to:
G

minimise the use of all materials, supplies and energy – and wherever
possible use renewable or recyclable materials;

G

minimise the quantity of waste produced in all aspects of our business;

G

adopt an environmentally sound transport policy;

G

communicate our environmental policy to all staff and encourage them
to participate in the achievement of our goals;
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G

supply and promote, wherever possible, those products which contribute
to energy conservation and do not damage the environment; and

G

ensure that the Company continues to meet present and future
environmental standards and legislation.

G

SIG is fitting vehicles with logistics tracking systems and navigation
planning equipment. This is aimed at using the most fuel efficient route
for each journey; and

G

the Company has a policy, which was introduced in 2005, of seeking to
reduce the amount of motor fuel used relative to the amount of goods
delivered, by a minimum of 1% per annum.

To this end the Company has established an environmental management
system in accordance with BS EN ISO 14001: 2004.

Packaging and waste reduction
Environmental management
During the year the focus has been on putting in place the procedures
and systems for the Group to introduce an Integrated Management System
combining BS EN ISO 14001 (Environment), and OHSAS 18001 (Health
and Safety) in the UK. Moody International have been appointed Assessors
and the assessment process, leading to certification under these
accreditation schemes, which is currently being undertaken is expected
to result in all the Group’s UK sites receiving certification to the standards
forming BSI.
The Group has identified the significant environmental impact of its
operations, which are summarised below.

As a founder member of the Association for the Conservation of Energy,
SIG is active in promoting and encouraging the raising of mandatory
standards for thermal insulation.
Reducing energy consumption is a priority for its operations. This is targeted
both through reducing the amount of fuel used in delivery, by increasing the
efficiency of heating and lighting and maximising the use of natural light in the
Group’s properties and by environmental awareness training at UK sites.
G

SIG has a policy of introducing the most energy efficient vehicles
commercially available (currently considered to be Euro IV category
engines), as soon as it is practically possible to do so, as vehicles are
due for renewal;

G

SIG employs staff to train its drivers in driving techniques aimed at reducing
accidents and damage (safe driving) and to drive vehicles using methods
and practices which will reduce fuel consumption. All vehicles are regularly
serviced to ensure that vehicle emissions are kept to a minimum;

G

This is achieved by:
G

environmental awareness training at all sites including the distribution of
energy reduction awareness information and reminder aids to all employees;

G

purchasing recycled and recyclable packaging where practicable,
including pallets and cartons;

G

returning reusable pallets to suppliers and similarly recovering used
pallets from customers;

G

reusing packaging for internal transfers and deliveries;

G

actively taking part in recycling and reclamation schemes through the
Company’s membership of Valpak and working closely with suppliers
to improve the accuracy of data. SIG meets its responsibilities under the
packaging waste regulations in the UK through Valpak’s compliance scheme.
As part of the Company’s ongoing development in this area, it has entered
into a national agreement with Veolia for waste removal. Veolia operates
its own waste recycling and reclamation compliance scheme; and

G

SIG embraces electronic communication within its businesses, which
has resulted in a significant reduction in internal paperwork throughout
the Group.

Corporate governance

Energy and transport

SIG works with its suppliers to minimise primary and secondary packaging,
while maintaining necessary levels of packaging to ensure that the product
arrives with the customer in perfect condition. As a break bulk supplier,
SIG has recognised that the major impact of the organisation on
environmental waste is through packaging and has taken a pro-active
approach to minimise the amount of new packaging entering the market
and the amount of waste generated at trading site level.

the transport co-ordinators in each location throughout the Group are
required to make the most efficient use of vehicles, consistent with
meeting customer requirements. Techniques used include maximising
vehicle loading (within legal limits) so reducing vehicle numbers, and
route planning, to minimise distances travelled and thereby fuel usage;

Focus, Specialisation and Service
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Corporate Social Responsibility continued

Packaging and waste reduction continued
SIG actively seeks to reduce the number of printed copies of its Annual Report
and Accounts and will be actively encouraging Shareholders to elect to receive
their communications from the Company in electronic form. The 2005 Annual
Report and Accounts has been produced on Zanders Mega Matt which uses
up to 50% recovered fibre from pre and post consumer waste. The remaining
pulp source is totally chlorine free and is sourced from fully sustainable sources.
The paper manufacturing mill has also been accredited with the internationally
recognised standard ISO 14001.

Acquisitions
Considerable importance is placed on environmental matters as part
of the due diligence process for acquisitions. External advisors review
and assess any environmental risks to which the Group could potentially
become exposed and these are considered as part of the acquisition
process. Health and safety compliance and processes are also considered
as part of the acquisition process.

Suppliers
During the year SIG put in place a formal supplier audit programme.
The programme is conducted by way of questionnaire and includes a
request for details of the environmental aspects of the Suppliers’ operations.
Environmental management is one of the criteria considered when
examining a supplier’s qualifications for Group orders. The Group has a
policy that all timber purchased for use in its manufacturing activities must
be from renewable resources. This is a relatively small part of the UK
operations, but where accreditation and forest stewardship schemes
are applicable and available, SIG uses these in its sourcing procedures.

The continuing improvement of health and safety performance is a key
priority. A programme is ongoing to ensure that all UK subsidiary company
Directors will have received appropriate training in health and safety in order
to meet their responsibilities. Additional Health and Safety Advisors who are
either Company or regionally based have been recruited to support the
increased focus on health and safety education and awareness at workplace
level. Forklift and commercial driver training form an important part of
SIG’s Workplace Safety Policy, which impacts on reduced insurance costs,
enhanced pedestrian and site safety and improved working environment.
Daily inspections complement periodic training to keep the vehicle and
driver at peak performance.

Community
The Group endeavours to contribute to the communities in which it
operates particularly those neighbouring its sites. SIG is a member
of Business in the Community in the UK and has worked with that
organisation to help to develop its approach and practices. This is mainly
achieved through charitable donations and other initiatives that help the
community. The Group also provides financial support for employees
undertaking overseas charity work.
The Personnel Director has responsibility for community issues within the
Group and reports to the Chief Executive who is responsible for community
issues at Board level.

Donations
During the year the Group made charitable donations of £98,000
(2004: £53,000). It is the Group’s policy not to make political donations
and no political donations were made in the year (2004: £nil).

Health and safety
The Group is committed to high standards of health and safety for all
of its employees. The Group’s Health and Safety Policy was reviewed
in 2005. The policy is displayed throughout the Group’s workplaces
and is available on the Company’s website. Whilst Mr. D. Williams,
the Chief Executive, is the Board Director responsible for the health
and safety performance of the Group, the SIG systems ensure that
responsibility exists throughout all of the SIG businesses. Health and safety
objectives and targets have been established at relevant functions and levels
within the organisation.
As part of the Board’s ongoing commitment to its health and safety
improvement policy a programme to achieve OHSAS accreditation
commenced in 2004 with Moody International as Assessors. The preliminary
audits were completed in November 2005 and it is expected that all the
Group’s UK sites will receive OHSAS certification following the final audits
in March 2006.
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The Group has a Charitable Donations Policy. The Policy, in addition to
supporting local causes where SIG employees are involved, is to provide
support for three main charities for a period of three years commencing
in 2004. The three charities selected are:
G

Henshaws College, which is a unique and pioneering education facility
offering high quality independent living skills training to around 65 young
people aged between 16 and 23, all of whom are visually impaired with
additional disabilities. SIG supports five students from different parts of
the UK;

G

Yorkshire Wildlife Trust where SIG sponsors a number of Wildlife
projects; and

G

Hope and Homes for Children, which is an international charity,
engaged in providing homes and support for children on a long term
basis in third world and war torn countries.
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Staff are kept informed of charitable activities, and are encouraged to attend
events as appropriate, as a means of encouraging them to be personally
associated with charitable work and in particular with the causes supported
by the Group.
During the year the Group introduced a Payroll Giving Scheme, which is
available to all UK employees.

Code of ethics
The Group is currently in the process of establishing a Group wide Code
of Ethics, which will set out a number of fundamental principles, which all
Group companies will be required to follow. It is intended that the Code
when published will be available on the SIG website. The Code will include
the Company’s policy on how it addresses bribery and corruption. SIG’s
existing policy on employee conduct and behaviour is set out in its Staff
Handbooks which all employees receive a copy of on joining the company.

Employees

Employment opportunities are available to disabled persons in accordance
with their abilities and aptitudes on equal terms with other employees.
If an employee becomes disabled during employment the Group makes
every effort to enable them to continue employment, with re-training
for alternative work where necessary.
SIG has a commitment to ensure that all employees and management are
properly inducted into the Company and given the necessary training to fulfil
their roles.

SIG recognises the importance of good communications with employees
and acknowledges that there should be clear channels of communication
and opportunities for consultation and dialogue on issues, which affect both
business performance, and employee’s work lives. This is achieved through
a variety of media including the Group’s intranet, noticeboards, newsletters
and meetings.
All employees are regularly offered the opportunity to address any questions,
particularly relating to the financial performance of SIG, directly to the Chief
Executive either by email, by telephone, or in writing.
In the UK, employees are offered the opportunity to become Shareholders
in the Company. The Group introduced a new Share Investment Plan
(“SIP”) in November 2005 in place of a Save As You Earn Scheme.
The Company gives one matching share for each share purchased by
the employee up to a maximum of four matching shares per month.
At 31 December 2005 there were 1,278 employees saving under
the Company’s SIP.
The Group operates a number of employee pension schemes across its
businesses. In the UK it operates a Defined Contribution Scheme, which
is open to all employees. The Group’s UK Defined Benefit Schemes have
been closed to new members since 1997.
The Personnel Director has responsibility for human resource issues within
the Group and reports to the Chief Executive who is responsible for human
resource issues at Board level.

Focus, Specialisation and Service
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Corporate governance

The Group’s policy is to provide equal opportunities to all existing and
prospective employees. SIG recognises that its reputation is dependent
on the quality, effectiveness and skill base of its employees and is committed
to the fair and equitable treatment of all its employees and specifically
to prohibit discrimination on the grounds of race, religion, sex, nationality
or ethnic origin.

There is an active and extensive programme of training in place.
Full time dedicated professional trainers are employed and their work
is supplemented as required by external courses and external agencies.
In order to meet ever increasing customer demand particular emphasis
is placed on customer service and interpersonal skills. The Group has an
objective of increasing the number of man-hours of staff and management
training each year.
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Board of Directors

Left to right: Michael Borlenghi, David Haxby, Gareth Davies, David Williams, John Chivers, Les Tench, Peter Blackburn
Les Tench BSc

Peter Blackburn CBE BA, D.Litt, FCA

Non-Executive Chairman
Les Tench (age 60) became a Non-Executive Director in March 2003
and was appointed Deputy Chairman in November 2003. He was appointed
Chairman on 1 May 2004. He joined CRH plc in 1992, and from 1998
until his retirement in December 2002 was Managing Director of
CRH Europe – Building Products.

Non-Executive Director
Peter Blackburn (age 65) became a Non-Executive Director in July 2001.
He is Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and Senior Independent
Director. He is a Non-Executive Director of Compass Group PLC. From
November 1997 to June 2001 he was Chairman and Chief Executive
of Nestlé UK. He was Chairman of Northern Foods plc from February
2002 to July 2005. He is a past president of the Food and Drink Federation.

David Williams
Chief Executive
David Williams (age 55) joined the Group in 1983 having gained UK
and overseas sales and marketing experience in several diverse industries.
He was appointed Managing Director of Sheffield Insulations and to the main
Board in June 1993. He became Chief Executive in January 2002.

Michael Borlenghi BSc, FRSA
Non-Executive Director
Michael Borlenghi (age 62) became a Non-Executive Director on 2 April 2004.
He has held a number of Non-Executive board positions since retiring in 1991
from the GKN plc board. Whilst at GKN he was involved in senior management
roles both in the UK and overseas in a career spanning 25 years.

Gareth Davies BA, ACA
Finance Director
Gareth Davies (age 42) joined the Group in November 1993 as Group
Financial Controller, having previously been a Senior Manager with
Arthur Andersen. He was appointed to the main Board in August 2002
as Finance Director.

John Chivers
Executive Director
John Chivers (age 53) joined the Group in July 1975 and was appointed
a Director of Sheffield Insulations in April 1989. He became Managing Director
of SIG Roofing Supplies in July 1997 and was appointed to the main Board
in September 2001. He is currently responsible for the Group’s Roofing
and Specialist Construction Product businesses in the UK.

David Haxby LL.B, FCA
Non-Executive Director
David Haxby (age 64) became a Non-Executive Director in March 2003
and is Chairman of the Audit Committee. He is currently a Non-Executive
Director of Cattles plc, a position he has held since 1999. From 1991
until his retirement in 1995 he was the London Office Managing Partner
of Arthur Andersen and since then has served on the board of a number
of public and private companies.

Board Committees
Audit Committee
D. A. Haxby – Chairman
P. H. Blackburn
M. J. C. Borlenghi
Remuneration Committee
P. H. Blackburn – Chairman
M. J. C. Borlenghi
D. A. Haxby
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Nominations Committee
L. O. Tench – Chairman
P. H. Blackburn
M. J. C. Borlenghi
D. A. Haxby
D. Williams
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Company Information

President

Registered office

Listing details

Company website

Sir Norman Adsetts, OBE, MA

Hillsborough Works
Langsett Road
Sheffield S6 2LW
United Kingdom

Market
Reference
Index
Sector

www.sigplc.co.uk

Secretary
Richard Monro, FCIS

Tel: 0114 285 6300
Fax: 0114 285 6385
Email: info@sigplc.co.uk

– UK Listed
– SHI.L
– FTSE 250
– Support Services
(1 January 2006
onwards)
– Construction and
Building Materials
(up to 1 January 2006)

Registered number
Registered in England
998314

Registrars and transfer
office*
Computershare
Investor Services PLC
PO Box 82
The Pavilions
Bridgwater Road
Bristol BS99 7NH

Principal bankers

Solicitors

Financial PR

The Royal Bank of Scotland plc
Corporate Banking
3rd Floor
2 Whitehall Quay
Leeds LS1 4HR

Pinsent Masons
1 Park Row
Leeds LS1 5AB

Finsbury Group
Tenter House
45 Moorfields
London EC2Y 9AE

Barclays Bank plc
North East and Yorkshire
Larger Business Team
PO Box 190
1 Park Row
Leeds LS1 5WU

Joint stockbrokers
Auditors

JP Morgan Cazenove
20 Moorgate
London EC2R 6DA

Corporate governance

Panmure Gordon & Co. plc
Moorgate Hall
155 Moorgate
London EC2M 6XB

Deloitte and Touche LLP
1 City Square
Leeds LS1 2AL

* Shareholders’ enquiries should be addressed to the Registrars at the above address (Tel. 0870 702 0000)

Financial Calendar

Final dividend 2005
Interim results 2006
Interim dividend 2006
Full year results 2006
Report and Accounts 2006
Final dividend 2006

–
–
–
–
–
–

Payable 22 May 2006
Announcement September 2006
Payable November 2006
Announcement March 2007
Posted to Shareholders April 2007
Payable May 2007
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Report of the Directors

The Directors present their Annual Report and the audited Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2005.
Principal activities and business review
The principal activity of the Group is the supply of building materials to construction and related markets. The main products supplied are insulation, roofing,
commercial interiors and specialist construction and safety products.
The Chairman’s Statement and Business Review on pages 6 to 23 contain a review of these activities and comments on the future outlook. The operational and
treasury risk management objectives and policies of the Company are set out in the Business Review on pages 20 to 22.
Details of the Group’s policies in relation to employees (including disabled employees) and information on charitable and political donations are disclosed on
pages 34 and 35.
Details of the Group’s policies in relation to corporate governance are disclosed on pages 40 to 43.
Group results
The Consolidated Income Statement for the year ended 31 December 2005 is shown on page 54. The movement in the Group reserves during the year
is shown in Note 23 on page 88. Segmental information is set out in Note 1 on pages 64 and 65.
Dividends
The Board is recommending a final dividend of 11.5p per share (2004: 9.4p) which, together with the interim dividend of 5.3p (2004: 4.6p) per share,
makes a total for the year of 16.8p (2004: 14.0p) per share. Payment of the final dividend, if approved at the Annual General Meeting, will be made on
22 May 2006 to Shareholders registered at the close of business on 21 April 2006.
Directors
The names of the Directors as at the date of this report together with biographical notes are set out on page 36. They comprised the Board for the whole
of the year.
The Directors standing for re-election at the Annual General Meeting are Mr. G. W. Davies and Mr. D. A. Haxby. Each Director being eligible, offers himself
for re-election.
Full details of Directors’ remuneration, interests in the share capital of the Company and of their share options are set out on pages 44 to 50
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.
Acquisitions
Details of acquisitions made in the year are covered in Note 13 on pages 77 to 79.
Share capital
Details of the share capital and allotments during the year, which arose solely from the exercise of options under Employee and Executive Share Schemes
are set out in Note 22 on page 86. Details of outstanding options under the Group’s Employee and Executive Schemes are also set out in Note 22 on
page 86.
Substantial shareholdings
As at 8 March 2006, the Company had been notified of the following substantial interests of 3% or more in its ordinary issued share capital.
% of issued
share capital

FMR Corporation/Fidelity International Limited
Barclays PLC
Prudential PLC
Standard Life Investments

11.04
5.99
4.23
4.41

Payment to suppliers
The Group follows the CBI’s prompt payment code and operates and abides by a clearly defined policy, which has been agreed with all major suppliers.
As at 31 December 2005 the Company had no trade creditors, as it does not trade in its own right. The Group’s average number of days outstanding as
at 31 December 2005 in respect of trade payables was 37 (2004: 39).
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Fixed assets
In the opinion of the Directors, the market value of the Group’s properties is not materially different from the value included in the Group Accounts.
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
The Company purchases liability insurance cover for Directors and Officers of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Accounts. The Directors have chosen to prepare Accounts for the Group in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and for the Company in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (“UK GAAP”).
In the case of UK GAAP Accounts, the Directors are required to prepare Accounts for each financial year, which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing these Accounts, the Directors are required to:
G

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

G

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

G

state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the Accounts.

In the case of IFRS Accounts, IAS 1 requires that the Accounts present fairly for each financial year the Group’s financial position, financial performance and cash
flows. This requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria
for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out in the IAS Board’s ‘Framework for the preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements’. In virtually all
circumstances, a fair presentation will be achieved by compliance with all applicable IFRS. Directors are also required to:
G

properly select and apply accounting policies;

G

present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information; and

G

provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular
transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance.

Corporate governance

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company, for safeguarding the assets, for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities and for the preparation
of a Directors’ Report and Directors’ Remuneration Report which comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 1985.
The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements differs from legislation in other jurisdictions.
Auditors
In accordance with Section 384 of the Companies Act 1985 a resolution re-appointing Deloitte and Touche LLP as Auditors of the Company for the ensuing
year will be proposed at the Company’s forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
Annual General Meeting
The Notice convening the Annual General Meeting to be held at the Whitley Hall Hotel, Elliot Lane, Grenoside, Sheffield at 12 noon on Wednesday 10 May 2006,
together with explanatory notes on the resolutions to be proposed, is contained in a circular to be sent to Shareholders with this report.
By order of the Board

Richard Monro
Company Secretary
8 March 2006
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Corporate Governance

SIG is committed to business integrity, high ethical values and professionalism in all its activities. As an essential part of this commitment SIG supports the highest
standards of corporate governance. The Board is accountable to the Company’s Shareholders for good governance and this statement and the Directors’
Remuneration Report on pages 44 to 50 describe how the principles of good governance set out in the Combined Code are applied within SIG.
Compliance
The Company has applied the principles set out in Section 1 of the Combined Code for the period under review and has, throughout the year, complied with
the provisions set out therein.
The Company’s Auditors Deloitte and Touche LLP, are required to review whether the above statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the
nine provisions of the Combined Code specified for its review by the Listing Rules and to report if it does not reflect such compliance. No such report
has been made.
The Board
As at 31 December 2005, the Board was made up of seven members comprising the Chairman, three Executive Directors and three Non-Executive
Directors. The Non-Executive Directors are considered by the Board to be independent of management and free of any relationship which could materially
interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement. Biographical details of each of the Directors, which illustrate their range of experience, are set out
on page 36.
The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and Chief Executive is clearly established and is understood by the Board.
The Senior Independent Director is Mr. P. H. Blackburn.
All Directors are subject to election at the Annual General Meeting immediately following their appointment and to re-election every three years.
Any Director attaining the age of 70 would be subject to re-election annually.
Board procedures
The Board met formally on twelve occasions during the year and individual attendance at those and the Board Committee meetings is set out in the table
on page 41. All Board members are supplied with information in a form and of a quality appropriate to enable them to discharge their duties. Board and
Committee papers are sent out seven days before meetings take place. There is an agreed schedule of matters reserved for the Board for collective decision
and these include:
G

determining the strategy and control of the Group;

G

amendments to the structure and capital of the Company and Group;

G

approval of financial reporting and controls;

G

approval of capital and revenue expenditure of a significant size;

G

acquisitions and disposals above a prescribed level; and

G

corporate governance matters and approval of Group policies and risk management strategies.

To enable the Board to perform its duties effectively all Directors have full access to all relevant information and to the services of the Company Secretary
whose responsibility it is for ensuring that Board procedures are followed. The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter reserved
for the Board. There is an agreed procedure whereby Directors wishing to take independent legal advice in the furtherance of their duties may do so at
the Company’s expense. Appropriate training is available to all Directors on appointment and on an ongoing basis as required.
The Terms of Reference for each of the Board Committees are available on request from the Company Secretary or on the SIG website
(www.sigplc.co.uk).
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Attendance at Board and Committee meetings
The following table shows the attendance of Directors at meetings of the Board, Audit, Remuneration and Nominations Committees during the year
to 31 December 2005.
Board

Audit
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Nominations
Committee

P. H. Blackburn
M. J. C. Borlenghi
M. J. Chivers
G. W. Davies
D. A. Haxby
L. O. Tench
D. Williams

12
12
11
12
12
12
12

5
5
N/A
N/A
5
N/A
N/A

6
6
N/A
N/A
6
N/A
N/A

1
1
N/A
N/A
1
1
1

Number of meetings in the year

12

5

6

1

(Where N/A appears in the table the Director listed is not a member of the Committee).
The Chairman also holds meetings with the Non-Executive Directors without the Executive Directors present.

The high level report, which analysed the performance of the Board as a whole, was reviewed and discussed by the Board as a specific agenda item.
The Board plans to conduct evaluations on an annual basis and may use alternative approaches in future years.
The Non-Executive Directors, chaired by the Senior Independent Director, meet once a year without the Chairman present to assess his performance.
The Board holds at least two of its meetings every year at Divisional locations to help all Board members gain a deeper understanding of the Business.
Relations with Shareholders
The Company recognises the importance of communicating with its Shareholders, including its employee Shareholders, to ensure that its strategy
and performance is understood. This is achieved principally through the Annual Report and the Annual General Meeting. The Group’s preliminary and
interim results, as well as all announcements issued to the London Stock Exchange are published on the Company’s website. The Company issues regular
trading updates to the market and these, together with copies of interviews with the Chief Executive and copies of the presentations made to analysts can
also be found on the Company’s website. In addition, a range of other corporate information is available to investors on the Company’s website
(www.sigplc.co.uk).
The Chief Executive and Finance Director are responsible for Investor Relations. Feedback from major Shareholders is reported to the Board by the Finance
Director and the Chairman and discussed at its meetings. Formal presentations are made to institutional Shareholders following the announcement of the
Company’s annual and interim results. Contact is also maintained, where appropriate, with Shareholders to discuss overall remuneration plans and policies.
The Senior Independent Director was available to meet with institutional Shareholders if requested. Although the Non-Executive Directors are not at
present asked to meet the Company’s Shareholders, they regularly attend presentations of the annual and interim results. The Board recognises that the
Annual General Meeting is the principal forum for dialogue with private Shareholders and all Shareholders are invited to attend. All Directors attend the
Annual General Meeting and are available to answer any questions that Shareholders may wish to raise. The Notice of Meeting is sent to Shareholders at least
20 working days before the meeting. Shareholders vote on a show of hands, unless a poll is validly called and after each such vote the number of proxy
votes received for and against the resolution is announced.
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Board effectiveness
During the year, the Board continued its ongoing evaluation process to assess its performance and that of its Committees and to identify areas in which
its effectiveness, policies and processes might be enhanced. An appraisal of the Board, each Board Committee, and the performance of each individual
Director was carried out using a tailored questionnaire prepared by an independent third party in conjunction with the Chairman and the Company
Secretary. The questionnaire was completed by each Director and the results collated and evaluated by the independent third party. Each Director received
a copy of his own report together with a copy of the high level report, which analysed the Board as a whole. The Chairman received a copy of each Board
member’s report with a copy of his own report being sent to the Senior Independent Director. The Chairman met with each Director individually to discuss
the results of their individual report and the process with his own feedback being conducted by the Senior Independent Director. The purpose of the
process was to help to identify any areas which needed attention, develop and identify what should be included in the Director’s future training programme
and to suggest any procedures and improvements which may improve the workings of the Board.
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Corporate Governance continued

The Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee operates under written Terms of Reference. The Committee comprises only independent Non-Executive Directors.
The Committee’s Report is set out on pages 44 to 50.
The Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee operates under written Terms of Reference. Its principal duty is the nomination of suitable candidates for the approval of the
Board to fill Executive and Non-Executive vacancies on the Board. The Nominations Committee comprises the Chairman, Chief Executive and the three
Non-Executive Directors. The meetings of the Committee are chaired by the Non-Executive Chairman.
The Committee reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board and makes recommendations concerning the re-appointment of any
Non-Executive Director at the conclusion of their specified term of office and in the identification and nomination of new Directors. The Committee
appoints external search and selection consultants as appropriate. The Committee also advises the Board on succession planning for Executive Board
appointments although the Board itself is responsible for succession generally.
In general terms, when considering candidates for appointment as Directors of the Company, the Nominations Committee would in conjunction with
the Board draft a detailed job specification and candidate profile. In drafting this, consideration would be given to the existing experience, knowledge and
background of Board members as well as the strategic and business objectives of the Group. Once a detailed specification has been agreed with the Board,
the Committee would then work with an appropriate external search and selection consultancy to identify candidates of the appropriate calibre and with
whom an initial candidate shortlist could be agreed. Shortlisted candidates would then be invited to interview with Members of the Committee and,
if recommended by the Committee, would be invited to meet the entire Board before any decision is taken relating to the appointment.
Following the appointment of a new Director, the Chairman in conjunction with the Company Secretary, is responsible for ensuring that a full, formal and
tailored induction to the Company is given.
The Committee recommended to the Board, following a meeting in February 2006, that Mr. L. O. Tench and Mr. D. A. Haxby both of whom would have
completed their first three-year terms of office in March 2006 should be re-appointed as Non-Executive Directors, subject to their continued re-election
by Shareholders as appropriate, for a further period of three years. Neither Director took any part in the discussions concerning their own recommendation
for re-appointment.
The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee operates under written Terms of Reference which are consistent with current best practice. The Committee comprises only
independent Non-Executive Directors. The Chairman of the Committee attends the Annual General Meeting to respond to any shareholder questions
that might be raised on the Committee’s activities.
Whilst the Group does not have a dedicated internal audit function, the Board annually reviews the need for such a function and has done so during the
year. The Group does have a function, which performs a number of internal audit tasks across the main UK Divisions. The Board has accepted the Audit
Committee’s recommendation that the Group’s internal control and risk management systems would be further strengthened by the appointment
of an outsourced internal audit function and an appointment will be made during the first half of 2006.
The Committee’s Report is set out on pages 51 to 52.
Risk management and internal control
The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. It is the role of management to implement
the Board’s policies on risk and control through the design and operation of appropriate internal control systems.
For the whole of the year under review and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts, the Board has had formal procedures in place
to ensure that it is in a position to consider all significant aspects of internal control.
The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control. This review has covered all controls including operational,
compliance and risk management procedures, as well as financial. The review is undertaken on a six monthly basis.
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Risk management and internal control continued
The formal process followed and reviewed by the Board to assess the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control accords with the guidance issued
by the Turnbull Report ‘Internal Control: Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code’ and is part of the ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and
managing the significant risks faced by the Group. This process is summarised as follows:
G

operating management is charged with the ongoing responsibility for identifying risks facing each of the operating units and for putting in place procedures
to mitigate, manage and monitor risks;

G

operating units formally review all business risks and set out the significant risks to the operations deemed to be of higher concern, the controls in place
and additional controls, which could be implemented. These proposals are approved by each operating unit’s management and submitted in the form of
risk action plans to Group Executive management for review and approval. Any significant matters arising from this review are formally reported to the
Board by the Finance Director to ensure that appropriate initiatives are developed and implemented to manage those risks. The Board is advised in this
process by the Audit Committee; and

G

the risk and control identification and management process is monitored and periodically reviewed by Group Executive management.

The key elements of the controls framework within which the Group operates are:
G

an organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility, delegation of authority and reporting requirements;

G

an embedded culture of openness of communication between operating divisional management and the Group Executive management on matters
relating to risk and control;

G

defined expenditure authorisation levels;

G

operating reviews covering all aspects of each business are conducted by Group Executive management at least half yearly; and

G

a comprehensive system of financial reporting. An annual budget for each divisional operating unit is prepared in detail and approved by the Chief Executive.
The Board approves the overall Group’s budget and plans. Monthly actual results are reported against budget and prior year and the forecast for the year is
revised where necessary. Any significant changes and adverse variances are questioned by the Board and remedial action is taken where appropriate. There
is weekly cash and treasury reporting to the Group finance function and periodic reporting to the Board on the Group’s tax and treasury position.

The risk framework as outlined above, gives reasonable assurance that the structure of controls in operation is appropriate to the Group’s situation and that
there is an acceptable level of risk throughout the business.
The Board confirms that there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group; that this has been in
place for the year under review and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts.
Going concern
The Directors consider, after making appropriate enquiries at the time of approving the Accounts, that the Company and the Group have adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, and accordingly, that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in the
preparation of the Accounts.

Richard Monro
Company Secretary
8 March 2006
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The system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failing to achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
including the statement of remuneration policy for the year ended 31 December 2005

This report has been prepared by the Remuneration Committee on behalf of the Board in accordance with the requirements of the Directors’
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 and The Listing Rules. In accordance with Schedule 7a of the Companies Act 1985 the report is divided
into two sections containing unaudited and audited information. The audited information commences on page 47.
The Remuneration Committee
The Board has a long established Remuneration Committee (“the Committee”), which meets at least twice a year. It is comprised solely of independent
Non-Executive Directors. The Committee comprises the following Non-Executive Directors: Mr. P. H. Blackburn (who chairs the Committee),
Mr. M. J. C. Borlenghi and Mr. D. A. Haxby, all of whom are independent within the definition set out in the Code. They comprised the Committee
for the entire year and up to the date of this report. The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining, on behalf of the Board, the salary and
benefits received by the Chairman and the Executive Directors and for overseeing the remuneration of other Senior Executives. The fees paid to Non-Executive
Directors are determined by the Board.
The Chief Executive, Mr. D. Williams, is consulted on the remuneration of Executive Directors and attends all meetings, except when his own remuneration
is discussed. The Chairman of the Board also attends by invitation but does not attend or participate in any way in connection with the determination of
his own salary. The Company Secretary provides information to the Committee and is in attendance at meetings. During the year the Committee met six
times and received information on management remuneration levels from a number of external advisers. The Committee also takes independent professional
advice, on an ad hoc basis, as required.
In January 2006, the Remuneration Committee appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”), a leading consultancy firm with substantial expertise
in Executive remuneration to act on behalf of the Committee in providing independent market information and remuneration advice on an ongoing basis.
During 2005 PwC also provided taxation advice and consultancy services to SIG plc.
Policy on remuneration of Executive Directors
The Company’s policy for 2005 and subsequent years is to provide remuneration packages that fairly reward the Executive Directors for the contribution they
make to the business and are competitive enough to attract, retain and motivate Executive Directors and Senior Managers of the right calibre. The policy is
designed to incentivise the Directors to meet the Company’s financial and strategic objectives such that a significant proportion of remuneration is performance
related. In reviewing Executive Directors’ salaries due consideration is given to the levels of increase granted to other employees within the Group and the
Committee reviews and notes the total individual remuneration packages of each of the other Senior Executives. The Committee established in 2003 that the
Executive Directors’ remuneration packages were considerably below both market rates and the Company’s comparator group. The salary increases awarded to
the Directors in 2004 and 2005 reflected the ongoing process of alignment with market rates for the various positions. Basic salaries are reviewed annually
or when a change of responsibility occurs.
The Committee considers that the targets set for the different elements of performance related remuneration (including the share option schemes)
are appropriate and demanding in the context of the Company’s trading environment and the business challenges it faces.
The Committee believes that the Earnings Per Share (“EPS”) condition is appropriate for its share option schemes, as it requires substantial improvements
in the underlying financial performance of the Company in order for the options to become exercisable. Deloitte and Touche LLP in their capacity as Auditors
are required to review the calculations as to whether the performance targets for all share schemes have been achieved before any exercise is permitted.
The main components of Executive Directors’ remuneration are given below.
Base salary and benefits
The base salary and benefits of the Executive Directors are determined on an annual basis by the Committee based upon the recommendations of the
Chief Executive and after a review of the individual’s performance and market trends. The Chief Executive does not make recommendations to the
Committee in respect of his own remuneration. In setting the base salary for each Executive Director, the Committee takes into account published
remuneration information on comparable companies and salary policy within the rest of the Group. Benefits include a company car and medical
insurance. The value of benefits is not pensionable.
Annual bonus
The annual performance related bonus provides Executive Directors with an incentive to achieve performance targets, which are set at the beginning
of a financial year. The performance targets are predominantly based on profit before tax either of the Group or a subsidiary, whichever is appropriate.
In addition, for certain Executives, additional targets are based on cash flow, again either of the Group or a subsidiary, whichever is appropriate and
personal objectives. The annual bonus is not pensionable. The pre-determined performance targets and personal objectives for 2005 were achieved in full by
Mr. G. W. Davies and Mr. D. Williams resulting in the maximum 60% of base salary being payable to Mr. G. W. Davies and 70% of base salary being payable
to Mr. D. Williams. In respect of the bonuses paid to Mr. G. W. Davies and Mr. D. Williams, 1/6 and 1/7 respectively related to the achievement of the
specific personal objectives. Mr. M. J. Chivers’ pre-determined performance targets, which relate to the profit performance of those businesses under his
direct control and to the SIG Group as a whole, were substantially achieved resulting in an amount of 51% of base salary being payable (60% of base salary
being the maximum).
For the 2006 financial year the Committee has agreed that the maximum bonus that can be earned will be 60% for Mr. M. J. Chivers and Mr. G. W. Davies.
Mr. D. Williams’ maximum bonus has been increased to 100% against the achievement of substantially increased targets and personal objectives. The Committee
has agreed that for 2006 the annual bonus criteria will be based on profit performance growth targets and additional specific objectives. The element relating to the
achievement of specific personal objectives represents up to 10% of the maximum bonus opportunity for Mr. D. Williams and Mr. G W. Davies. The payment of
annual bonuses is not guaranteed.
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Pension schemes
All of the Executive Directors are members of the Group’s main contributory defined benefit pension scheme, which enables members to retire at age 60
with a maximum pension after 40 years’ pensionable service equivalent to two thirds of final pensionable salary. Pensionable salary is basic salary, excluding
bonuses. Final pensionable salary is the average of the highest three consecutive pensionable salaries in the last ten years before retirement. For service
up to 31 July 2002, pensions in payment are guaranteed to increase by 5% per annum compound. Following consultation with the active membership
of the scheme certain changes were made to the contribution levels and benefits in order to limit future liabilities and, consequently, for service from
1 August 2002, pensions in payment are guaranteed to increase by the lower of 5% per annum or the increase in the Retail Price Index. On death before
retirement, a lump sum equal to four times current salary is paid, together with a spouse’s pension of 50% of pensionable salary. As part of this scheme,
all Executive Directors are covered by permanent health insurance.
Share option schemes
Long Term Incentive Plans (“L-TIP”)
All Executive Directors are eligible to participate in the L-TIP. Under the L-TIP participating Directors and other designated senior managers are granted
nil cost share options up to a maximum of 70% of base salary. In 2004 Shareholders approved the adoption of a new L-TIP. Options were granted in each
of the five years ended 31 December 2003 under the old Plan and in 2004 and 2005 under the new Plan. The three-year performance periods in respect
of both Plans commenced on 1 January in each of those years. As set out on page 49 in the Directors’ share options table under the heading Long Term
Incentive Plan, Mr. D. Williams, Mr. M. J. Chivers and Mr. G. W. Davies have awards under both Plans, which had not vested at 31 December 2005.
The performance conditions which apply to them are given below. At the end of the relevant period the Remuneration Committee assesses whether
the performance conditions have been satisfied. Awards under the L-TIP’s are not pensionable.
Awards under both the L-TIPs are exercisable between three and seven years from the date of grant. In the case of options granted prior to 2004, provided the
individual’s performance criteria are met the award would vest in full if, over a consecutive three-year period, the growth in the Group’s earnings per share is 10%
higher than the percentage increase in the Retail Price Index. None of the award vests if the growth in earnings per share is less than 6% above the percentage
increase in the Retail Price Index over the same period. Between these two limits, the award vests proportionately. The right to exercise options terminates upon
the employee ceasing to hold office with the Group, subject to certain exceptions and the discretion of the Remuneration Committee.

The awards for Mr. D. Williams and Mr. G. W. Davies would vest in full if the performance condition requirements set out above are achieved. 50% of the
awards for Mr. M. J. Chivers would vest in full if the performance condition requirements set out above are achieved. Providing the 6%, or 8% if extended
to a fourth year, minimum growth performance target is met, the remaining 50% of the shares under the award would vest in full if the actual profit before
tax of the SIG Roofing Supplies business in aggregate for the consecutive three or four-year period, referred to above, exceeds budgeted profit before tax in
aggregate for the same period by 1%.
In the case of the 2004 and 2005 L-TIP Awards the percentage growth in the Company’s earnings per share over the three-year period from the
commencement of the financial year in which the award is made must exceed the percentage growth in the Retail Prices Index over the same period
by a minimum of 3% per annum compounded for any of the award to vest. At 3% per annum compounded 30% of the Award vests, between 3%
and 10% compounded growth the Award vests proportionately between 30% and 100%. Above 10% per annum the Award vests in full. No re-testing
of the performance criteria will occur.
The above performance conditions were chosen because they were believed to be challenging and not only take account of the need for long term
performance and commitment but also are an important means of aligning the interests of employees and Shareholders.
In 2005 Awards were made under the Plan to Mr. D. Williams with a value of 70% of his base salary and to Mr. M. J. Chivers and Mr. G. W. Davies with
a value of 50% of their base salary.
Awards made under the Plan are set out in the table on page 49.
Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme (“DABS”)
In 2004, Shareholders approved the introduction of a DABS, the first awards under which have been made in 2005. The DABS operates by inviting
participants including Executive Directors to use up to 50% of their annual performance related cash bonus after income tax and national insurance in
respect of the preceding financial year to purchase shares in the Company which must be kept for three years. Participants purchasing such shares will be
eligible to receive additional matching shares up to a maximum of one for one, providing certain pre-set earnings per share performance targets are met
over a consecutive three-year period. For 2005 the performance targets for the DABS require compounded EPS growth in excess of the Retail Price Index
of a minimum of 3% for 50% matching to be achieved and 5% and above for full matching. Awards made under the DABS are not pensionable and are set
out in the table on page 49.
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If the 6% minimum growth performance target is not met, the performance period is extended by one year and the minimum growth in the Group’s
earnings per share, over a consecutive four-year period, is increased to 8% over the percentage increase in the Retail Price Index over the same period.
The target for the full award to vest would be increased to 13.33%.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued
including the statement of remuneration policy for the year ended 31 December 2005

Share option schemes continued
1997 Executive Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”)
Under the ESOS, Executives could be awarded an annual grant of share options at market price, provided that the total amount payable by him to exercise
options under the ESOS or any other share option scheme of the Group (excluding savings related schemes) granted during the immediately preceding
ten years does not exceed four times base salary, bonus and benefits. At the end of the relevant period the Remuneration Committee assesses whether
the performance conditions have been satisfied. Awards under this scheme are not pensionable.
Options granted under the ESOS are exercisable between three and ten years for the Inland Revenue approved scheme and three and seven years for the
unapproved scheme from the date of grant. The award would vest in full if, over a consecutive three-year period, the growth in the Group’s earnings per share
is 6% higher than the percentage increase in the Retail Price Index. None of the award would vest if the growth in earnings per share is less than 6% above the
percentage increase in the Retail Price Index over the same period. At the end of the relevant period the Remuneration Committee assesses whether
the performance conditions have been satisfied. No re-testing of the performance criteria will occur. Awards under this scheme are not pensionable.
The above performance condition was chosen because it was in line with market practice at the time and took account of the need for long term
performance and commitment as well as being an important means of aligning the interests of employees and Shareholders.
The Committee has resolved that following the introduction of the DABS, approved by Shareholders at the 2004 Annual General Meeting, that no further
options will be granted under this scheme.
Employee share schemes
The Executive Directors are also eligible to participate in the Company’s Share Incentive Plan (“SIP”), which commenced in November 2005 and is open
to all UK employees of the Group. This replaced the Savings Related Share Option Scheme for UK employees as a decision has been taken not to operate
both schemes at the same time.
Non-Executive Directors
For Non-Executive Directors, the Company’s policy is that their appointment will be for an initial term of three years, unless otherwise terminated
earlier by and at the discretion of either party upon three-months’ written notice. Non-Executive Directors will normally be expected to serve two
three-year terms, although the Board may invite them to serve for an additional period. The dates of their letters of appointment are: Mr. L. O. Tench
28 February 2003; Mr. P. H. Blackburn 14 June 2001; Mr. D. A. Haxby 28 February 2003; and Mr. M. J. C. Borlenghi 8 March 2004. The Executive
Directors are responsible for recommending to the Board the fees of Non-Executive Directors. The basic Non-Executive Director fee (calculated by
reference to current market levels and taking account of the time commitment and the responsibilities of the Non-Executive Directors) was with effect
from 1 June 2005 £37,000. Mr. P. H. Blackburn and Mr. D. A. Haxby receive additional fees for their services as Senior Independent Director and
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and Chairman of the Audit Committee respectively. Any reasonable expenses that they may incur in the
furtherance of their duties are repaid by the Company. Non-Executive Directors do not receive benefits from the Company and they are not eligible
to join the Company’s pension scheme or participate in any bonus or incentive scheme or any of the Company’s share option schemes.
Service contracts
The Non-Executive Directors, including the Chairman, do not have service contracts and their appointment may be terminated by either party upon
three-months’ written notice by either. Non-Executive Directors are appointed for specific terms of three years and the appointment reviewed at the end
of each three-year term. The Executive Directors have service contracts for a continuous term to retirement age providing for a rolling twelve-months’
notice period in writing by either party.
The service contract for Mr. D. Williams is dated 7 May 2002. The Company can terminate his employment forthwith in lieu of a twelve-month notice period
or any unexpired portion thereof by paying to him an amount equal to his basic salary for such period and an amount in lieu of the bonus which he would have
received had he remained employed during the notice period and providing him with all benefits to which he is entitled, with the exception of his company
car. If the Company terminates employment without giving notice or making a payment in lieu, any damages to which he may be entitled is to be calculated
in accordance with common law principles, including those relating to mitigation of loss and accelerated receipt.
The service contracts for Mr. M. J. Chivers and Mr. G. W. Davies are dated 1 January 1995 and 1 August 2002. The Company can discharge any obligation
in relation to the unexpired portion of their notice period or any notice required to be given under their service contracts by making a payment in lieu
thereof subject to the deduction of tax and national insurance. If the Company terminates employment without giving notice or making a payment in lieu,
any damages to which the Executive may be entitled is to be calculated in accordance with common law principles, including those relating to mitigation
of loss and accelerated receipt.
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Share ownership guidelines
To better align Executive Directors’ interests with those of Shareholders the Company has established the principle of requiring Executive Directors to build
up and maintain a beneficial holding of shares in the Company equivalent to a minimum of one times basic salary. Under normal circumstances it is expected
that this should be achieved within five years of 31 December 2004, or within five years of appointment, whichever is the later. It is anticipated that the
satisfaction of this target will be mainly achieved by the vesting of shares through the Company’s share schemes.
Performance graph
The following graph shows the Company’s Total Shareholder Return performance, compared with the performance of the FTSE Construction & Building
Materials Index over the five-year period to 31 December 2005. This index has been selected because the Company believes that the constituent companies
comprising the FTSE Construction & Building Materials Index are the most appropriate for this comparison as they are affected by similar commercial and
economic factors to SIG. The Company’s performance compared with the performance of the FTSE Support Services Index over the same period has also
been included for information purposes as from 1 January 2006 the Company became a constituent of that Sector. The Directors intend that future years’
comparisons will be made against that Index.
Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”)
1 January 2001 to 31 December 2005
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Audited information
Directors’ interests in the shares of SIG plc
The Register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 325 of the Companies Act 2005 shows that the Directors in office at 31 December 2005 and their
families had the under-mentioned interests in the Ordinary shares of the Company.
31 December
2005

P. H. Blackburn
M. J. C. Borlenghi
M. J. Chivers
G. W. Davies
D. A. Haxby
L. O. Tench
D. Williams

8,000
5,000
43,138
17,957*
Nil
20,000
77,039*

1 January
2005

8,000
5,000
43,138
12,940
Nil
20,000
74,396

* Includes shares purchased under the SIG plc SIP.
The Register of Directors’ Interests, which is open to inspection at the Company’s Registered Office, contains full details of Directors’ shareholdings
and share options.
All shareholdings were unchanged as at 8 March 2006 other than on 16 January 2006 when Mr. D. Williams and Mr. G. W. Davies acquired a further 20 shares
under the SIG SIP and on 15 February 2006 when Mr. D. Williams and Mr. G. W. Davies acquired a further 18 shares and Mr. M. J. Chivers 14 shares under
the SIG SIP.
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150

_5SIG_2005arm.qxd

30/03/2006

12:07

Page 48

Directors’ Remuneration Report continued
including the statement of remuneration policy for the year ended 31 December 2005

Audited information continued
Directors’ emoluments
Salary
and fees
£000’s

Annual
performance
related
bonus
£000’s

108
–

Benefits
£000’s

2005
Total
emoluments
£000’s

2004
Total
emoluments
£000’s

–
–

–
–

108
–

79
31

425
210
235

297
110
141

10
20
18

732
340
394

543
289
318

42
35
39

–
–
–

–
–
–

42
35
39

36
25
33

1,094

548

48

1,690

1,354

Chairman
L. O. Tench (Chairman from 01/05/2004)
B. Cottingham (Chairman to 30/04/2004)
Executive
D. Williams
M. J. Chivers
G. W. Davies
Non-Executive
P. H. Blackburn
M. J. C. Borlenghi (Appointed 02/04/2004)
D. A. Haxby
Total

The base salaries for the Executive Directors as at 1 January 2006 following the annual pay review are: Mr. D. Williams £455,000; Mr. G. W. Davies £270,000;
and Mr. M. J. Chivers £245,000. The increases were in line with the Committee’s stated policy of aligning the various positions with market rates.
There were no expense allowances or compensation for loss of office payments.
Benefits relate to the estimated value of the provision of a company car and medical insurance premiums.
There were no sums paid to third parties in respect of the services of any Director.
Aggregate emoluments disclosed above do not include any amounts for the value of options to acquire Ordinary shares in the Company granted to or held
by the Executive Directors.
Directors’ pensions
The following Directors had retirement benefits accruing under the Company’s main contributory defined benefit scheme in respect of qualifying services
during the year:

D. Williams
M. J. Chivers
G. W. Davies

Increase
in accrued
benefits
£000’s

Increase
in accrued
benefits
net of
inflation
£000’s

Transfer
value of
increase in
accrued
benefits net
of inflation
£000’s

Accrued
benefits at
31 December
2005 or date
of cessation
£000’s

Transfer
value at
31 December
2005 or date
of cessation
£000’s

Transfer
value at
1 January
2005 or
date of
appointment
£000’s

Contributions
made by
Executive to
the scheme
in the year
£000’s

Transfer value
increase after
deducting
Executive
contributions
£000’s

29
18
12

26
16
12

910
498
174

154
95
39

3,112
1,782
453

2,170
1,268
261

32
16
18

363
209
90

The transfer values disclosed above are calculated in a manner consistent with ‘Retirement Benefit Schemes – Transfer Values (GN11)’ published
by the Institute of Actuaries and the Faculty of Actuaries. They do not represent a sum paid or payable to the individual Director, but instead represent
a potential liability of the pension scheme.
Members of the above scheme have the option to pay Additional Voluntary Contributions; neither such contributions nor the resulting benefits are included
in the above table.
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Audited information continued
Directors’ share options
Mr. Blackburn, Mr. Borlenghi, Mr. Haxby and Mr. Tench, as Non-Executive Directors, did not hold or have granted any share options during the year.
The share options for the other Directors who held office at any time during the year are set out below:
Number of shares

Market price at date of:

At
1 January
2005

Granted

Exercised

610.0p

–

2,626

–

–

Long Term
Incentive Plan
D. Williams
– 17/04/2001
– 19/04/2002
– 11/04/2003
– 11/05/2004
– 19/04/2005

251.0p
321.0p
205.5p
359.25p
610.0p

13,944
26,168
62,408
70,809
–

–
–
–
–
48,770

–
–
–
–
–

M. J. Chivers
– 11/04/2000
– 17/04/2001
– 19/04/2002
– 11/04/2003
– 11/05/2004
– 19/04/2005

232.5p
251.0p
321.0p
205.5p
359.25p
610.0p

2,765
5,129
7,788
18,248
25,289
–

–
–
–
–
–
17,622

G. W. Davies
– 01/10/2002
– 11/04/2003
– 11/05/2004
– 19/04/2005

178.0p
205.5p
359.25p
610.0p

15,168
18,248
28,901
–

1997 Executive
Share Option Scheme
G. W. Davies
– 30/05/1997
309.5p
– 19/04/2002
321.0p
Savings Related
Schemes
M. J. Chivers
– 10/05/2004
G. W. Davies
– 07/05/2003

Date on which
scheme interest
was awarded

Deferred Annual
Bonus Scheme
D. Williams
– 19/04/2005

Exercise
price
per 10p
share

Vesting

2,626

Nil

–

–
–
–
–
–

13,944
26,168
62,408
70,809
48,770

10.0p
10.0p
10.0p
10.0p
Nil

590.0p
601.0p
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

17/04/2004
19/04/2005
11/04/2006
11/05/2007
19/04/2008

16/04/2008
18/04/2009
10/04/2010
10/05/2011
18/04/2012

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

2,765
5,129
7,788
18,248
25,289
17,622

10.0p
10.0p
10.0p
10.0p
10.0p
Nil

207.0p
590.0p
601.0p
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

11/04/2003
17/04/2004
19/04/2005
11/04/2006
11/05/2007
19/04/2008

10/04/2007
16/04/2008
18/04/2009
10/04/2010
10/05/2011
18/04/2012

–
–
–
19,262

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

15,168
18,248
28,901
19,262

10.0p
10.0p
10.0p
Nil

730.5p
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

01/10/2005
11/04/2006
11/05/2007
19/04/2008

30/09/2009
10/04/2010
10/05/2011
18/04/2012

5,000
6,000

–
–

(5,000)
–

–
–

Nil
6,000

309.5p
321.0p

227.5p
601.0p

611.5p 30/05/2000 29/05/2007
– 19/04/2005 18/04/2012

360.0p

5,450

–

–

–

5,450

300.0p

–

– 01/07/2009 31/12/2009

205.5p

9,954

–

–

–

9,954

165.0p

–

– 01/07/2008 31/12/2008

321,269

88,280

(5,000)

–

404,549

At
31 December
Lapsed
2005

Exercise

Date
exercised*

Date on
which option
expires

– 19/04/2008 18/04/2015

* or date from which option may be exercised
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued
including the statement of remuneration policy for the year ended 31 December 2005

Audited information continued
Directors’ share options continued
The aggregate of the total theoretical gains on options exercised by the Directors during 2005 amounted to £15,100 (2004; £169,570). This is calculated by
reference to the difference between the closing mid-market price of the shares on the date of exercise and the exercise price of the options, disregarding
whether such shares were sold or retained on exercise and is stated before tax.
No price has been paid for any awards of share options which were unexpired at any time in the financial year.
The market price of the shares at 31 December 2005 was 730p and the range during 2005 was 542p to 734p.
A resolution to approve this report will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.
The Board of SIG plc has approved this Remuneration Report.
On behalf of the Board

Peter Blackburn
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
8 March 2006
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Report of the Audit Committee

This report has been prepared by the Audit Committee (“the Committee”) on behalf of the Board in accordance with the requirements of paragraph
C.3.3 of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance and paragraphs 5.1 and 5.2 of the guidance on Audit Committees produced by Sir Robert Smith.
The report gives details of the work of the Committee in discharging its responsibilities.
Terms of reference
The Committee operates under Terms of Reference which can be found on the Company’s website and which are available on application to the
Company Secretary at the registered office. They are reviewed annually by the Committee and changes are recommended to the Board for approval.
The main duties of the Committee set out in its Terms of Reference are:
G

monitoring the integrity of the Company’s Accounts including its Annual Report and Accounts and Interim Announcement;

G

reviewing the consistency of accounting policies, including any changes;

G

keeping under review the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control and risk management systems;

G

reviewing the Company’s arrangements for its employees to raise concerns, in confidence, about possible wrongdoing in financial reporting
or other matters;

G

considering annually whether there should be an internal audit function and making recommendations to the Board accordingly;

G

considering and making recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the Company’s external
Auditors; and

G

overseeing the relationship with the external Auditors, including (but not limited to) approving their remuneration, assessing annually their independence
and objectivity, taking into account relevant professional and regulatory requirements and the relationship with the Auditors as a whole, including
the provision of any non-audit services.

The Committee has the power to engage outside advisers if it considers it to be necessary.

The Chairman of the Committee, Mr. D. A. Haxby is a Chartered Accountant (FCA) and is considered by the Board to have significant recent and relevant
financial experience. He was a Partner in Arthur Andersen for 18 years (1977–1995) holding senior management positions in the UK Practice from 1985
to 1995. Since then he has served as Audit Committee chairman of a number of UK listed companies. The other members of the Committee have a
wide range of business experience, which is evidenced by their biographical summaries on page 36. The Board makes appointments to the Committee.
The Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committee.
Meetings
The Committee is planned to meet four times a year. In 2005 it met five times and all Members of the Committee attended each meeting. The external
Auditors and the Finance Director attended all four of the scheduled meetings and have direct access to the Committee Chairman. The Chairman of the
Board and the other Executive Directors attend the meetings of the Committee at the invitation of the Committee Chairman. The external Auditors had
a confidential discussion with Members of the Committee without the Chairman of the Board and the Executive Directors being present on two occasions
in 2005.
Work of the Committee
The Committee discharged its obligations in respect of 2005 as follows:
G

Annual Report and Accounts and Interim Announcement – At its meetings in August 2005 and March 2006, the Committee reviewed the financial
reporting issues and judgements contained in the Company’s Interim Announcement and its Annual Report and Accounts respectively. At each of these
meetings the Committee received a report from the external Auditors setting out the accounting or judgemental issues which required its attention.
The Auditors’ reports were based on a full audit (Annual Report) and a high level review (Interim Announcement) respectively;

G

accounting policies – At its August 2005 meeting the Committee reviewed the IFRS accounting policies and principles reflected in the Company’s Interim
Announcement and in its document “Adoption of IFRS – Preliminary Restatement of 2004 Financial Information”;

G

internal controls and risk management – In November 2005 and March 2006, the Committee considered detailed reports from the Finance Director on
the operation of, and issues arising from, the Group’s internal control procedures, together with observations from the external Auditors. It also monitored
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management process, which considers the key risks, both financial and non-financial, facing the Group and the
effectiveness of the Group’s controls to manage and reduce the impact of those risks;

G

Group external Auditors – In June 2005 the Committee recommended to the Board, following a comprehensive review, that the Group should rationalise
its statutory audit arrangements by appointing Deloitte and Touche LLP to audit all Group companies. The Board approved this recommendation for 2005;
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Report of the Audit Committee continued

Work of the Committee continued
G
external Auditors’ work and relationship – The Committee reviewed the external Auditors’ proposed audit plan in November 2005; considered
its pre year end issues report in December 2005; reviewed the fees paid for audit services in November 2005 and for non-audit services
in November 2005 and March 2006; and assessed the external Auditors’ independence and objectivity in November 2005 and March 2006;
G

internal audit function – In November 2005 the Committee performed its annual review of the need for a Group internal audit function. As a result,
it recommended to the Board that the Group’s internal control and risk management systems would be further strengthened by the appointment
of an outsourced internal audit function. The Board accepted the Committee’s recommendation and an appointment will be made during the first
half of 2006; and

G

“Whistleblowing” policy – In March 2006 the Committee reviewed the “whistleblowing” policy under which employees may in confidence notify
the Company of any concerns, inter alia matters involving financial reporting. It also reviewed the procedures for investigating and resolving any such
concerns. A copy of the whistleblowing policy is available on the Company’s website.

Independence of Auditors
The Board is aware of the need to maintain an appropriate degree of independence and objectivity on the part of the Group external Auditors. Both
the Audit Committee and the external Auditors, Deloitte and Touche LLP, have safeguards in place to avoid the Auditors’ independence and objectivity
being compromised.
The Group policy with regard to the provision of audit and non-audit services by the external Auditors, which was operated during 2005, is based
on the principles that they should only undertake non-audit services where they are the most appropriate and cost-effective provider of the service,
and where the provision of non-audit services does not impair, or is not perceived to impair, the external Auditors’ independence and objectivity.
It categorises such services between:
G

Auditor permitted services – Those services which it is acceptable for the Auditors to provide and the provision of which can be engaged without referral
to the Committee (e.g. regulatory and other specialist financial reporting; accounting advisory services);

G

Auditor excluded services – Those engagements that the Committee and the Board do not consider appropriate for the Auditors to undertake
(e.g. selection, design or implementation of major financial systems; provision of internal audit services or risk management assessment and monitoring
services); and

G

Auditor authorised services – Those services for which the specific approval of the Committee is required before the Auditors are permitted to provide
the service (e.g. tax planning and structure advice; corporate finance and M&A activity).

The policy defines the types of services falling under each category and sets out the criteria to be met and the internal approvals required prior
to the commencement of any “Auditor Authorised Services”. The Committee regularly reviews an analysis of all services provided by the external Auditors.
The policy is reviewed annually by the Committee and is approved by the Board.
The disclosure of the non-audit fees payable to the external Auditors in 2005 is set out in Note 4 to the Accounts on pages 66 and 67.
The external Auditors report to the Committee each year on the actions they have taken to comply with professional and regulatory requirements
and best practice designed to ensure their independence, including the rotation of key members of the external audit team. Deloitte and Touche LLP
have formally confirmed their independence to the Board in respect of the period covered by these financial statements. Having reviewed and expressed
satisfaction with the level of fees, independence, objectivity, expertise, resources and general effectiveness of Deloitte and Touche LLP, the Committee
recommends (and the Board agrees) that a resolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte and Touche LLP as Auditors of the Company will be proposed
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
On behalf of the Board

David Haxby
Chairman of the Audit Committee
8 March 2006
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Group Accounts
(prepared in accordance with IFRS)

Accounts
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2005

Continuing operations

Note

Revenue
Existing operations
Acquisitions

Before
amortisation
Amortisation
of acquired
of acquired
intangibles,
intangibles,
goodwill
goodwill
impairment
impairment
and hedge
and hedge
ineffectiveness* ineffectiveness*
2005
2005
£000’s
£000’s

Total
2005
£000’s

Before
amortisation
of acquired
intangibles,
goodwill
impairment
and hedge
ineffectiveness*
2004
£000’s

Amortisation
of acquired
intangibles,
goodwill
impairment
and hedge
ineffectiveness*
2004
£000’s

Total
2004
£000’s

1,581,142
58,190

–
–

1,581,142
58,190

1,369,093
29,144

–
–

1,369,093
29,144

Continuing operations
Cost of sales

1
2

1,639,332
1,196,328

–
–

1,639,332
1,196,328

1,398,237
1,037,052

–
–

1,398,237
1,037,052

Gross profit
Other operating expenses

2

443,004
340,901

–
9,342

443,004
350,243

361,185
284,165

–
634

361,185
284,799

96,356
5,747

(9,342)
–

87,014
5,747

75,139
1,881

(634)
–

74,505
1,881

Operating profit
Existing operations
Acquisitions
Continuing operations
Finance income
Finance costs

3
3

102,103
(6,691)
14,521

(9,342)
(1,880)
–

92,761
(8,571)
14,521

77,020
(5,045)
11,202

(634)
–
–

76,386
(5,045)
11,202

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

4
6

94,273
29,211

(7,462)
(542)

86,811
28,669

70,863
21,615

(634)
(190)

70,229
21,425

Profit after tax

65,062

(6,920)

58,142

49,248

(444)

48,804

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Minority interests

64,106
956

(6,920)
–

57,186
956

48,676
572

(444)
–

48,232
572

52.7p
51.9p

(5.7p)
(5.6p)

47.0p
46.3p

40.3p
39.7p

(0.4p)
(0.4p)

39.9p
39.3p

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

8
8

The accompanying Statement of Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the Accounts are an integral part of this Consolidated Income Statement.
* Amortisation of acquired intangibles, goodwill impairment and hedge ineffectiveness have been disclosed separately in order to give an indication of the
underlying earnings of the Group. Further information is provided within the Statement of Significant Accounting Policies on pages 58 to 62.
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Consolidated Statement of Recognised
Income and Expense
for the year ended 31 December 2005

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

58,142
(725)
(1,669)
1,111
(639)
596
(1,885)
563
(6,625)
3,869

48,804
149
(619)
(1,676)
1,786
1,824
(8,741)
2,537
–
–

Total recognised income and expense for the year

52,738

44,064

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Minority interests

51,782
956

43,492
572

52,738

44,064

Note

Profit after tax
Exchange difference on retranslation of foreign currency goodwill and intangibles
Exchange difference on retranslation of foreign currency net investments (excluding goodwill and intangibles)
Exchange difference on foreign currency borrowings
Tax (debit)/credit on exchange difference arising on foreign currency borrowings
Deferred tax on share options
Actuarial loss on defined benefit pension schemes
Deferred tax movement associated with actuarial loss
Transitional adjustment to adopt IAS 32 and IAS 39 at 1 January 2005 (Note 28)
Recognition of deferred tax assets on certain transitional adjustments at 1 January 2005 (Note 28)

23
23
23
23
23
27
27
28
28

The accompanying Statement of Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the Accounts are an integral part of this Consolidated Statement of Recognised
Income and Expense.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2005

Note

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

10
11
12
20

102,093
164,675
49,252
21,085

74,481
113,467
14,714
21,455

337,105

224,117

128,101
281,053
21,745
32,120

113,636
243,766
19,996
19,467

463,019

396,865

800,124

620,982

224,859
756
3,211
95,148
2,253
25,483
2,252

189,233
1,391
2,966
10,245
–
13,995
1,735

353,962

219,565

838
521
28,376
75,740
7,507
2,159
26,987
13,695

564
1,345
–
101,274
6,615
3,955
25,035
8,714

155,823

147,502

Total liabilities

509,785

367,067

Net assets

290,339

253,915

12,189
17,883
347
22,113
1,375
(2,282)
237,515

12,139
16,793
347
22,113
639
(360)
201,672

289,140

253,343

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

14
15
15

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase agreements
Bank overdrafts
Bank loans
Loan notes
Current tax liabilities
Provisions

16
16
16
16
16
16
16

Non-current liabilities
Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase agreements
Bank loans
Derivative financial instruments
Loan notes
Deferred tax liabilities
Other payables
Retirement benefit obligations
Provisions

17
17
17
17
17
17
17
17

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Capital redemption reserve
Special reserve
Share option reserve
Hedging and translation reserve
Retained profits

22
23
23
23
23
23
23

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Minority interests

23

1,199

572

Total equity

23

290,339

253,915

The Accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 8 March 2006 and signed on its behalf by:

David Williams

Gareth Davies

Director

Director

The accompanying Statement of Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the Accounts are an integral part of this Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2005

Note

Net cash flow from operating activities
Cash inflow from operating activities
Borrowing costs paid
Interest received
Income tax paid

24

Net cash inflow from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of businesses
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital
Capital element of finance lease rental payments
Repayment of loans
New loans
Dividends paid to equity holders of the Company
Payments to minority shareholder
Net cash generated/(used) in financing activities

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

113,581
(11,511)
3,518
(21,850)

77,422
(8,472)
2,319
(15,049)

83,738

56,220

(34,547)
2,098
(83,482)

(22,627)
1,549
(35,740)

(115,931)

(56,818)

1,140
(335)
(22,020)
84,511
(17,861)
(572)

1,938
(3,317)
(17,172)
–
(15,587)
(447)

44,863

(34,585)

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the year

25

12,670

(35,183)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

26

16,501
(262)

51,356
328

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

26

28,909

16,501

The accompanying Statement of Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the Accounts are an integral part of this Consolidated Cash Flow Statement.
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Statement of Significant Accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies adopted in SIG’s Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2005 are set out below.

Basis of preparation
The Accounts have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued for use in the European Union for the first
time in the year ended 31 December 2005 with comparatives at 31 December 2004 being restated.
The Accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for derivative financial instruments that are stated at their fair value.
IFRS 1 permits those companies adopting IFRS for the first time to take certain exemptions from the full requirements of IFRS in the transition period.
SIG has taken advantage of the following exemptions:
a) IFRS 3 “Business combinations” – SIG has elected not to apply IFRS 3 retrospectively to acquisitions that took place before 1 January 2004.
b) IFRS 2 “Share-based payments” – SIG has elected to apply IFRS 2 only to those share-based payment options that were granted after 7 November 2002
and remained unvested at 1 January 2005.
c) IAS 21 “The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates” – SIG has elected to reset the hedging and translation reserve to zero at 1 January 2004.
d) IAS 32 “Financial instruments: Disclosure and presentation” and IAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement” – SIG has elected
to apply UK GAAP to its comparative Accounts (i.e. 1 January 2004 to 31 December 2004) and implement IAS 32 and IAS 39 at 1 January 2005.
On 1 January 2005, in accordance with IAS 32 and IAS 39, all derivative financial instruments were recorded at their fair value. The difference between
the fair value and book value of all derivative financial instruments at 1 January 2005 has been recorded in 2005 through the Consolidated Statement
of Recognised Income and Expense.
There are a number of standards issued but not yet effective which the Group has not applied in these Accounts. These include IFRS 7 “Financial
instruments: Disclosures”. As this standard relates solely to disclosure, the adoption of this standard would have no impact on the Accounts of the Group
except for additional disclosure requirements on capital and derivative financial instruments.

Basis of consolidation
The Consolidated Accounts incorporate the Accounts of the Company and each of its subsidiary undertakings after eliminating all significant inter-company
transactions and balances. The results of subsidiary undertakings acquired or sold are consolidated for the periods from or to the date on which
control passed.
Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately therein. Minority interests consist of the amount of those interests
at the date of the original business combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the
minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interest of SIG except to the extent that the minority has
a binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.

Consolidated Income Statement disclosure
In order to give an indication of the underlying earnings of the Group, certain items are presented separately on the face of the Consolidated Income Statement.
These include:
G

amortisation of acquired intangibles;

G

goodwill impairment losses; and

G

hedge ineffectiveness.

In 2005, hedge ineffectiveness has arisen in relation to the Group’s hedge of its net investment in foreign operations. Further information is provided
in the accounting policy note “hedge of net investment in foreign operations” and in Note 18 on pages 82 to 84 and also in the Business Review on page 22.
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Goodwill and business combinations
All business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method.
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over SIG’s interest in the fair value of identifiable assets (including
intangible assets) and liabilities of the businesses acquired.
Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment, or more frequently when
there is an indication that goodwill may be impaired. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of SIG’s cash-generating units (“CGU”)
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. If the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of remaining goodwill relating to the entity disposed of is included in the determination of any profit or
loss on disposal.
Under the transitional arrangements of IFRS 1, SIG has taken the option to apply IFRS 3 to business combinations from the transition date only
(1 January 2004), and therefore, has not restated previous acquisitions prior to this date. Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition
to IFRS has been retained at the previous UK GAAP amounts subject to being tested for impairment at that date. Goodwill written off to reserves under
UK GAAP prior to 1 January 1998 has not been reinstated and is not included in determining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal.
Goodwill recorded in foreign currency is retranslated at each period end. Any movements in the carrying value of goodwill as a result of foreign exchange
rate movements are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense.
Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Intangibles
SIG recognises intangible assets at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. SIG recognises two types of intangible assets: acquired
and purchased. Acquired intangible assets arise as a result of applying IFRS 3 which requires the separate recognition of intangible assets from goodwill
on all business combinations from 1 January 2004. Purchased intangible assets relate primarily to software that is separable from any associated hardware.
Intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their useful economic lives as follows:

Customer relationships
Brands
Non compete contracts
Specific customer contracts
Order-books
Software

Amortisation period

Weighted average
period of amortisation

Life of the relationship
Indefinite
Life of the contract
Life of the contract
Life of the order-book
Useful life of software

7.5 years
N/A
3 years
1 year
6 months
N/A (see Note 12)

An indefinite useful life has been determined for brands on the basis that the brand is expected to be maintained indefinitely and is expected to continue to
drive value for the Group. Brands will be reviewed for impairment on at least an annual basis.

Revenue recognition
Revenue represents amounts receivable for goods net of allowances and value added tax.
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods have been received by the customer and title has passed.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement in the period in which they are incurred.
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Statement of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Pension costs
SIG operates six defined benefit pension schemes.
The Group’s net obligation in respect of these defined benefit pension schemes is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit
that employees have earned in return for their service in both current and prior periods. That benefit is discounted using an appropriate discount rate to
determine its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted.
Where the benefits of the plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by employees is recognised as an expense in
the Consolidated Income Statement, on a straight line basis, over the average period until the benefits become vested. To the extent that the benefits vest
immediately, the expense is recognised immediately.
The full service cost of the pension schemes is charged to operating profit. The finance cost of liabilities and expected return on assets are included within
finance charges and finance income respectively in the Consolidated Income Statement and shown separately in Note 3.
The actuarial gain/loss arising is charged through the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense and is made up of the difference between
the expected return on assets and those actually achieved, the difference between the actuarial assumptions for liabilities and actual experience in the period
and any changes in the assumptions used in the valuations.
The pension scheme deficit is recognised in full and presented on the face of the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The associated deferred tax asset
is recognised within non-current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
For defined contribution schemes the amount charged to the Consolidated Income Statement in respect of pension costs and other post-retirement benefits
is the contributions payable in the year. Differences between contributions payable in the year and contributions actually paid are included within either
accruals or prepayments in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Share-based payment transactions
In accordance with the transitional provisions, IFRS 2 has been applied to all share options granted after 7 November 2002 that remained unvested
as of 1 January 2005. IFRS 2 has also been applied to all share options granted in 2005.
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments only (share options). Share options are measured at fair value at the date of grant based on the Group’s
estimate of shares that will eventually vest. The fair value determined is then expensed in the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value of the options is measured by use of the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest except where forfeiture is only due to share prices
not achieving the threshold for vesting.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes
of the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement.

Trade receivables and trade payables
Trade receivables and trade payables are measured initially at fair value and then subsequently at amortised cost.
With regard to trade receivables, when there is objective evidence of impairment appropriate allowances are made for estimated irrecoverable amounts
based upon expected future cash flows discounted by an appropriate interest rate where applicable.
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Foreign currency
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in the local currency at actual exchange rates at the date of the transaction or where
appropriate at the rate of exchange in a related forward exchange contract.
At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are reported at the rates of exchange prevailing at that date
or where appropriate at the rate of exchange in a related forward exchange contract.
Any gain or loss arising from a change in exchange rates subsequent to the date of the transaction is included as an exchange gain or loss in the
Consolidated Income Statement.
For the purpose of consolidation, income statements of overseas subsidiary undertakings are translated at the average rate and their balance sheets at the
rates ruling at the balance sheet date.
Exchange differences arising on translation of the opening net assets and results of overseas operations and on foreign currency borrowings, to the extent that
they hedge the Group’s investment in such operations, are reported in the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign currency exchange risks arising from operational and financial activities.
In accordance with its Treasury Policy, the Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. However derivative financial
instruments, or part thereof, that do not qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading instruments.
Derivative financial instruments are recognised immediately at cost. Subsequent to their initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are then stated
at their fair value. Unless hedge accounting is achieved, the gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately as hedge ineffectiveness
and is disclosed separately on the face of the Consolidated Income Statement.
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, exercised or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting.
At that time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity is retained in equity until the forecasted transaction occurs.
If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is transferred to the Consolidated Income
Statement for the period.

Cash flow hedges
When a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable forecasted
transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in the Consolidated Statement of Recognised
Income and Expense (i.e. equity). When the forecasted transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability,
the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability.
If a hedge of a forecasted transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or financial liability, then the associated gains or losses that
were previously recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense (equity) are reclassified into the Consolidated Income
Statement in the same period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects the Consolidated Income Statement.
For cash flow hedges, the ineffective portion of any gain or loss is recognised immediately as hedge ineffectiveness and is disclosed separately on the face
of the Consolidated Income Statement.

Hedge of net investment in foreign operations
The portion of any gain or loss on an instrument used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation that is determined to be an effective hedge
is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense (equity). The ineffective portion of any gain or loss is recognised
immediately as hedge ineffectiveness and is disclosed separately on the face of the Consolidated Income Statement.

Fair value hedges
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Statement of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Taxation
Income tax on the profit or loss for the periods presented comprises both current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the Consolidated Income
Statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of
Recognised Income and Expense.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
In accordance with IAS 12, the following temporary differences are not provided for:
a) goodwill not deductible for taxation purposes;
b) the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit; and
c) differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future.
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is shown at original cost to the Group less accumulated depreciation and any provision for impairment.
Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost less estimated residual value of property, plant and equipment on a straight line basis over
their estimated useful lives as follows:
Freehold buildings
Leasehold buildings
Plant and machinery

– 50 years
– period of lease
– 3 to 8 years

Residual values, which are based on market rates, are reassessed annually.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (including an appropriate proportion of attributable overheads, supplier rebates and discounts) and net
realisable value.
Net realisable value is based on estimated normal selling price, less further costs expected to be incurred to completion and disposal. Provision is made
for obsolete, slow moving, or defective items where appropriate.

Leases and hire purchase agreements
The cost of assets held under finance leases and hire purchase agreements is capitalised with an equivalent liability categorised as appropriate under current
liabilities or non-current liabilities. The asset is depreciated over its useful life.
Rentals under finance leases and hire purchase agreements are apportioned between finance costs and reduction of the liability. The finance costs are
charged in arriving at the profit before tax.
Rentals under operating leases are charged to the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight line basis over the lease term.
Lease incentives are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Property provisions
The Group makes provisions in respect of onerous leasehold property contracts and leasehold dilapidation commitments where it is probable that a transfer
of economic benefits will be required to settle a present obligation.
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Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources
of Estimation Uncertainty

Impairment of non-current assets
Determining whether a non-current asset is impaired requires an estimation of the “value in use” and/or the “fair value less costs to sell” of the CGU to which
the non-current asset has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires an estimate of the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. The key assumptions for these value in use calculations are those regarding discount rates,
growth rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs. The Directors estimate discount rates using post tax rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the individual CGU.
Cash flow forecasts are prepared using the following year’s operating budget approved by the Directors and an appropriate extrapolation of cash flows
for the next five years. After five years, the cash flow forecast assumes no change in annual cash flows.
The carrying amount of non-current assets at 31 December 2005 was £337.105m after a goodwill impairment loss of £5.654m was recognised during
2005. Details of the goodwill impairment loss are provided in Note 11.

Post-employment benefits
The Group operates six defined benefit pension schemes. All post-employment benefits associated with these schemes have been accounted for
in accordance with IAS 19 “Employee benefits”. As detailed within the Statement of Significant Accounting Polices on page 60, in accordance with IAS 19,
all actuarial gains and losses have been recognised immediately through the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense.
For all defined benefit pension schemes, pension valuations have been performed using specialist advice obtained from independent qualified actuaries.
In performing these valuations, judgements, assumptions and estimates have been made. These assumptions have been disclosed within Note 27 on
pages 90 to 95.

Taxation
Accruals for corporation tax contingencies require the Directors to make judgements and estimates as to the level of corporation tax that will be payable
based upon the interpretation of applicable tax legislation on a country by country basis and an assessment of the likely outcome of any open tax
computations. All such accruals are included within current liabilities.
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.
Therefore, judgements are required to establish whether deferred tax balances should be recognised.

Share-based payments
The Company provides share-based payments under five separate schemes.
In accordance with IFRS 2, share options are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value determined is then expensed in the Consolidated
Income Statement on a straight line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value of the options is measured
by use of the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
The valuation of these share-based payments requires several judgements to be made in respect of the number of options that are expected to be exercised.
Details of the assumptions made in respect of each of the five share-based payment schemes are disclosed in Note 9 on pages 70 to 73.

Provisions
Using information available at the balance sheet date, the Directors make judgements based on experience on the level of provision required to satisfy all
onerous lease and dilapidation commitments, to account for potential uncollectible receivables, and to account for the potential for unsaleable inventories.
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Notes to the Accounts

1 Revenue and segmental information
Revenue
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

1,639,332

1,398,237

Continuing operations
Sale of goods

Geographical and business segments
The Group is managed and organised in three geographies: UK & Ireland, Mainland Europe and the USA. These geographies are the basis on which
the Group reports its primary segment information.
Segment information about these geographies is presented below:
2005
UK &
Ireland
£000’s

2005
Mainland
Europe
£000’s

External sales
Inter-segment sales*

1,098,055
–

473,393
2

Total revenue

1,098,055

2005

2005

2005

2004
Mainland
Europe
£000’s

2004

2004

2004

Total
£000’s

2004
UK &
Ireland
£000’s

USA Eliminations
£000’s
£000’s

USA
£000’s

Eliminations
£000’s

Total
£000’s

67,884
50

– 1,639,332
(52)
–

907,054
3

433,595
48

57,588
57

– 1,398,237
(108)
–

473,395

67,934

(52) 1,639,332

907,057

433,643

57,645

(108) 1,398,237

19,612

3,008

–

63,823

15,456

1,681

–

80,960

–
–

–
–

(3,688)
(5,654)

(619)
–

(15)
–

–
–

–
–

(634)
–

3,008

–

97,637
(4,876)

63,204

15,441

1,681

–

80,326
(3,940)

Revenue

Result

Segment result
before amortisation
of acquired intangibles
and goodwill
impairment loss
Amortisation of
acquired intangibles
Goodwill impairment loss
Segment result
Parent Company costs

84,359
(3,630)
(5,654)
75,075

(58)
–
19,554

Operating profit
Net finance costs
Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Minority interests
Retained profit
* Inter-segment sales are charged at the prevailing market rate.
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106,979

92,761
(5,950)

76,386
(6,157)

86,811
(28,669)
(956)

70,229
(21,425)
(572)

57,186

48,232

_02_0SIG_2005ARB.qxd

30/03/2006

11:59

Page 65

1 Revenue and segmental information continued
Geographical and business segments continued
2005
UK &
Ireland
£000’s

2005
Mainland
Europe
£000’s

587,710

179,100

2005

2005

2005

USA Eliminations
£000’s
£000’s

Total
£000’s

2004
UK &
Ireland
£000’s

2004
Mainland
Europe
£000’s

2004

2004

2004

USA
£000’s

Eliminations
£000’s

Total
£000’s

422,705

168,095

24,826

–

615,626
5,356

Balance sheet

Assets
Segment assets
Unallocated assets

31,535

–

Consolidated total assets
Liabilities
Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

798,345
1,779
800,124

238,255

54,200

6,327

–

Consolidated total liabilities

298,782
211,003

620,982
190,587

57,332

4,350

–

509,785
2005
UK &
Ireland
£000’s

2005
Mainland
Europe
£000’s

2005

25,773
37,543
56,107

8,448
689
1,474

326
–
–

16,537

4,781

3,630
5,654

58
–

252,269
114,798
367,067

2005

2005

2004
Mainland
Europe
£000’s

2004

2004

Total
£000’s

2004
UK &
Ireland
£000’s

2004

USA Eliminations
£000’s
£000’s

USA
£000’s

Eliminations
£000’s

Total
£000’s

–
–
–

34,547
38,232
57,581

16,526
15,138
29,543

5,672
210
801

429
–
–

–
–
–

22,627
15,348
30,344

501

–

21,819

12,295

4,899

626

–

17,820

–
–

–
–

3,688
5,654

619
–

15
–

–
–

–
–

634
–

Other segment information

Capital expenditure on:
– Property, plant and
equipment
– Intangible assets
– Goodwill
Non-cash expenditure:
– Depreciation
– Amortisation of acquired
intangibles
– Goodwill impairment loss

Business segments
Business segments are the basis in which the Group presents its secondary segment information.
The Group operates in four different segments of the market – Insulation, Roofing, Commercial Interiors and Specialist Construction and Safety
Products (“SC&SP”).
The following table provides an analysis of Group sales, assets and capital expenditure by business segment:
2005
Insulation
£000’s

2005

2005
Commercial
Roofing
Interiors
£000’s
£000’s

2005

2005

2004

2004

SC&SP
£000’s

Total
£000’s

Insulation
£000’s

Roofing
£000’s

2004
Commercial
Interiors
£000’s

2004

2004

SC&SP
£000’s

Total
£000’s

Revenue

External sales

786,879

327,866

434,423

90,164 1,639,332

694,924

285,240

345,365

72,708 1,398,237

282,108

272,097

177,328

66,812

274,230

135,958

168,097

37,341

Assets

Segment assets
Unallocated assets

800,124

615,626
5,356
620,982

Other segment information

Capital expenditure on:
– Property, plant
and equipment
– Intangible assets
– Goodwill

12,822
1,343
1,307

8,769
9,013
35,965

10,434
20,354
13,703

2,522
7,522
6,606

34,547
38,232
57,581

8,800
7,570
17,122

5,707
2,803
7,939

6,511
105
401

1,609
4,870
4,882

22,627
15,348
30,344
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Notes to the Accounts continued

2 Cost of sales and other operating expenses

Cost of sales
Operating expenses:
– Distribution costs
– Selling and marketing costs
– Administrative expenses

2005
Existing
operations
£000’s

2005

2005

2004

2004

Total
£000’s

2004
Existing
operations
£000’s

Acquisitions
£000’s

Acquisitions
£000’s

Total
£000’s

1,158,466

37,862

1,196,328

1,015,945

21,107

1,037,052

136,666
107,113
91,883

5,936
4,653
3,992

142,602
111,766
95,875

113,132
92,621
72,890

2,852
2,149
1,155

115,984
94,770
74,045

335,662

14,581

350,243

278,643

6,156

284,799

The administrative expenses above include £3.688m (2004: £0.634m) in respect of amortisation of acquired intangibles and £5.654m (2004: £nil) in respect
of a goodwill impairment loss.

3 Finance income and finance costs
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Finance income
Interest on bank deposits
Finance income on pension scheme assets

3,518
3,173

2,319
2,726

Finance income before hedge ineffectiveness
Fair value gains on derivative financial instruments transferred from equity (hedge ineffectiveness)

6,691
1,880

5,045
–

Total finance income

8,571

5,045

Finance costs
On bank loans, overdrafts and other items
On US Senior loan notes
Interest on obligations under finance leases and hire purchase agreements
Finance charge on pension scheme liabilities

4,080
6,311
104
4,026

1,607
6,224
171
3,200

Total finance costs

14,521

11,202

Net finance costs

5,950

6,157

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

195
1,880
562
572

83
–
–
279

1,148,862

999,290

20,934
885
3,688
5,654

16,223
1,597
634
–

27,628
4,415

23,259
3,816

703
40
456
–
1,201
63
212,775

596
40
589
3,479
1,982
280
175,438

4 Profit before tax

Profit before tax is stated after crediting:
Foreign exchange rate gains*
Fair value gains on derivative financial instruments transferred from equity (hedge ineffectiveness)**
Decrease in provision for inventories
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
And after charging:
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
– owned
– held under finance leases and hire purchase agreements
Amortisation of acquired intangibles included in operating expenses
Goodwill impairment loss
Operating lease rentals
– land and buildings
– plant and machinery
Auditors’ remuneration for audit services
– Group (excluding Company)
– Company
Non-audit fees
Increase in provision for inventories
Increase in provision for receivables
Foreign exchange rate losses*
Staff costs (Note 5)
* Excludes gains and losses incurred as a result of adopting IAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement”.
** A detailed explanation of hedge ineffectiveness is provided on page 22 of the Business Review.
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4 Profit before tax continued
A more detailed analysis of Auditors’ remuneration on a worldwide basis is provided below:
2005

2004

Deloitte and
Touche LLP
£000’s

Other
audit firms
£000’s

Total
£000’s

Deloitte and
Touche LLP
£000’s

Other
audit firms
£000’s

Total
£000’s

677
62

4
–

681
62

382
31

223
–

605
31

739

4

743

413

223

636

100
209

20
67

120
276

56
196

106
170

162
366

309

87

396

252

276

528

60

–

60

40

21

61

1,108

91

1,199

705

520

1,225

Audit services
– statutory audit
– IFRS implementation

Tax services
– compliance services
– advisory services

Other services
Total

Deloitte and Touche LLP were appointed sole Group Auditors in 2005 with the exception of France, where for the year ended 31 December 2005
the audit was performed jointly by Deloitte and Touche LLP and one other audit firm.
The report of the Audit Committee on pages 51 and 52 provides an explanation of how auditor objectivity and independence is safeguarded when non-audit
services are provided by the Auditors.

5 Staff costs
Particulars of employees (including Directors) are shown below:

Employee costs during the year amounted to:
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
IFRS 2 share option charge
Other pension costs (Note 27)

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

182,981
23,384
736
5,674

150,846
19,747
448
4,397

212,775

175,438

Of the pension costs noted above, £2.835m (2004: £1.876m) relates to defined benefit schemes and £2.839m (2004: £2.521m) relates to defined
contribution schemes.
The average monthly number of persons employed by the Group during the year was as follows:

Production
Distribution
Sales
Administration

2004
Number

1,366
2,611
2,658
1,189

1,085
2,318
2,439
1,029

7,824

6,871

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

1,690

1,354

Directors’ emoluments
Details of the individual Director’s emoluments are given in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 48.
The employee costs shown above include the following emoluments in respect of Directors of the Company:

Directors’ remuneration (excluding IFRS 2 share option charge)
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Notes to the Accounts continued

6 Income tax expense
The income tax expense comprises:
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

22,832
1,639

15,165
397

24,471
5,066
609

15,562
4,501
411

Total current tax

30,146

20,474

Deferred taxation
Current year
Adjustments in respect of previous years
Deferred tax charge in respect of pension schemes

1,598
(3,512)
437

3,677
(3,226)
500

Total deferred tax

(1,477)

951

Current tax
UK Corporation tax – on profits for the year
– adjustments in respect of previous years
Overseas taxation

– on profits for the year
– adjustments in respect of previous years

28,669

21,425

The total tax charge for the year is higher than that resulting from applying the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK: 30% (2004: 30%).
The differences are explained in the following reconciliation:
2005
£000’s

2005
%

2004
£000’s

2004
%

Profit before tax

86,811

70,229

Tax at 30% thereon:
Factors affecting the income tax expense for the year:
Permanent items
Losses not previously recognised in deferred tax
Adjustments in respect of previous years
Effect of overseas tax rates

26,043

30.0%

21,069

30.0%

2,885
(26)
(1,264)
1,031

3.3%
0.0%
(1.5%)
1.2%

1,138
156
(2,418)
1,480

1.6%
0.2%
(3.4%)
2.1%

Total income tax expense for the year

28,669

33.0%

21,425

30.5%

The Group’s total tax charge is currently 31.0% of profit before tax and goodwill impairment losses (non tax deductible) (2004: 30.5%). The following
factors that will affect the Group’s future total tax charge as a percentage of profits are:
G

the mix of profits between UK and overseas companies. With the exception of Ireland and Poland, all overseas trading companies attract a higher
corporation tax rate than that suffered in the UK of 30%. If the proportion of profits from overseas companies increases, this could result in a higher
Group tax charge; and

G

the adverse impact of permanent disallowables.

The Group has taken account of primarily all trading losses in its deferred tax balance. Although tax losses can be used to reduce cash payments of tax,
utilisation of such losses would result in a deferred tax charge in that year which would eliminate any profit and loss benefit.
In addition to the amounts charged to the Consolidated Income Statement, the following amounts have been credited/(charged) directly to equity
and are shown in the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense and Note 23:

Deferred tax in relation to actuarial pension scheme losses
Deferred tax on share options
Tax (debit)/credit on exchange difference arising on foreign currency borrowings
Deferred tax on certain transitional adjustments at 1 January 2005 (Note 28)
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£000’s

563
596
(639)
3,869

2,537
1,824
1,786
–

4,389

6,147
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7 Dividends
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders of the Company in the year:

Final approved dividend for the year ended 31 December 2004 of 9.4p per share (2003: 8.3p)
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2005 of 5.3p per share (2004: 4.6p)

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

11,412
6,449

9,983
5,604

17,861

15,587

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

14,017

11,412

Amounts proposed as distributions to equity holders of the Company after the year end:

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2005 of 11.5p per share (2004: 9.4p)

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and as such has not been included as a financial liability
in these Accounts.

8 Earnings per share
The calculations of earnings per share are based on the following profits and numbers of shares:

Basic and diluted

Basic and diluted
before amortisation
of acquired intangibles,
goodwill impairment
and hedge ineffectiveness

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

58,142
(956)
–
–
–
–

48,804
(572)
–
–
–
–

58,142
(956)
3,688
5,654
(1,880)
(542)

48,804
(572)
634
–
–
(190)

57,186

48,232

64,106

48,676

2005
Number

2004
Number

For basic earnings per share
Exercise of share options

121,625,474
1,970,146

120,863,011
1,747,068

For diluted earnings per share

123,595,620

122,610,079

2005

2004

Earnings per share
– Basic earnings per share
– Diluted earnings per share

47.0p
46.3p

39.9p
39.3p

Earnings per share before amortisation of acquired intangibles, goodwill impairment
and hedge ineffectiveness
– Basic earnings per share
– Diluted earnings per share

52.7p
51.9p

40.3p
39.7p

Profit after tax
Minority interests
Amortisation of acquired intangibles
Goodwill impairment loss
Hedge ineffectiveness
Tax relating to the amortisation of acquired intangibles and hedge ineffectiveness

Weighted average number of shares:
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Page 70

Notes to the Accounts continued

8 Earnings per share continued
Earnings per share before amortisation of acquired intangibles, goodwill impairment and hedge ineffectiveness is disclosed in order to present the underlying
performance of the Group. The following disclosures reconcile these adjustments to the disclosures made on the face of the Consolidated Income Statement:
a) Amortisation of acquired intangibles and goodwill impairment losses are included as part of operating expenses and are disclosed separately on the face
of the Consolidated Income Statement:
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Amortisation of acquired intangibles
Goodwill impairment loss

3,688
5,654

634
–

Operating expenses

9,342

634

b) Hedge ineffectiveness of £1.880m is included as part of finance income and is disclosed separately on the face of the Consolidated Income Statement.
No other items are included within this line of the Consolidated Income Statement.
c) Both the amortisation of acquired intangibles and hedge ineffectiveness give rise to tax at a rate of 30% (2004: 30%):
2005
£000’s

Amortisation of acquired intangibles
Hedge ineffectiveness

Income tax at 30%

2004
£000’s

3,688
(1,880)

634
–

1,808

634

542

190

9 Share-based payments
The Group had five share-based payment schemes in existence during the year ended 31 December 2005. The Group recognised a total charge
of £736,000 (2004: £448,000) in the year relating to equity-settled share-based payment transactions issued after 7 November 2002 with a corresponding
entry to the share option reserve. Details of each of the schemes are provided below:
a) Save As You Earn (“SAYE”) Scheme
The Company operates a SAYE scheme within the UK which is open to all UK employees and is linked to a monthly savings contract over three and
five-year periods. Options have been granted to scheme participants at 80% of the prevailing market price. The market price is taken approximately
one month prior to the official grant date. Similar arrangements have existed since 17 May 2002 in Ireland. There are no performance conditions attached
to the exercise of these options. These options may be exercised within a fixed six-month period three or five years from the date of grant.
No SAYE options have been granted in the UK in 2005. Instead, the Company introduced in the second half of 2005 a Share Investment Plan (“SIP”)
as approved at the 2004 Annual General Meeting (see below). SAYE options were granted in Ireland in 2005.
SAYE options (issued after 7 November 2002) – as at 31 December 2005

Options

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted during the year
Lapsed during the year
Exercised during the year
Outstanding at end of year

Weighted
average
exercise
price (p)

1,545,762
31,850
(109,291)
(10,841)

202.7
571.0
211.3
209.3

1,457,480

210.1

None of the above share options outstanding at the end of the year are exercisable at 31 December 2005.
The SAYE options outstanding at 31 December 2005 had a weighted average exercise price of 210.1p, and a weighted average remaining contractual life
of 0.8 years (the Directors have assumed all shares will vest at the earliest available date).
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9 Share-based payments continued
a) Save As You Earn (“SAYE”) Scheme continued
The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model are as follows:
SAYE

Share price (on date of official grant)
Exercise price
Expected volatility
Actual life
Risk free rate
Dividend
Expected percentage of options exercised versus granted
– 3 years
– 5 years

2003

2004

240.5p (7 May 2003)
165p
31.7%
3 and 5 years
4%
11.6p

346p (11 May 2004)
300p
30.9%
3 and 5 years
5%
12.4p

62%
62%

68%
65%

2005

656p (21 October 2005)
571p
29.8%
3 and 5 years
4%
14.0p
68%
65%

The expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price over the previous three years. The expected
percentage of total options exercised is based upon the Directors’ best estimate for effects of behavioural conditions.
b) Executive Share Option Schemes (“ESOS”)
Under the existing ESOS (for which the last options were granted in 2003), Executives can be awarded an annual grant of share options at market price,
provided that the total amount payable by the individual to exercise options under the ESOS or any other share option scheme of the Group (excluding
savings related schemes) granted during the immediately preceding ten years does not exceed four times base salary, bonus and benefits.
Share options under the ESOS are exercisable between three and ten years for the HM Revenue and Customs approved scheme and three and seven
years for the unapproved scheme from the date of grant. The award would vest in full if, over a consecutive three year period, the growth in the Group’s
earnings per share (“EPS”) is 6% higher than the percentage increase in the Retail Price Index. None of the award would vest if the growth in EPS is less
than 6% above the percentage increase in the Retail Price Index over the same period.
ESOS (issued after 7 November 2002) – as at 31 December 2005

Options

Weighted
average
exercise
price (p)

Outstanding at beginning of year
Lapsed during the year
Exercised during the year

212,500
(6,000)
(12,000)

205.5
205.5
205.5

Outstanding at end of year

194,500

205.5

None of the above share options outstanding at the end of the year are exercisable at 31 December 2005.
No ESOS options were granted in 2004 or 2005. The options outstanding at 31 December 2005 had a weighted average exercise price of 205.5p,
and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.3 years (the Directors have assumed all shares will vest at the earliest available date).
The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model are as follows:
2003 ESOS

205.5p
205.5p
31.8%
3 years
4.2%
11.6p
95%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price over the previous three years. The expected percentage
of total options exercised is based upon the Directors’ best estimate for effects of behavioural conditions.
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9 Share-based payments continued
c) Long-Term Incentive Plan (“L-TIP”)
Under the existing L–TIP policy, Executives can be awarded an annual grant of nil paid share options up to a maximum value of 70% of base salary.
2003 L-TIP criteria
Awards under the 2003 L-TIP are exercisable between three and seven years from the date of grant. Provided the individual’s performance criteria are met
the award vests if, over a consecutive three year period, the growth in the Group’s EPS is 10% higher than the percentage increase in the Retail Price Index.
None of the award vests if the growth in EPS is less than 6% above the percentage increase in the Retail Price Index over the same period. Between these
two limits, the awards vest proportionately. The right to exercise options terminates upon the employee ceasing to hold office with the Group, subject to
certain exceptions and the discretion of the Board.
If the 6% minimum growth performance target is not met, the performance period is extended by one year and the minimum growth in the Group’s EPS, over
a consecutive four year period, is increased to 8% over the percentage increase in the Retail Price Index over the same period. The target for the full award to
vest is 13.33%.
2004 and 2005 L-TIP criteria
Awards under the 2004 and 2005 L-TIPs are exercisable between three and ten years from the date of grant. The award vests if the following criteria
are met:
Percentage of award vesting

Percentage growth in the Group’s earnings per share (“EPS”) over the three year period
from the commencement of the financial year in which the award is made exceeds
the percentage growth in the Retail Price Index over the same period by:
– Less than 3% per annum compounded
– 3% per annum compounded
– Between 3% and 10% per annum compounded
– 10% per annum compounded

None of the award vests
30% of the award vests
Award vests proportionately between 30% and 100%
100% of the award vests

No re-testing of the performance criteria will occur.
L-TIP options (issued after 7 November 2002) – as at 31 December 2005

Options

Weighted
average
exercise
price (p)

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted during the year

330,214
129,965

0.1
0.0

Outstanding at end of year

460,179

0.07

None of the above share options outstanding at the end of the year are exercisable at 31 December 2005.
The options outstanding at 31 December 2005 had a weighted average exercise price of 7p, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1.3 years
(the Directors have assumed all shares will vest at the earliest available date).
The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model are as follows:
L-TIP

2003

Share price (date of official grant)
Exercise price
Expected volatility
Actual life
Risk free rate
Dividend
Expected percentage of options exercised versus granted

207p (11 April 2003)
10p
31.8%
3 years
4.2%
11.6p
98%

2004

355p (11 May 2004)
10p
31.0%
3 years
5.0%
12.4p
93%

2005

601p (19 April 2005)
0p
29.8%
3 years
4.5%
14.0p
98%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price over the previous three years. The expected percentage
of total options exercised is based upon the Directors’ best estimate for effects of behavioural conditions.
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9 Share-based payments continued
d) Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme (“DABS”)
Options were granted under the DABS scheme for the first time in 2005. The DABS operates by inviting participants including Executive Directors
to use up to 50% of their annual performance related cash bonus (after income tax and national insurance) in respect of the preceding financial year to
purchase shares in the Company. Providing certain criteria are met, participants purchasing such shares will be eligible to receive nil cost matching shares
up to a maximum of one per share purchased by the participant. The criteria are as follows:
Percentage of award vesting

Percentage growth in the Group’s EPS over the three year period from
the commencement of the financial year in which the award is made exceeds
the percentage growth in the Retail Price Index over the same period by:
– Less than 3% per annum compounded
– 3% per annum compounded
– Between 3% and 5% per annum compounded
– 5% per annum compounded

None of the award vests
50% of the award vests
Award vests proportionately between 50% and 100%
100% of the award vests

DABS (issued after 7 November 2002) – as at 31 December 2005
Options

Granted and outstanding at end of year

16,036

None of the above share options outstanding at the end of the year are exercisable at 31 December 2005.
All DABS are nil paid options, and therefore, the options outstanding at 31 December 2005 had a weighted average exercise price of nilp, and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 2.3 years (the Directors have assumed all shares will vest at the earliest available date).
The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model are as follows:
2005 DABS

Share price – 19 April 2005 (official date of grant)
Exercise price of matching shares
Expected volatility
Actual life
Risk free rate
Dividend
Expected percentage of options exercised versus granted

601p
nilp
29.8%
3 years
4.5%
14p
100%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price over the previous three years. The expected percentage
of total options exercised is based upon the Directors’ best estimate for effects of behavioural conditions.
e) Share Incentive Plan (“SIP”)
Shares were granted under the SIP scheme for the first time in 2005. The SIP is a HM Revenue and Customs approved scheme and operates by inviting
participants including Executive Directors to purchase shares in the Company in a tax efficient manner on a monthly basis. For each share purchased by the
employee, the Company will match one free share up to a maximum of four free shares per month. No performance criteria is attached to these matching
shares other than to avoid forfeiture they must remain within the plan for a minimum of two years. In 2005, 7,845 matching shares were granted during the
year. Given the nature of the scheme, the fair value of the matching shares equates to the cost of the Company acquiring these shares.
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Notes to the Accounts continued

10 Property, plant and equipment
The movement in the year and the preceding year was as follows:
Land and buildings

Freehold
£000’s

Short
leasehold
£000’s

Plant and
machinery
£000’s

Total
£000’s

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2004
Exchange difference
Businesses acquired
Additions
Disposals

18,947
70
–
1,712
–

8,134
(2)
5
848
(689)

92,837
164
1,415
20,301
(9,339)

119,918
232
1,420
22,861
(10,028)

At 31 December 2004

20,729

8,296

105,378

134,403

Exchange difference
Businesses acquired
Additions
Disposals

(422)
11,711
441
(14)

(72)
868
3,354
(324)

(674)
4,581
30,752
(13,249)

(1,168)
17,160
34,547
(13,587)

At 31 December 2005

32,445

12,122

126,788

171,355

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2004
Charge for the year
Exchange difference
Eliminated on disposals

5,770
891
22
–

1,758
868
(17)
(637)

43,196
16,061
131
(8,121)

50,724
17,820
136
(8,758)

At 31 December 2004

6,683

1,972

51,267

59,922

Charge for the year
Exchange difference
Eliminated on disposals

1,707
(123)
(14)

1,135
(43)
(308)

18,977
(252)
(11,739)

21,819
(418)
(12,061)

At 31 December 2005

8,253

2,756

58,253

69,262

Net book value
At 31 December 2005

24,192

9,366

68,535

102,093

At 31 December 2004

14,046

6,324

54,111

74,481

The net book value of plant and machinery includes an amount of £1.542m (2004: £3.853m) in respect of assets held under finance leases and hire
purchase agreements.
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11 Goodwill
£000’s

Cost
At 1 January 2004
Exchange difference
Recognised on acquisition of businesses

97,785
168
30,344

At 31 December 2004

128,297

Exchange difference
Recognised on acquisition of businesses acquired in 2005 (Note 13)
Recognised on prior year acquisitions

(834)
56,881
700

At 31 December 2005

185,044

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2004
Exchange difference

14,811
19

At 31 December 2004

14,830

Exchange difference
Impairment loss in the year

(115)
5,654

At 31 December 2005

20,369

Net book value
At 31 December 2005

164,675

At 31 December 2004

113,467

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated at the date of acquisition to the cash-generating units (“CGU”) that are expected to benefit from
that business combination.
The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for these value in use calculations are those
regarding discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs. The Directors estimate discount rates using post tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the individual CGU.
The Group prepares cash flow forecasts using the following year’s operating budget approved by the Directors and an appropriate extrapolation of cash
flows for the next five years. After five years, the cash flow forecast assumes no change in annual cash flows.
At 31 December 2005, prior to impairment testing, goodwill of £5.654m was allocated to the Group’s Screenbase division which forms part of the UK’s
Commercial Interiors business. The Screenbase division is identified as a separate CGU.
Screenbase was acquired in October 2000 and produces freestanding and desk mounted office screens. Recently, the market for these products
has fundamentally changed and reduced in value, and therefore, the Group has revised its cash flow forecasts for this business. As a result, the goodwill
attributable to this business has been written down by £5.654m, i.e. to nil net book value. The impairment loss of £5.654m is shown separately on the face
of the Consolidated Income Statement under operating expenses, together with the amortisation of acquired intangibles.
The discount rate used in the impairment review of Screenbase was 8% which represents its post tax weighted average cost of capital, the basis of which
has also been used in prior impairment reviews. The growth rate assumed in the impairment review for years two to six was 3%.
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_02_0SIG_2005ARB.qxd

30/03/2006

11:59

Page 76

Notes to the Accounts continued

12 Intangible assets
The intangible assets presented below relate entirely to acquired intangibles. These arise as a result of applying IFRS 3 which requires the separate recognition
of acquired intangibles from goodwill. As detailed in the Statement of Significant Accounting Policies, SIG has elected not to apply IFRS 3 retrospectively
to acquisitions that took place before 1 January 2004. During 2004 and 2005, the Group owned purchased intangible assets with an insignificant book
value (mainly software separable from any associated hardware) and these have not been reclassified from property, plant and equipment on the grounds
of materiality.

Brands
£’000

Non-compete
contracts
£’000

Specific
customer
contracts
£’000

Order-books
£’000

Total
£’000

–
14,749

–
–

–
599

–
–

–
–

–
15,348

At 31 December 2004

14,749

–

599

–

–

15,348

Exchange difference
Additions

(7)
24,513

–
12,646

–
923

–
14

–
136

(7)
38,232

At 31 December 2005

39,255

12,646

1,522

14

136

53,573

Amortisation
At 1 January 2004
Charge for the year

–
581

–
–

–
53

–
–

–
–

–
634

At 31 December 2004

581

–

53

–

–

634

Exchange difference
Charge for the year

(1)
3,223

–
–

–
322

–
7

–
136

(1)
3,688

At 31 December 2005

3,803

–

375

7

136

4,321

Net book value
At 31 December 2005

35,452

12,646

1,147

7

–

49,252

At 31 December 2004

14,168

–

546

–

–

14,714

Customer
relationships
£’000

Cost
At 1 January 2004
Additions

Amortisation of acquired intangibles is included in the Consolidated Income Statement as part of operating expenses and is shown as a separate component
of operating expenses together with goodwill impairment.
The weighted average amortisation period for each category of intangible asset is disclosed in the Statement of Significant Accounting Policies on page 59.
In the opinion of the Directors, the only intangible asset which has an indefinite useful life is the brand attributable to the acquisition of LS Group Limited.
The carrying value of the LS brand at the balance sheet date is £12.646m. An indefinite useful life has been determined for the LS brand on the basis that
it is expected to be maintained indefinitely and is expected to continue to drive value for the Group. The recoverable value of the brand is based upon value
in use calculations. Further information on value in use calculations is provided within Note 11. The Directors have used past experience in determining each
of the key assumptions in the value in use calculation for the LS brand. The growth rates assumed are in line with industry expectations and, for periods beyond
those covered by its management forecasts, do not exceed the long term average growth rate for the industry. The discount rate applied is 8%, equivalent
to its weighted average cost of capital.
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13 Acquisitions
During 2005 the Group acquired the following companies:

Acquisition name

% of
share capital
acquired

Southern Roofing Limited
Material Génie Climatique
Distribution Sàrl
Southwest Roofing Limited
Summers PVC Limited
Premier Fixings (UK) Limited
Handelmaatschappij Bracol
Nederland B.V.
Pre-pour Limited
LS Group Limited
Westway Insulations Limited
JP Fixings Limited
VJ Technology Limited
Universal Roofing Supplies Limited
Wedge Roofing Limited
Direct Roofing Limited
Fox GmbH
Specialised Fixings Limited
Max Wilson Fasteners Limited
Footits Roofing Supplies Limited
CH Insulation Limited

Acquisition date

Country of
incorporation

Principal activity

100%

10 January 2005

United Kingdom

Distribution of roofing materials and associated products

100%
100%
100%
100%

11 January 2005
2 March 2005
8 March 2005
14 March 2005

France
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom

Distribution of insulating materials and associated products
Distribution of roofing materials and associated products
Distribution of roofing materials and associated products
Distribution of specialist construction products

100%
100%
93.5%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

26 May 2005
31 May 2005
24 June 2005
4 July 2005
22 August 2005
27 September 2005
10 October 2005
14 October 2005
4 November 2005
12 November 2005
18 November 2005
30 November 2005
12 December 2005
15 December 2005

The Netherlands
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Germany
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom

Distribution of insulating materials and associated products
Distribution of specialist construction products
Manufacture and distribution of doors and doorsets
Distribution of insulating materials and associated products
Distribution of specialist construction products
Distribution of specialist construction products
Distribution of roofing materials and associated products
Distribution of roofing materials and associated products
Distribution of roofing materials and associated products
Distribution of commercial interiors products
Distribution of roofing materials and associated products
Distribution of specialist construction products
Distribution of roofing materials and associated products
Distribution of insulating materials and associated products

The Group also acquired the trade and certain assets of the following companies:
Acquisition name

Regional Roofing Company Limited
Cobelpla Distribution N.V.

Acquisition date

18 April 2005
5 December 2005

Country of
operation

Principal activity

United Kingdom
Belgium

Distribution of roofing materials and associated products
Distribution of commercial interiors products
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Notes to the Accounts continued

13 Acquisitions continued
2005 acquisitions summary fair value table
LS Group
Book
value
£000’s

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill

Fair value
adjustments
£000’s

Other acquisitions
Fair
value
£000’s

Book
value
£000’s

Fair value
adjustments
£000’s

Fair
value
£000’s

Total
£000’s

8,973
14,358

3,415
(14,358)

12,388
–

4,300
11,832

472
(11,832)

4,772
–

17,160
–

23,331

(10,943)

12,388

16,132

(11,360)

4,772

17,160

2,111
7,442
3,857

–
–
–

2,111
7,442
3,857

9,416
23,221
1,238

(1,808)
(250)
–

7,608
22,971
1,238

9,719
30,413
5,095

Total assets

36,741

(10,943)

25,798

50,007

(13,418)

36,589

62,387

Liabilities

22,006

2,199

24,205

26,237

6,479

32,716

56,921

Net assets

14,735

(13,142)

1,593

23,770

(19,897)

3,873

5,466
(243)
24,513
12,646
923
14
136
56,881

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Minority interest on acquisition
Intangible assets – customer relationships
Intangible assets – brands
Intangible assets – non-compete contracts
Intangible assets – specific customer contracts
Intangible assets – order-books
Goodwill

(243)
7,172
12,646
–
14
136
13,251

–
17,341
–
923
–
–
43,630

Total consideration

34,569

65,767

100,336

Represented by:
Contingent consideration
Cash and cash equivalents
Loan notes

–
34,569
–

5,336
54,008
6,423

5,336
88,577
6,423

Total consideration

34,569

65,767

100,336

Acquisition cash flows during the year:
Cash paid for acquisitions during the year
Net cash and cash equivalents acquired

34,569
(3,857)

54,008
(1,238)

88,577
(5,095)

Net cash outflow from acquisitions

30,712

52,770

83,482

The total consideration including assumed debt net of cash
and cash equivalents acquired is as follows:
Total consideration (as above)
Add debt acquired
Less cash and cash equivalents acquired

34,569
14,847
(3,857)

65,767
–
(1,238)

100,336
14,847
(5,095)

Total consideration (including assumed debt)

45,559

64,529

110,088

The contingent consideration of £5.336m is included within accruals.
Due to the proximity of the timing of some of the acquisitions close to the year end, the Directors have made a provisional assessment of the fair value of the
net assets acquired. Any further adjustments arising will be accounted for in 2006.
Included within goodwill are the following assets which are specifically excluded by IFRS 2 in the identification of intangible assets on acquisition:
G

staff acquired as part of the business; and

G

strategic acquisition synergies.

The pre-acquisition revenue and operating profit for LS Group, which was acquired on 24 June 2005, for the six months ended 24 June 2005 amounted
to £18.595m and £2.617m respectively. The 2005 Consolidated Income Statement includes the following amounts in respect of LS Group: revenue £22.838m;
cost of sales £12.747m; and operating expenses £6.823m giving an operating profit of £3.268m.
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13 Acquisitions continued
The Directors estimate the pre-acquisition revenue and operating profit for the other acquisitions for the period from 1 January 2005 to the respective
acquisition dates amounted to £68.4m and £5.8m respectively. The 2005 Consolidated Income Statement includes the following amounts in respect
of the other acquisitions: revenue £35.352m; cost of sales £25.115m; and operating expenses £7.758m giving an operating profit of £2.479m.
Acquisitions made in the year had the following impact on the Group’s cash flows in 2005: cash inflow from operating activities £5.795m (2004: £1.125m);
borrowing costs paid £1.389m (2004: £0.049m); purchase of property, plant and equipment £1.018m (2004: £0.114m); repayment of loans £3.247m
(2004: £nil); and income tax paid £1.034m (2004: £0.624m).
Since the balance sheet date and up to the date of approval of the Accounts, the Group has acquired the trade and certain assets of Toogood Plastics
and Project Plastics. Information regarding these acquisitions is provided below:
Book
and fair
value
£000’s

Fixed assets
Property, plant and equipment
Current assets
Inventories

110
510

Total assets

620

Net assets

620

Intangible assets – customer relationships
Goodwill

324
539

Total consideration

1,483

Represented by:
Contingent consideration
Cash paid for acquisitions

15
1,468

Total consideration

1,483

No cash and cash equivalents or debt were acquired with these acquisitions.

14 Inventories

Raw materials and consumables
Work in progress
Finished goods and goods for resale

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

5,115
793
122,193

4,025
–
109,611

128,101

113,636

The estimated replacement cost of inventories is not materially different from the value stated above.
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15 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables
Other receivables:
VAT
Other receivables
Prepayments and accrued income

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

281,053

243,766

1,354
4,633
15,758

1,840
4,877
13,279

21,745

19,996

302,798

263,762

All of the Group’s receivables are due within one year both in 2005 and 2004.
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximate to their fair value.
Credit risk
The Group’s principal financial assets are cash balances and trade and other receivables.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables for which an allowance has been made for the estimated irrecoverable amounts.
The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counter-parties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit rating agencies.
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of customers.

16 Current liabilities
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Trade and other payables:
Trade payables
Bills of exchange payable
VAT
Social security and payroll taxes
Accruals and deferred income

136,856
13,271
9,913
5,956
58,863

118,315
13,632
6,392
4,550
46,344

Trade and other payables

224,859

189,233

756
3,211
95,148
2,253
25,483
2,252

1,391
2,966
10,245
–
13,995
1,735

353,962

219,565

Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase agreements (Note 21)
Bank overdrafts
Bank loans
Loan notes
Current tax liabilities
Provisions (Note 19)
Current liabilities

£2.186m (2004: £1.778m) of the above Group bank loans and overdrafts are secured on the assets of subsidiary undertakings. The remaining Group
balances are unsecured.
The bank overdraft is repayable on demand and attracts a floating interest rate which at 31 December 2005 was 3.2%.
£55.000m of the bank loans and loan notes due within one year (after taking into account derivative financial instruments) are at variable rates of interest.
£42.401m of the bank loans and loan notes due within one year (after taking into account derivative financial instruments) attract an average fixed interest
rate of 5.1%.
Trade payables and accruals and deferred income principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average credit
period taken for trade purchases is 37 days (2004: 39 days).
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of current liabilities approximate to their fair value.
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17 Non-current liabilities

Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase agreements
– Due after one and within two years (Note 21)
– Due after two and within five years (Note 21)
Bank loans
Derivative financial instruments
Loan notes
US Senior loan notes
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 20)
Other payables
Retirement benefit obligations (Note 27)
Provisions (Note 19)

The bank loans included above are repayable as follows:
Due after one and within two years
Due after two and within five years
Due after five years

The loan notes above are repayable as follows:
Due after one and within two years
Due after two and within five years

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

838
–
521
28,376
5,081
70,659
7,507
2,159
26,987
13,695

366
198
1,345
–
7,006
94,268
6,615
3,955
25,035
8,714

155,823

147,502

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

51
145
325

808
151
386

521

1,345

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

–
5,081

7,006
–

5,081

7,006

Of the above bank loans, £0.519m (2004: £1.336m) is secured on certain assets of subsidiary undertakings, and is repayable by instalments.
The bank loan repayable after more than five years attracts a fixed interest rate of 3.4% and is repayable in full in 2017.
The US Senior loan notes are unsecured, repayable in 2008 (£25.566m) and 2011 (£45.093m) and before applying associated derivative financial
instruments, as referred to in Note 18, attract an average interest rate of 7.2%.
At 1 January 2005, the US Senior loan note debt (and its associated derivative financial instruments) was restated in accordance with IFRS. The effect of this
transition is detailed within Note 28.
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of non-current liabilities approximate to their fair value.
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Notes to the Accounts continued

18 Derivative financial instruments
The Treasury risk management section of the Business Review on pages 21 and 22 provides an explanation of the role that derivative financial instruments
have had during the year in creating or changing the risks the Group faces in its activities.
The Group has no financial assets other than cash at bank (including cash deposits repayable on demand) of £32.120m (2004: £19.467m) which are part
of the financing arrangements of the Group. The Directors consider the fair value of these financial assets to approximate to their book value.
2005 interest rate and currency profile
The interest rate and currency profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2005, after taking account of interest rate and currency derivative
financial instruments (with the exception of the short term currency swaps noted after the table) was as follows:

Total
£000’s

Floating
rate
£000’s

Fixed
rate
£000’s

Effective
fixed
interest rate
%

30,742
96,841
525
68,002
8,553
1,069
1,111

–
49,216
–
–
7,883
–
1,111

30,742
47,625
525
68,002
670
1,069
–

7.2%
4.9%
6.1%
6.7%
3.4%
5.1%
–

206,843

58,210

148,633

Currency

US Senior loan notes
Other borrowings
Finance lease contracts
US Senior loan notes
Other borrowings
Finance lease contracts
Other borrowings

Sterling
Sterling
Sterling
Euro
Euro
Euro
US Dollar

Total

Weighted
average time
for which
rate is fixed
Years

Amount
secured
£000’s

Amount
unsecured
£000’s

3.0
3.3
2.5
4.1
12.0
2.7
–

–
–
525
–
664
1,069
1,111

30,742
96,841
–
68,002
7,889
–
–

3,369

203,474

In addition to the currency exposures above, the Group has entered into three short term currency derivative contracts amounting to an asset of £76.950m
and liability of €112.138m. All of these contracts were entered into on 30 December 2005 so they are deemed to have a book value and fair value of £nil.
The expiry date of these contracts is 29 December 2006.
The Directors consider the fair value of the Group’s floating rate financial liabilities to approximate to the book value shown in the table above. The fair value
of the Group’s US Senior loan notes approximates to the amount in the value of the financial liabilities above (as a result of adopting IAS 32 and IAS 39 at
1 January 2005). £40.292m of the Sterling Other borrowings relate to debt on which the Group has taken out interest rate derivatives to fix the interest rate
and the loan is already carried at approximately its fair value in the table above. The remaining fixed rate debt amounts to £9.597m and relates predominantly
to loan notes provided by previous owners of the acquired businesses and finance lease contracts. The Directors consider the fair value of these remaining
fixed rate debts to approximate to the book values shown above.
The Group applied IAS 32 and IAS 39 with effect from 1 January 2005. The following financial instrument disclosures for 2004 are therefore in compliance
with the requirements of FRS 13.
2004 interest rate and currency profile
The following discloses the interest rate and currency profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2004, after taking account of interest rate
and currency derivative financial instruments were as follows:

Total
£000’s

Floating
rate
£000’s

Fixed
rate
£000’s

Weighted
average fixed
interest rate
%

24,149
12,014
1,068
70,119
3,817
888
5,730

–
–
–
–
2,598
–
652

24,149
12,014
1,068
70,119
1,219
888
5,078

7.2%
3.8%
5.7%
6.7%
3.6%
5.5%
2.9%

117,785

3,250

114,535

Currency

US Senior loan notes
Other borrowings
Finance lease contracts
US Senior loan notes
Other borrowings
Finance lease contracts
Other borrowings
Total

Sterling
Sterling
Sterling
Euro
Euro
Euro
US Dollar

Weighted
average time
for which
rate is fixed
Years

Amount
secured
£000’s

Amount
unsecured
£000’s

4.0
1.0
1.7
5.1
13.0
1.4
0.1

–
1,261
1,068
–
1,200
888
652

24,149
10,753
–
70,119
2,617
–
5,078

5,069

112,716

Book
value
£000’s

Fair
value
£000’s

94,268
–
23,517

63,854
37,039
23,517

117,785

124,410

The estimated fair value of the financial liabilities at 31 December 2004 was:

US Senior loan notes
US Senior loan note derivative financial instruments
Finance lease contracts and other borrowings
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18 Derivatives financial instruments continued
The difference between the book value and fair value of the debt shown on page 96 of £6.625m has been booked as a transitional adjustment at 1 January 2005,
as described in Note 28.
In both 2005 and 2004, the interest rate on floating rate financial liabilities is linked to UK LIBOR in the case of Sterling liabilities, EURIBOR for Euro liabilities,
US prime rate and US LIBOR for US Dollar liabilities.
Transactional exposures that give rise to net currency gains and losses recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement are minimal as Group companies do
not enter into significant amounts of cross border transactions. The amount arising in the Group during 2005 in respect of transactional exposures amounted
to a gain of £132,000 (2004: loss of £197,000).
Hedging relationships
The Group does not trade in derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. Where the Group can demonstrate a hedge relationship under
the rules of IAS 32 and IAS 39, movements in the fair values of these derivative financial instruments will be recognised in the Consolidated Statement
of Recognised Income and Expense. Where the Group does not meet these rules, movements in the fair value will be recognised as hedge ineffectiveness
and disclosed separately on the face of the Consolidated Income Statement.
In order to manage the Group’s exposure to interest rate and exchange rate changes, the Group utilises both currency and interest rate derivative financial
instruments. The fair value of these derivative financial instruments are calculated by discounting the associated future cash flows to net present values using
appropriate market rates prevailing at the balance sheet date.
a) Net investment hedges
At 31 December 2005, the Group had entered into three cross-currency interest rate derivative financial instruments which form a net investment hedge
of the Group’s Euro denominated trading assets. At 31 December 2005, these three derivative financial instruments had a fair value liability of £11.434m
(1 January 2005: £15.276m). Of this fair value movement, £1.880m has been recognised directly in the Consolidated Income Statement (as hedge
ineffectiveness) and £1.962m has been recognised directly in equity via the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense.
b) Cash flow hedges
With regard to cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in equity, and is subsequently removed
and included in the Consolidated Income Statement in the same period the hedged item affects the Consolidated Income Statement.
At 31 December 2005, the Group had entered into four cross-currency interest rate derivative financial instruments which swap fixed US Dollar denominated
debt held in the UK into fixed Sterling denominated debt. These derivative financial instruments form a cash flow hedge as they fix the functional currency cash
flows of the Group. At 31 December 2005, these four derivative financial instruments had a fair value liability of £16.650m (1 January 2005: £21.763m). All of
these derivative financial instruments are designated and effective as cash flow hedges and the fair value movement has therefore been deferred in equity via the
Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense. At 31 December 2005, the average maturity date of the these swaps is 3.8 years (2004: 4.8 years).
At 31 December 2005, the Group had entered into two interest rate derivative financial instruments which swap variable rate Sterling debt into fixed rate Sterling
debt thereby fixing the functional currency cash flows of the Group. At 31 December 2005, these two derivative financial instruments had a fair value liability of
£0.292m (1 January 2005: n/a). Both of these interest rate derivative financial instruments are designated and effective as cash flow hedges and the fair value
movement has therefore been deferred in equity via the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense. At 31 December 2005, the average
maturity date of the these swaps is 3.6 years.
At 31 December 2005, the Group had entered into two cross-currency derivative financial instruments which swap fixed Sterling denominated debt into fixed
Euro denominated debt. The movement in fair value of these derivative financial instruments hedge the post tax Euro cash flows of the Group and thereby fix
the functional currency cash flows of the Group. As these derivative financial instruments were entered into on 30 December 2005 at market rates prevailing at
that date, the fair value of these derivative financial instruments at 31 December 2005 was £nil. At 31 December 2005, the average maturity date of the these
swaps is one year.
The fair value comparatives included in the narrative above are stated at 1 January 2005 as the Group took the exemption available under IFRS 1 to adopt
IAS 32 and IAS 39 for the first time as at that date. Therefore, all comparative information at 31 December 2004 is stated under UK GAAP.
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Notes to the Accounts continued

18 Derivatives financial instruments continued
Maturity of financial liabilities
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2005 was as follows:
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

In one year or less
In more than one year but not more than two years
In more than two years but not more than five years
In more than five years

101,368
654
40,850
63,971

14,602
8,180
34,632
60,371

Total

206,843

117,785

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Expiring in more than one year but not more than two years
Expiring in more than two years but not more than five years
Expiring in more than five years

13
59,919
398

25,007
8,446
361

Total

60,330

33,814

2005
Other
amounts
£000’s

2005

Borrowing facilities
The Group had undrawn committed borrowing facilities at 31 December 2005 as follows:

19 Provisions for liabilities and charges
2005
Onerous
leases
£000’s

2005
Leasehold
dilapidations
£000’s

Total
£000’s

Beginning of year
Transferred in from accruals
Released
Utilised
Added on acquisition
New provisions
Exchange difference

3,882
–
(810)
(653)
–
1,837
(10)

6,148
–
(4)
(124)
619
2,339
(18)

419
330
(80)
–
–
2,084
(12)

10,449
330
(894)
(777)
619
6,260
(40)

End of year

4,246

8,960

2,741

15,947

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

2,252
13,695

1,735
8,714

15,947

10,449

Included in current liabilities
Included in non-current liabilities

Onerous leases
The Group has provided for the rental payments due over the remaining term of existing operating lease contracts where a period of vacancy is ongoing.
The provision has been calculated after taking into account both the periods over which properties are likely to remain vacant and the likely income from
existing and future sub lease agreements on a contract by contract basis. The provision covers potential transfer of economic benefit over the full range
of current lease commitments disclosed in Note 27.
Leasehold dilapidations
This provision relates to contractual obligations to reinstate leasehold properties into their original state of repair at the end of the lease. The provisions are
calculated with reference to the expired portion of individual lease agreements where such a clause exists in the lease contract. The transfer of economic benefits
will be made at the end of the leases as set out in Note 27.
Other amounts relate principally to claims provisions. The transfer of economic benefit is expected to be made between one and three years.
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20 Deferred tax
The net deferred tax asset at the end of the year is analysed as follows:
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

21,085
(7,507)

21,455
(6,615)

Net deferred tax asset

13,578

14,840

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

(38)
3,788
1,769
8,059

(867)
2,160
5,614
7,933

The net deferred tax asset is made up of the following elements:

Deferred tax analysis:
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation
Short term timing differences
Losses
On retirement benefit obligations
Net deferred tax asset

13,578

14,840

The movement during the year in the net deferred tax asset was as follows:
Beginning of year
IFRS transitional adjustment at 1 January 2005
On acquisition of subsidiaries
Credit/(debit) for the year
Exchange differences
Deferred tax in relation to actuarial pension scheme losses
Deferred tax on share options

14,840
3,869
(7,823)
1,477
56
563
596

16,069
–
(4,571)
(951)
(68)
2,537
1,824

End of year

13,578

14,840

Given current trading the Directors consider that recognition of the deferred tax assets above is appropriate.
At the balance sheet date, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries with a lower rate
of corporation tax than that suffered in the UK, for which no deferred tax liabilities have been recognised, was £29.396m (2004: £16.692m). No liability
has been recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

21 Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts
Minimum lease
payments

Amounts payable under finance leases:
– Within one year
– After one year and within five years
– After five years

Present value of lease obligations

2005
£000

2004
£000

2005
£000

2004
£000

797
861
–

1,436
599
–

756
838
–

1,391
564
–

1,658

2,035

1,594

1,955

64

80

1,594

1,955

Accounts

Less: future finance charges

Present value of
minimum lease payments

The Group leases a small number of its fixtures, equipment and motor vehicles under finance leases.
The average remaining lease term is 2.6 years. For the year ended 31 December 2005, the average effective borrowing rate was 5.4% (2004: 5.6%).
Interest rates are fixed at the contract date.
The carrying amount of the Group’s lease obligations approximates to their fair value.
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Notes to the Accounts continued

22 Called up share capital
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Authorised:
190,000,000 ordinary shares of 10p each (2004: 190,000,000)

19,000

19,000

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
121,886,129 ordinary shares of 10p each (2004: 121,394,738)

12,189

12,139

Cash consideration received by the Company for shares allotted during the year amounted to £1.140m (2004: £1.938m).
The Company has one class of ordinary share which carries no right to fixed income.
At 31 December 2005 the following share options were outstanding:
Number of shares

Exercise dates

Lapsed

At
31 December
2005

Option
price per
10p share

Date from
which option
may be
exercised

Date on
which option
expires

–

–

16,036

0.0p

19/04/2008

18/04/2015

–
–
–
–
–
–
129,965

(705)
(9,331)
(4,290)
–
–
–
–

–
(2,739)
(2,297)
–
–
–
–

3,508
26,443
45,521
15,168
139,767
190,447
129,965

10.0p
10.0p
10.0p
10.0p
10.0p
10.0p
0.0p

11/04/2003
17/04/2004
19/04/2005
01/10/2005
11/04/2006
11/05/2007
19/04/2008

10/04/2007
16/04/2008
18/04/2009
30/09/2009
10/04/2010
10/05/2011
18/04/2012

65,789
37,257
49,500
48,902
1,500
182,500
212,500

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

(20,500)
(23,700)
(26,500)
(21,500)
(1,500)
(78,200)
(12,000)

(7,500)
–
–
–
–
(20,500)
(6,000)

37,789
13,557
23,000
27,402
–
83,800
194,500

309.5p
212.5p
158.5p
232.5p
261.0p
321.0p
205.5p

30/05/2000
27/04/2001
01/04/2002
11/04/2003
11/09/2003
19/04/2005
10/04/2006

29/05/2007
26/04/2008
31/03/2009
10/04/2010
10/09/2010
18/04/2012
09/04/2013

Savings Related Schemes
02/05/2000
04/05/2001
17/05/2002
07/05/2003
10/05/2004
21/10/2005

137,379
180,652
296,582
1,113,793
431,969
–

–
–
–
–
–
31,850

(135,205)
(1,855)
(145,264)
(7,287)
(3,554)
–

(725)
(11,811)
(12,313)
(71,786)
(37,505)
–

1,449
166,986
139,005
1,034,720
390,910
31,850

186.0p
201.0p
257.0p
165.0p
300.0p
571.0p

01/07/2003
01/07/2004
01/07/2005
01/07/2006
01/07/2007
01/11/2008

31/12/2005
31/12/2006
31/12/2007
31/12/2008
31/12/2009
31/05/2011

Total

3,198,539

177,851

(491,391)

(173,176)

2,711,823

At
1 January
2005

Granted

Exercised

–

16,036

Long Term Incentive Plan
11/04/2000
17/04/2001
19/04/2002
01/10/2002
11/04/2003
11/05/2004
19/04/2005

4,213
38,513
52,108
15,168
139,767
190,447
–

1997 Executive Share
Option Scheme
30/05/1997
27/04/1998
01/04/1999
11/04/2000
11/09/2000
19/04/2002
10/04/2003

Scheme and date of grant

Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme
19/04/2005
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23 Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Hedging
and
translation
reserve
£000’s

Retained
profits
£000’s

Total
£000’s

Minority
interests
£000’s

Total
equity
£000’s

347

22,113

237

66

149,556

199,313

447

199,760

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
4,278
(4,344)

9,983
(2,800)
12,845
(510)
–
4,344

9,983
(2,800)
12,845
(510)
4,278
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

9,983
(2,800)
12,845
(510)
4,278
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(57)

(57)

–

(57)

–

–

–

–

(46)

–

46

–

–

–

12,027

14,967

347

22,113

191

–

173,407

223,052

447

223,499

–
–
112

–
–
1,826

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

48,232
(15,587)
–

48,232
(15,587)
1,938

572
–
–

48,804
(15,587)
1,938

–

–

–

–

–

149

–

149

–

149

–

–

–

–

–

(619)

–

(619)

–

(619)

–

–

–

–

–

(1,676)

–

(1,676)

–

(1,676)

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
448

1,786
–
–

–
1,824
–

1,786
1,824
448

–
–
–

1,786
1,824
448

–

–

–

–

–

–

(8,741)

(8,741)

–

(8,741)

–

–

–

–

–

–

2,537

2,537

–

2,537

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(447)

(447)

12,139

16,793

347

22,113

639

(360)

201,672

253,343

572

253,915
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Share
premium
account
£000’s

Capital
redemption
reserve
£000’s

At 1 January 2004 – UK GAAP
IFRS adjustments:
Reverse proposed dividend
Stock valuation adjustment
Deferred tax
Lease incentives
Retranslation of goodwill
Exchange reserve reset
Adjustment to pension
asset valuation
Adjustment for IFRS 2
“Share-based payments”

12,027

14,967

–
–
–
–
–
–

At 1 January 2004 – IFRS
Profit for the period
Dividends
New share capital issued
Exchange difference on
retranslation of foreign
currency goodwill
and intangibles
Exchange difference on
retranslation of overseas net
investments (excluding goodwill
and intangibles)
Exchange difference on
foreign currency borrowings
Tax credit on exchange
difference arising on foreign
currency borrowings
Deferred tax on share options
Credit to share option reserve
Actuarial loss on defined
benefit pension schemes
Deferred tax movement
associated with actuarial loss
Payment to minority
interest shareholder
At 31 December 2004 – IFRS

Accounts

Special
reserve
£000’s

Share
option
reserve
£000’s

Called up
share
capital
£000’s
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23 Consolidated statement of changes in equity continued
Hedging
and
translation
reserve
£000’s

Called up
share
capital
£000’s

Share
premium
account
£000’s

Capital
redemption
reserve
£000’s

Special
reserve
£000’s

Share
option
reserve
£000’s

At 31 December 2004 – IFRS
Profit for the period
Dividends
New share capital issued
Exchange difference on
retranslation of foreign
currency goodwill
and intangibles
Exchange difference
on retranslation of overseas
net investments (excluding
goodwill and intangibles)
Exchange difference on
foreign currency borrowings
Tax debit on exchange
difference arising on foreign
currency borrowings
Deferred tax on share options
Credit to share option reserve
Actuarial loss on defined
benefit pension schemes
Deferred tax movement
associated with actuarial loss
Payment to minority
interest shareholder
Recognition of minority
interest on acquisition
Transitional adjustment
to adopt IAS 32 and IAS 39
at 1 January 2005 (Note 28)
Recognition of deferred
tax assets on certain
transitional adjustments
at 1 January 2005 (Note 28)

12,139
–
–
50

16,793
–
–
1,090

347
–
–
–

22,113
–
–
–

639
–
–
–

(360)
–
–
–

201,672
57,186
(17,861)
–

253,343
57,186
(17,861)
1,140

572
956
–
–

253,915
58,142
(17,861)
1,140

–

–

–

–

–

(725)

–

(725)

–

(725)

–

–

–

–

–

(1,669)

–

(1,669)

–

(1,669)

–

–

–

–

–

1,111

–

1,111

–

1,111

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
736

(639)
–
–

–
596
–

(639)
596
736

–
–
–

(639)
596
736

–

–

–

–

–

–

(1,885)

(1,885)

–

(1,885)

–

–

–

–

–

–

563

563

–

563

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(572)

(572)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

243

243

–

–

–

–

–

–

(6,625)

(6,625)

–

(6,625)

–

–

–

–

–

–

3,869

3,869

–

3,869

At 31 December 2005 – IFRS

12,189

17,883

347

22,113

1,375

237,515

289,140

1,199

290,339

(2,282)

Retained
profits
£000’s

Total
£000’s

Minority
interests
£000’s

Total
equity
£000’s

The special reserve arises as a result of a number of transfers from the Group’s share premium reserve up until 1996. Goodwill arising on a number
of historic acquisitions was then written off against this special reserve. The cumulative amount of goodwill resulting from acquisitions in earlier years
which has been written off directly against reserves, net of goodwill relating to undertakings disposed of, is £131.431m (2004: £131.431m).
The share option reserve represents the cumulative share option charge under IFRS 2 less the value of any share options that have been exercised.
The hedging and translation reserve represents movements in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as a result of movements in exchange rates which are taken
directly to reserves as detailed in the Statement of Significant Accounting Policies on pages 58 to 62.
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24 Reconciliation of operating profit to cash inflow from operating activities
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Operating profit
Depreciation charge
Amortisation of acquired intangibles
Goodwill impairment loss
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment
Share-based payments
Increase in inventories
Increase in receivables
Increase in payables

92,761
21,819
3,688
5,654
(572)
736
(5,066)
(10,043)
4,604

76,386
17,820
634
–
(279)
448
(19,037)
(21,573)
23,023

Cash inflow from operating activities

113,581

77,422

Acquisitions made in the year had the following impact on the Group’s cash flows in 2005: cash inflow from operating activities £5.795m (2004: £1.125m);
borrowing costs paid £1.389m (2004: £0.049m); purchase of property, plant and equipment £1.018m (2004: £0.114m); repayment of loans £3.247m
(2004: £nil); and income tax paid £1.034m (2004: £0.624m).
Included within the increase in payables is a cash outflow relating to defined benefit pension contributions being £0.863m (2004: £5.048m) greater than the
amount charged to operating profit.

25 Reconciliation of net cash flow to movements in net debt
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the year
Cash (outflow)/inflow from movement in debt

12,670
(62,156)

(35,183)
20,255

Increase in net debt resulting from cash flows
Debt acquired with acquisitions*
Non-cash items
IFRS transitional adjustment (Note 28)
Exchange differences

(49,486)
(21,270)
(271)
(6,625)
1,247

(14,928)
(7,488)
–
–
413

Increase in net debt in the year
Net debt at beginning of year

(76,405)
(98,318)

(22,003)
(76,315)

(174,723)

(98,318)

Net debt at end of year
* including loan notes issued.

26 Analysis of net debt
At
31 December
2004
£000’s

Cash and cash equivalents
Overdrafts

Debt
acquired
with
acquisitions*
£000’s

Non-cash
items
£000’s

IFRS
transitional
adjustment
(Note 28)
£000’s

Exchange
differences
£000’s

At
31 December
2005
£000’s

19,467
(2,966)

12,962
(292)

–
–

–
–

–
–

(309)
47

32,120
(3,211)

16,501

12,670

–

–

–

(262)

28,909

(10,245)
(102,619)
(1,955)

(71,727)
9,236
335

(14,847)
(6,423)
–

–
(271)
–

–
(6,625)
–

(582)
2,065
26

(97,401)
(104,637)
(1,594)

(98,318)

(49,486)

(21,270)

(271)

(6,625)

1,247

(174,723)

* including loan notes issued.
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Notes to the Accounts continued

27 Guarantees and other financial commitments
a) Capital commitments

Contracted but not provided for

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

3,579

5,560

b) Lease commitments
The Group leases a number of its premises under operating leases which expire between 2006 and 2049.
The rentals payable are subject to renegotiation at various dates. The total future minimum lease rentals under the foregoing leases are as follows:

Minimum lease rentals due:
– Within one year
– After one year and within five years
– After five years

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

26,147
75,816
86,268

24,892
67,272
63,082

188,231

155,246

The Group also leases certain items of plant and machinery whose total future minimum lease rentals under the foregoing leases are as follows:

Minimum lease rentals due:
– Within one year
– After one year and within five years
– After five years

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

3,937
5,350
84

4,390
4,407
84

9,371

8,881

c) Pension schemes
The Group operates a number of pension schemes, six (2004: six) of which provide defined benefits based on final pensionable salary. Of these schemes,
four (2004: four) have assets held in separate trustee administered funds and two (2004: two) are overseas book reserved schemes. The Group also
operates a number of defined contribution schemes all of which are independently managed. The defined benefit schemes are herein after referred
to as the “main scheme” and “other schemes”, being five smaller schemes.
Defined benefit pension scheme valuations
In accordance with the amendment to IAS 19 which was issued on 16 December 2004, the Group has elected to recognise all actuarial gains and losses
in full in the period in which they arise in the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense.
The actuarial valuations of the defined benefit pension schemes are assessed by an independent actuary every three years who recommends the rate
of contribution payable each year.
The main actuarial assumptions in the pension assessments were that over the long term the annual investment return would be 2% higher than the annual
increase in pensionable salaries, and after retirement 2.5% higher than the annual price inflation-linked increase in pensions.
The last formal actuarial valuations of three of the defined benefit schemes (including the main scheme) were conducted at 1 January 2004, and showed that
the market value of the schemes’ assets were £29.7m, £7.8m and £1.9m and their actuarial values covered 64%, 94% and 70% respectively of the benefits
accrued to members after allowing for expected future increases in pensionable salaries.
The last formal actuarial valuation of the fourth defined benefit scheme was at 6 April 2004 and showed that the market value of the scheme’s assets
was £1.2m and its actuarial value covered 60% of the benefits accrued to members after allowing for expected future increases in pensionable salaries.
The fifth and sixth schemes are book reserved schemes whereby the sponsoring company does not hold any separate assets to fund the pension
scheme but makes a reserve in its accounts. Therefore, these schemes do not hold separate scheme assets. The liabilities of the schemes are met
by the sponsoring companies.
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27 Guarantees and other financial commitments continued
c) Pension schemes continued
Consolidated Income Statement charges
The pension charge for the year relating to the main scheme was £1.983m (2004: £1.444m), £0.852m (2004: £0.432m) in relation to other schemes
and was £2.835m (2004: £2.521m) in relation to defined contribution schemes. In accordance with IAS 19 “Retirement benefits”, the charge for the defined
benefit schemes has been calculated as the sum of the cost of benefits accruing in the year, the increase in the value of benefits already accrued and the
expected return on assets.
The Group contribution to the main scheme (including fixed monthly contributions) during the year amounted to 35.0% (2004: 31.7%) of pensionable
salaries. In addition, in December 2004, a special contribution of £4.0m was made to the main scheme.
The actuarial valuations described above have been updated at 31 December 2005 by a qualified actuary using revised assumptions that are consistent
with the requirements of IAS 19. Investments have been valued, for this purpose, at fair value.
The four UK defined benefit schemes are closed to new members, have an age profile that is rising and therefore under the projected unit method
the current service cost will increase as the members of the schemes approach retirement. The two overseas book reserved schemes remain open
to new members.
Consolidated Balance Sheet liability
The net Consolidated Balance Sheet liability position in respect of the six defined benefit schemes can be summarised as follows:
2005
£000’s

Deficit in the main scheme
Deficit in the other schemes
Gross pension liability
Related deferred tax asset
Net pension liability

2005
£000’s

(19,679)
(7,308)

2004
£000’s

2004
£000’s

(18,870)
(6,165)
(26,987)

(25,035)

8,059

7,933

(18,928)

(17,102)

The actuarial loss of £1.885m (2004: £8.741m) for the year, together with the associated deferred tax credit of £0.563m (2004: £2.537m), has been
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense.
Of the above gross pension liability, £24.864m relates to wholly or partly funded schemes and £2.123m relates to unfunded schemes.
The movement in the gross pension liability in the year can be summarised as follows:
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Pension liability at beginning of year
Current service cost
Contributions
Net finance cost
Actuarial loss
Exchange difference

(25,035)
(1,982)
2,845
(853)
(1,885)
(77)

(20,851)
(1,402)
6,450
(474)
(8,741)
(17)

Pension liability at end of year

(26,987)

(25,035)
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Notes to the Accounts continued

27 Guarantees and other financial commitments continued
c) Pension schemes continued
Main scheme disclosure
The principal assumptions used for the IAS 19 actuarial valuation of the main scheme were:

Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of fixed increase of pensions in payment
Rate of increase LPI pensions in payment
Discount rate
Inflation assumption

2005
%

2004
%

2003
%

4.8
5.0
2.8
4.9
2.8

4.8
5.0
2.8
5.4
2.8

4.6
5.0
2.6
5.4
2.6

Deferred pensions are revalued to retirement in line with the scheme’s rules and statutory requirements, with the inflation assumption used for LPI revaluation
in deferment.
The fair value of the assets in the main scheme, the present value of the liabilities in the main scheme and the expected rate of return at each balance sheet
date were:

Equities
Bonds
Other

2005
%

2005
£000’s

2004
%

2004
£000’s

2003
%

2003
£000’s

6.7
4.4
4.0

29,034
18,655
81

7.2
4.9
4.5

23,518
15,087
325

7.5
5.1
4.8

21,883
7,772
34

Total fair value of assets
Present value of scheme liabilities

47,770
(67,449)

38,930
(57,800)

29,689
(45,200)

Deficit in the scheme
Related deferred tax asset

(19,679)
6,504

(18,870)
6,560

(15,511)
4,652

Net pension liability

(13,175)

(12,310)

(10,859)

The overall expected rate of return is based upon market conditions at the balance sheet date.
Future joint (employer and employee) contribution rates for the main scheme have been agreed at 21.3% of pensionable salaries plus fixed monthly
Company contributions of £120,600.
Analysis of the amount charged to operating profit under IAS 19 in relation to the main scheme:

Current service cost

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

1,308

1,091

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

2,527
(3,202)

2,116
(2,468)

(675)

(352)

Analysis of the amount charged to finance income and finance charges under IAS 19 in relation to the main scheme:

Finance income – being expected return on pension scheme assets
Finance charges – being interest on pension scheme liabilities
Net finance charge
The actual return on scheme assets was £6.495m (2004: £3.058m).

Analysis of the actuarial loss recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense in respect of the main scheme:
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Actual return less expected return on assets
Experience gains and losses on liabilities
Changes in assumptions

3,968
–
(5,246)

942
(4,074)
(5,051)

Actuarial loss recognised

(1,278)

(8,183)
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27 Guarantees and other financial commitments continued
c) Pension schemes continued
Main scheme disclosure continued
Movement in the deficit during the year in respect of the main scheme:
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Deficit in the main scheme at beginning of year
Current service cost
Contributions
Net finance cost
Actuarial loss

(18,870)
(1,308)
2,452
(675)
(1,278)

(15,511)
(1,091)
6,267
(352)
(8,183)

Deficit in the main scheme at end of year

(19,679)

(18,870)

Movements in the present value of the main scheme liabilities were as follows:
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Fair value of the main scheme liabilities at beginning of year
Current service cost
Interest on pension scheme liabilities
Experience gains and losses on liabilities
Changes in assumptions
Contributions from scheme members
Benefits paid

(57,800)
(1,308)
(3,202)
–
(5,246)
(528)
635

(45,200)
(1,091)
(2,468)
(4,074)
(5,051)
(520)
604

Fair value of the main scheme liabilities at end of year

(67,449)

(57,800)

Movements in the fair value of the main scheme assets were as follows:
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Fair value of the main scheme assets at beginning of year
Expected return on assets
Actual return less expected return on assets
Contributions from sponsoring companies
Contributions from scheme members
Benefits paid

38,930
2,527
3,968
2,452
528
(635)

29,689
2,116
942
6,267
520
(604)

Fair value of the main scheme assets at end of year

47,770

38,930

2005

2004

2003

3,968
8%

942
2%

2,107
7%

–
–

(4,074)
(7%)

–
–

(8,183)
(14%)

(348)
(1%)

History of experience of gains and losses:

Difference between the expected and actual return on scheme assets:
Amount (£000’s)
Percentage of scheme assets

Total amount recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense:
Amount (£000’s)
Percentage of the present value of scheme liabilities

(1,278)
(2%)
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Notes to the Accounts continued

27 Guarantees and other financial commitments continued
c) Pension schemes continued
Other schemes disclosure
The Company also operates a further five defined benefit pension schemes, details of which have been aggregated below and are referred
to as “other schemes”.
The principal assumptions used for the IAS 19 actuarial valuations of the other defined benefit schemes can be summarised as follows:

Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of fixed increase of LPI pensions in payment
Discount rate
Inflation assumption

2005
%

2004
%

2003
%

4.8
2.9
4.8
2.9

4.4
2.7
5.4
2.8

4.3
2.6
5.4
2.6

The fair value of the assets, the present value of the liabilities and the expected rate of return at each balance sheet date for the other defined benefit
schemes were:

Equities
Bonds
Property
Cash
Total fair value of assets
Present value of scheme liabilities

2005
%

2005
£000’s

2004
%

2004
£000’s

2003
%

2003
£000’s

6.5
4.4
6.5
4.0

12,127
985
320
392

6.7
4.3
6.7
3.8

9,979
939
244
518

6.7
4.4
6.5
3.9

9,203
1,388
237
193

13,824
(21,132)

11,680
(17,845)

11,021
(16,361)

Deficit in the schemes
Related deferred tax asset

(7,308)
1,555

(6,165)
1,373

(5,340)
1,245

Net pension liability

(5,753)

(4,792)

(4,095)

The overall expected rate of return is based upon market conditions at the balance sheet date.
Future joint contribution rates (employers and employees) for two of the above schemes have been agreed at 30.2% and 34.2% of pensionable salaries.
Annual joint contributions for another scheme, for which one active member remains, have been agreed at £114,000. For the two overseas book reserved
schemes, in accordance with the scheme rules, no contributions are made.
Analysis of the amount charged to operating profit under IAS 19 in relation to the other schemes:

Current service cost

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

674

311

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Analysis of the amount charged to finance income and finance charges under IAS 19 in relation to the other schemes:

Finance income – being expected return on pension scheme assets
Finance charges – being interest on pension scheme liabilities

646
(824)

610
(732)

Net finance charge

(178)

(122)

The actual return on scheme assets was £2.037m (2004: £0.805m).
Analysis of the actuarial loss recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense in respect of the other schemes:

Actual return less expected return on assets
Experience gains and losses on liabilities
Changes in assumptions
Net actuarial Ioss recognised
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27 Guarantees and other financial commitments continued
c) Pension schemes continued
Other schemes disclosure continued
Movement in deficit during the year in respect of the other schemes:
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Deficit in the other schemes at beginning of year
Current service cost
Contributions
Net finance cost
Actuarial Ioss
Exchange difference

(6,165)
(674)
393
(178)
(607)
(77)

(5,340)
(311)
183
(122)
(558)
(17)

Deficit in the other schemes at end of year

(7,308)

(6,165)

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Movements in the present value of the other schemes liabilities were as follows:

Fair value of the other schemes liabilities at beginning of year
Current service cost
Interest on pension scheme liabilities
Experience gains and losses on liabilities
Changes in assumptions
Contributions from scheme members
Exchange difference
Benefits paid

(17,845)
(674)
(824)
(7)
(1,991)
(59)
(77)
345

(16,361)
(311)
(732)
320
(1,073)
(59)
(17)
388

Fair value of the other schemes liabilities at end of year

(21,132)

(17,845)

Movements in the fair value of the other schemes assets were as follows:
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Fair value of other schemes assets at beginning of year
Expected return on assets
Actual return less expected return on assets
Contributions from sponsoring companies
Contributions from scheme members
Benefits paid

11,680
646
1,391
393
59
(345)

11,021
610
195
183
59
(388)

Fair value of other schemes assets at end of year

13,824

11,680

2005

2004

2003

1,391
10%

195
2%

864
8%

(7)
–

320
2%

(32)
–

(607)
(3%)

(558)
(3%)

683
4%

History of experience of gains and losses:

Difference between the expected and actual return on scheme assets:
Amount (£000’s)
Percentage of scheme assets

Total amount recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense
Amount (£000’s)
Percentage of the present value of scheme liabilities
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Notes to the Accounts continued

27 Guarantees and other financial commitments continued
d) Contingent liabilities
At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding obligations under customer guarantees, claims, standby letters of credit and discounted bills of up
to £13.002m (2004: £10.893m). Of this amount, £5.445m (2004: £3.975m) related to standby letters of credit, issued by The Royal Bank of Scotland plc,
in respect of the Group’s insurance arrangements.
In addition, the remaining 6.5% share in the equity of LS Group Limited is to be purchased for a variable consideration dependent upon its future profit
performance. The consideration payable varies from a minimum of £1.7m to a maximum of £5.2m. At the balance sheet date, it is not possible to
accurately determine the likely consideration payable as it is inherently uncertain.

28 Transitional adjustment to adopt IAS 32 and IAS 39 at 1 January 2005
The Group has derivative financial instruments associated with its US Senior loan notes, being interest and foreign currency contracts. These convert
the Group’s interest and loan principal payments under the US Senior loan notes into Sterling and Euro currencies in order to fund the Group’s UK and
European operations. Previously under UK GAAP, the Group recognised the book value of its derivative financial instruments in the carrying value of its
US Senior loan note debt.
The Group has elected to apply UK GAAP to its comparative Accounts (i.e. 1 January 2004 to 31 December 2004) and implement IAS 32 and IAS 39 at
1 January 2005. On 1 January 2005, in accordance with IAS 32 and IAS 39, all derivative financial instruments are recorded at their fair value. The difference
between the fair value and book value of all derivative financial instruments at 1 January 2005 was £6.625m, being an additional liability for the Group. In addition,
as a result of further guidance issued by the UK tax authorities regarding the tax treatment of transitional adjustments relating to derivative financial instruments and
foreign currency exchange differences, the Group has recognised a deferred tax asset of £3.869m at 1 January 2005. Both of these transitional adjustments have
been recorded in 2005 through the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense. The table below shows the effect of including the fair value of
these derivative financial instruments and the associated deferred tax assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at 1 January 2005:
UK GAAP
£000’s

IFRS
£000’s

At 1 January 2005
US Senior loan note debt
US Senior loan note derivative financial instruments

94,268
–

63,854
37,039

Total

94,268

100,893

Additional liability under IFRS

6,625

Deferred tax assets

(3,869)

Reduction in net assets at 1 January 2005 as a result of adopting IAS 32 and IAS 39

2,756

Under UK GAAP, the debt is valued as a composite liability by converting the Sterling and Euro principal values featuring in the loan note derivative financial
instruments at the closing rates of exchange at the balance sheet date. The Sterling value of this debt therefore moves with the Sterling: Euro exchange rate.
Under IFRS, the US Senior loan notes are valued at the closing US Dollar: Sterling exchange rate. The derivative financial instruments are valued at their fair
market value at the balance sheet date.
It must be noted that the recognition of this additional £6.625m liability as a result of adopting IFRS will not impact the cash flows of the Group. Upon expiry
of these derivative financial instruments in 2008 and 2011, the value of the loan notes and the associated derivative financial instruments under IFRS will
equal the equivalent UK GAAP book value of the composite debt at that time.

29 Related party transactions
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and have therefore
not been disclosed.
Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the Directors who are the key management personnel of SIG is provided in the audited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
on pages 47 to 50.

30 Subsidiaries
Details of the Group’s principal trading subsidiaries, all of which have been included in the Consolidated Accounts, are shown on page 109.
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31 Explanation of transition to IFRS
This is the first year that the Group has presented its Annual Report and Accounts under IFRS. The Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended
31 December 2004 were under UK GAAP and the date of transition was therefore 1 January 2004. A document entitled “Final Restatement of 2004
Financial Information” has now been published on SIG’s website: www.sigplc.co.uk. This provides comprehensive analysis of the effect of moving from
UK GAAP to IFRS and specifically contains:
G

the restatement of 2004 comparative financial information from UK GAAP to IFRS, including a reconciliation of equity from UK GAAP to IFRS at the date
of transition and 31 December 2004;

G

a summary of significant accounting policies and a description of all IFRS adjustments made; and

G

an unqualified independent auditors’ report on the Restatement Document.

A number of summary disclosures are provided in this Note.
Reconciliation of equity at 1 January 2004 (date of transition) and 31 December 2004:

Total equity under UK GAAP
IFRS adjustments
Share-based payments
Employee benefits
Goodwill retranslation
Goodwill amortisation
Intangible asset amortisation
Taxation
Dividends
Lease incentives
Inventories
Total equity under IFRS
IAS 32 and IAS 39 transitional adjustment at 1 January 2005
Recognition of deferred tax assets on certain transitional adjustments at 1 January 2005
Total equity under IFRS at 1 January 2005

31 December
2004
£000

1 January
2004
£000

222,103

199,760

–
(70)
4,427
5,653
(444)
14,271
11,412
(637)
(2,800)

–
(57)
4,278
–
–
12,845
9,983
(510)
(2,800)

253,915

223,499

(6,625)
3,869
251,159

Reconciliation of profit after tax for the year ended 31 December 2004:
Year ended
31 December
2004
£000

44,160

Profit after tax for the year under IFRS

48,804

(124)
(3)
5,653
(444)
(311)
(127)

Under IAS 7 “Cash flow statements”, movements on cash and cash equivalents are reconciled, where as under UK GAAP that statement reconciles cash
only. The change in presentation of the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement under IAS 7 makes no difference to the cash flows of the Group.
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Profit after tax for the year under UK GAAP
IFRS adjustments
Share-based payments
Employee benefits
Goodwill amortisation
Intangible asset amortisation
Taxation
Lease incentives
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Notes to the Accounts continued

31 Explanation of transition to IFRS continued
Description of IFRS adjustments
IFRS 2 “Share-based payments”
In accordance with IFRS 2, SIG has recognised an expense representing the fair value of outstanding employee share options spread over their vesting
periods. As permitted by the transitional provisions, SIG has taken the option to apply IFRS 2 only to those share options granted after 7 November 2002
that remained unvested as at 1 January 2005.
SIG issues equity-settled share-based payment options on an annual basis in respect of which under IFRS a charge is required to be made in the Consolidated
Income Statement. At the date of grant, these options are measured at fair value by using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of each
option is then applied to the number of options which are expected to vest. The estimate of the number of options that might vest is adjusted over the
vesting period to reflect actual experience. The fair value determined at the grant date is then expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period.
Previously as required by UK GAAP, SIG accounted only for certain equity-settled share-based payment options in its Consolidated Income Statement
(i.e. in respect of its L-TIP schemes under UITF 17), whereby the difference between the share price on the date of grant and the share option price
of 10p at that time was spread over the vesting period.
IAS 19 “Employee benefits”
IAS 19 requires the Group’s pensions deficit to be recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Under UK GAAP, the Group adopted FRS 17 which also
required the recognition of the pension deficit in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
As detailed in the Statement of Significant Accounting Policies, the Group’s restatement from UK GAAP to IFRS has applied the amendments to IAS 19 “Employee
benefits”, allowing pension actuarial gains and losses to be recognised in full through the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense. Under FRS 17,
the normal method of valuing listed investments and other investments with a market value is at the mid market price. Under IAS 19, assets are valued using the
bid price.
IAS 21 “Goodwill retranslation”
IAS 21 permits the retranslation of foreign currency denominated goodwill at each period end. Any movements in the carrying value of goodwill as a result
of foreign exchange rate movements are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense.
Under UK GAAP, the Group opted to carry foreign currency denominated goodwill at its historic cost value. Under IFRS, the Group has chosen
to retranslate this goodwill.
IFRS 3 “Business combinations”
The method of accounting for business combinations under IFRS is different to that applied under UK GAAP. The key differences applicable to the Group are
the cessation of goodwill amortisation and the recognition and amortisation of intangible assets within acquired businesses.
Under the transitional arrangements of IFRS 1, the Group has taken the option to apply IFRS 3 to business combinations from the transition date only
(i.e. 1 January 2004), and therefore has not restated acquisitions prior to this date.
IAS 12 “Taxation”
Under IAS 12, deferred tax is recognised on all temporary differences between income reported in the Accounts and that recognised in the respective tax
computations as opposed to timing differences under UK GAAP. Temporary differences are generally more comprehensive than timing differences.
However, IAS 12 does not allow temporary differences to be recognised on:
a) Goodwill not deductible for taxation purposes;
b) The initial recognition of assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit; and
c) Differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future.
IAS 10 “Events after the balance sheet date”
Under UK GAAP, the Group accrued for the estimated cost of dividends recommended by the Directors in respect of each accounting year. Under IFRS,
a dividend is only recognised when it has been declared. As a result, proposed dividends are not recognised in the Accounts.
IAS 17 “Lease incentives”
Under UK GAAP, property lease incentives were recognised over the period to the first market rent review. Under IFRS, lease incentives are required
to be spread over the entire lease term. As a result, the Consolidated Balance Sheet includes additional deferred income for lease incentives.
IAS 2 “Inventories”
Under IAS 2, settlement discounts are to be included in the carrying value of inventories. Under UK GAAP, no such requirement existed.
IAS 32 and IAS 39 “Financial instruments”
These standards address the accounting for, and disclosure of, financial instruments. The general principle is that all financial assets and liabilities be recognised at fair
value. Unless hedge accounting is achieved, IFRS requires movements in the fair value to be recognised directly in the Consolidated Income Statement.
The Group has taken the option available under IFRS 1 that permits UK GAAP to be applied in 2004, with IAS 32 and IAS 39 being adopted for the first
time on 1 January 2005.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the members of SIG plc

We have audited the Group financial statements of SIG plc for the year ended 31 December 2005 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement,
the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense, the Statement
of Significant Accounting Policies, the Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty and the related Notes 1 to 31. These
Group financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors’
Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.
We have reported separately on the individual Company financial statements of SIG plc for the year ended 31 December 2005.
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Group financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted for use in the European Union are set out in the Statement
of Directors’ Responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as having been audited
in accordance with relevant United Kingdom legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with the relevant financial reporting
framework and whether the Group financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as having been audited have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We report to you if, in our opinion, the Directors’ Report
is not consistent with the Group financial statements. We also report to you if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit,
or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ transactions with the Company and other members of the Group is not disclosed.
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not complied with any of the four Directors’ remuneration disclosure requirements specified
for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority. These comprise the amount of each element in the remuneration package
and information on share options, details of long term incentive schemes, and money purchase and defined benefit schemes. We give a statement,
to the extent possible, of details of any non-compliance.
We review whether the corporate governance statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2003 FRC Combined Code
specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the
Board’s statement on internal control covers all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures
or its risk and control procedures.
We read the Directors’ Report and the other information contained in the Annual Report for the above year as described in the contents section including
the unaudited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report and we consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the Group financial statements.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes
examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the Group financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report described as having been audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the
Group financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

Opinion
In our opinion:
G

the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted for use in the European Union, of the state of the Group’s
affairs as at 31 December 2005 and of its profit for the year then ended; and

G

the Group financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as having been audited have been properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Leeds
8 March 2006
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We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Group financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as having
been audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the
overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the Group financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as
having been audited.
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Five Year Financial Summary

UK GAAP

Revenue

IFRS

2001
£000’s

2002
£000’s

2003
£000’s

2004
£000’s

2005
£000’s

1,037,258

1,154,968

1,268,525

1,398,237

1,639,332

Underlying* operating profit

59,113

57,903

63,438

77,020

102,103

Operating profit

56,312

53,379

58,642

76,386

92,761

Finance income

1,665

4,273

4,078

5,045

8,571

Finance charges

(6,710)

(11,304)

(11,229)

(11,202)

(14,521)

Underlying* profit before tax

54,068

50,872

56,287

70,863

94,273

Profit before tax

51,267

46,348

51,491

70,229

86,811

Profit after tax

34,250

31,702

34,705

48,804

58,142

Underlying* earnings per share

31.2p

30.1p

32.5p

40.3p

52.7p

Earnings per share

28.8p

26.3p

28.6p

39.9p

47.0p

Dividend per share

11.0p

11.6p

12.4p

14.0p

16.8p

* Underlying figures are stated before the amortisation of acquired intangibles, the impairment/amortisation of goodwill and hedge ineffectiveness.

A more detailed five year financial summary can be found in the investor section of the Company’s website (www.sigplc.co.uk).
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Company Accounts
(prepared in accordance with UK GAAP)
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Company Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2005

2005

Fixed assets
Investments
Tangible assets

3
4

Current assets
Debtors – due within one year
Debtors – due after more than one year
Cash at bank and in hand

5
5

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Net current assets

6

Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due after one year

7

Net assets
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Merger reserve
Capital redemption reserve
Special reserve
Share option reserve
Exchange reserve
Profit and loss account

9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9

Shareholders’ funds (all equity)

£000’s

2004
Restated
£000’s

283,972
73

198,641
101

284,045

198,742

7,224
314,779
825

14,082
273,936
1,023

322,828

289,041

(148,089)
174,739

(63,981)
225,060

458,784

423,802

(167,559)

(152,022)

291,225

271,780

12,189
17,883
21,655
347
130,365
1,375
(214)
107,625

12,139
16,793
21,655
347
130,365
639
(214)
90,056

291,225

271,780

The Accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 8 March 2006 and signed on its behalf by:

David Williams

Gareth Davies

Director

Director

The accompanying Statement of Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the Accounts are an integral part of this Company Balance Sheet.
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Statement of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of accounting
The separate Accounts of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 1985. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention and in accordance with applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards (UK GAAP) and Law.
The principal accounting policies are summarised below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the year and the preceding year with
the exception of FRS 25 and FRS 26 (see below).

Change in accounting policy in respect of new accounting standards
The Company has adopted the following accounting standards in these Accounts:
FRS 20 – Share-based payments;
FRS 21 – Events after the balance sheet date;
FRS 23 – The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates;
FRS 25 – Financial instruments: Presentation and disclosure; and
FRS 26 – Financial instruments: Measurement.
The adoption of these standards represents a change in accounting policy and as such, with the exception of FRS 25 and FRS 26, the comparative
information has been restated to comply with these new accounting standards. In compliance with the transitional rules of FRS 25 and FRS 26,
these accounting standards have been adopted from 1 January 2005 and so the comparative figures have not been restated.
The impact of adopting these new accounting standards had the following impact on the Company Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2004 and 1 January 2005:
£000’s

31 December 2004 – UK GAAP
FRS 20 – Share-based payments
FRS 21 – Events after the balance sheet date
FRS 23 – The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates

290,346
291
(18,857)
–

31 December 2004 – restated
FRS 25 – Financial instruments: Presentation and disclosure
FRS 26 – Financial instruments: Measurement
Deferred tax on certain transitional adjustments at 1 January 2005

271,780
–
(11,396)
3,407

1 January 2005 – restated

263,791

Share-based payments
The accounting policy for share-based payments mirrors that of the Group’s accounting policy under IFRS 2 as detailed on page 60.

Financial instruments
The accounting policy for financial instruments mirrors that of the Group’s accounting policy under IAS 32 and IAS 39 as detailed on page 61.

Investments
Fixed asset investments in subsidiaries are shown at cost less provision for impairment.

Foreign currency
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in the local currency at actual exchange rates as of the date of the transaction or where
appropriate at the rate of exchange in a related forward exchange contract. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the year
end are reported at the rates of exchange prevailing at the year end or where appropriate at the rate of exchange in a related forward contract.
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Any gain or loss arising from a change in exchange rates subsequent to the date of the transaction is included as an exchange gain or loss in the Profit
and Loss Account.
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Notes to the Accounts

1 Profit for the year
As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 the Company has elected not to present its own Profit and Loss Account for the year. SIG plc
reported a profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2005 of £43,419,000 (2004: £34,852,000).
The Auditors’ remuneration for audit services to the Company was £40,000 (2004: £40,000).

2 Share-based payments
The Company had five share-based payment schemes in existence during the year ended 31 December 2005. The Company recognised a total charge
of £256,000 (2004: £157,000) in the year relating to equity-settled share-based payment transactions issued after 7 November 2002. Share-based payment
charges of £480,000 (2004: £291,000) were transferred to subsidiary undertakings of the Company. The total amount transferred to the share option
reserve in the year amounted to £736,000 (2004: £448,000). Details of the valuations of each of the five share-based payment schemes can be found
in Note 9 to the Group Accounts on pages 70 to 73.

3 Fixed asset investments
Fixed asset investments comprise investments in subsidiary undertakings, as follows:
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Cost
Beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Exchange difference

198,668
149,692
(64,361)
–

199,250
–
–
(582)

End of year

283,999

198,668

Provisions at the beginning and end of year

(27)

(27)

Net book value, beginning of year

198,641

199,223

Net book value, end of year

283,972

198,641

On 24 June 2005, the Company acquired 93.5% of the shares of LS Group Limited for £34.569m.
On 24 June 2005, the Company acquired a further 1,151,228,450 ordinary shares of 10p each at par in a subsidiary company, SIG Trading Limited,
for £115.123m.
The disposal arose from the Company transferring its investment in an intermediate holding company and its investment in a European trading company
to another intermediate holding company during the year.
Details of the Company’s principal trading subsidiaries are shown on page 109.

4 Tangible fixed assets
The movement in the year was as follows:
Freehold
land and
buildings
£000’s

Plant and
machinery
£000’s

Total
£000’s

Cost
Beginning of year
Additions

62
–

223
5

285
5

End of year

62

228

290

Depreciation
Beginning of year
Charge for year

23
6

161
27

184
33

End of year

29

188

217

Net book value, beginning of year

39

62

101

Net book value, end of year

33

40

73
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5 Debtors

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings
Corporation tax recoverable
Deferred tax assets (Note 8)
Prepayments and accrued income

2005
£000’s

2004
Restated
£000’s

317,061
644
3,418
880

285,792
1,963
–
263

322,003

288,018

Of the total amount owed to the Company by subsidiary undertakings, £314.779m (2004: £273.936m) is due after more than one year.

6 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Bank overdraft
Bank loans
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings
Accruals and deferred income

2005
£000’s

2004
Restated
£000’s

12,663
95,000
32,059
8,367

8,490
10,078
37,831
7,582

148,089

63,981

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

70,659
28,376
68,524

94,268
–
57,754

167,559

152,022

All the Company’s bank loans and overdrafts are unsecured.

7 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

US Senior loan notes
Derivative financial instruments
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings

The US Senior loan notes are unsecured, repayable in 2008 (£25.566m) and 2011 (£45.093m) and before applying associated derivative financial
instruments attract an average interest rate of 7.2%.
All Group derivative financial instruments disclosed in Note 18 on pages 82 to 84 have been entered into by the Company and therefore disclosures have
not been repeated within this Note.

8 Deferred tax
2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

3,418

–

Deferred tax analysis:

2005
£000’s

2004
£000’s

Depreciation in excess of capital allowances
Short term timing differences

11
3,407

–
–

Deferred tax assets

3,418

–

Beginning of year
IFRS transitional adjustment at 1 January 2005
Reclassified from prepayments
Charge for the year

–
3,407
183
(172)

–
–
–
–

End of year

3,418

–

Deferred tax assets
The following categories are the major deferred tax assets recognised by the Company:

Given the current profitability of the Company, the Directors consider that recognition of the deferred tax asset above is appropriate.
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Notes to the Accounts continued

9 Capital and reserves
2005
£000’s

2004
Restated
£000’s

Called up share capital
Share premium account
Merger reserve
Capital redemption reserve
Special reserve
Share option reserve
Exchange reserve
Profit and loss account

12,189
17,883
21,655
347
130,365
1,375
(214)
107,625

12,139
16,793
21,655
347
130,365
639
(214)
90,056

Total reserves

291,225

271,780

Retained
profits
£000’s

The movement in reserves during the year was as follows:
Called up
share capital
£000’s

Share
premium
account
£000’s

Share
option
reserve
£000’s

Beginning of year
Transitional adjustment to adopt FRS 25 and FRS 26 at 1 January 2005
Deferred tax on certain transitional adjustments at 1 January 2005
Proceeds on allotments
Credit to share option reserve
Profit for the period
Dividends

12,139
–
–
50
–
–
–

16,793
–
–
1,090
–
–
–

639
–
–
–
736
–
–

90,056
(11,396)
3,407
–
–
43,419
(17,861)

End of year

12,189

17,883

1,375

107,625

Company

There was no movement in the merger reserve, capital redemption reserve, special reserve and exchange reserve in the period.
Details of the Company’s share capital can be found in Note 22 of the Group Accounts on page 86.

10 Guarantees and other financial commitments
a) Guarantees
The Company has cross guaranteed overdrafts of subsidiary undertakings amounting to £18.550m (2004: £5.894m).
b) Contingent liabilities
As at the balance sheet date, the Company had outstanding obligations under standby letters of credit of up to £5.445m (2004: £3.975m). These standby letters
of credit, issued by The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, are in respect of the Group’s insurance arrangements.
In addition, the remaining 6.5% share in the equity of LS Group Limited is to be purchased for a variable consideration dependent upon its future profit
performance. The consideration payable varies from a minimum of £1.7m to a maximum of £5.2m. At the balance sheet date, it is not possible to
accurately determine the likely consideration payable as it is inherently uncertain.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the members of SIG plc

We have audited the individual Company financial statements of SIG plc for the year ended 31 December 2005 which comprise the balance sheet,
the Statement of Significant Accounting Policies and the related Notes 1 to 10. These individual Company financial statements have been prepared
under the accounting policies set out therein.
The Corporate Governance Statement and the Directors’ Remuneration Report are included in the Group annual report of SIG plc for the year
ended 31 December 2005. We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of SIG plc for the year ended 31 December 2005
and on the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the individual Company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the individual Company financial statements in accordance with relevant United Kingdom legal and regulatory requirements
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
We report to you our opinion as to whether the individual Company financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with the relevant financial
reporting framework and whether the individual Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.
We report to you if, in our opinion, the Directors’ Report is not consistent with the individual Company financial statements. We also report to you if the
Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information
specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.
We read the Directors’ Report and the other information contained in the Annual Report for the above year as described in the contents section
and consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the individual Company
financial statements.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the individual Company financial statements. It also includes
an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the individual Company financial statements,
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the individual Company financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused
by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the individual
Company financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:
G

the individual Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice,
of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2005; and

G

the individual Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Accounts

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Leeds
8 March 2006
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Principal Addresses

Head Office
SIG plc
Hillsborough Works, Langsett Road,
Sheffield S6 2LW

United Kingdom
SIG Trading Limited, trading as:
Sheffield Insulations
CPD Distribution
Hillsborough Works, Langsett Road,
Sheffield S6 2LW
SIG Roofing Supplies
Specialist Construction Products
Harding Way, St. Ives,
Cambridge PE7 4YJ
Miller Pattison Limited
Unit 3 Park Square, Thorncliffe Park,
Chapeltown, Sheffield S35 2PH

Komfort Workspace
Whittle Way, Crawley,
West Sussex RH10 2RW
Safety Distribution
Unit 1, Britannia Park, Trident Drive,
Wednesbury,
West Midlands WS10 7XB

Leaderflush + Shapland Limited
Milnay Road, Langley Mill,
Nottingham NG16 4AZ

Ireland
SIG Building Products Limited
Mount Tallant Ave, Terenure, Dublin 6W,
Ireland

Insulation Distributors Limited
Unit 15, Parkwest Industrial Estate,
Nangor Road, Dublin 12, Ireland

Mainland Europe
WeGo Systembaustoffe GmbH & Co.oHG
Maybachstrasse 14, D–63456 Hanau-Steinheim,
Germany

SIG Nederland B.V.
Bedrijfsweg 15, 5061 JX Oisterwijk,
The Netherlands

Société de l’Ouest des Produits Isolants SA
Zone Industrielle B.P.15, 27460 Alizay,
France

WKT Polska Sp. zo.o.
ul. Wadowicka 8W/14, 30–415 Krakow,
Poland

USA
BWI Group, Inc.
10942 Beaver Dam Road, Hunt Valley, M02130,
USA
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Principal Trading Subsidiaries

At 31 December 2005 the Company’s principal
trading subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned
except where stated, were as follows:

United Kingdom
SIG Trading Limited
Miller Pattison Limited
Leaderflush + Shapland Limited

Insulation

Roofing

Commercial
interiors

I
I

I

I

Specialist construction
and safety
products

I

I

Ireland
SIG Building Products Limited
Insulation Distributors Limited

I
I

Germany
WeGo Systembaustoffe GmbH & Co.oHG

I

I

France
Société de l’Ouest des Produits Isolants SA

I

I

The Netherlands
SIG Nederland B.V.

I

I

Poland
WKT Polska Sp. zo.o.

I

I

USA
SIG-Southwest Inc.
BWI Group, Inc.

I
I

I

I

All of the above companies are registered in the country referred to above, with the exception of SIG Trading Limited, Miller Pattison Limited and
Leaderflush + Shapland Limited which are registered in England and Wales.
Fibreglass Insulations Limited and Past and Forward Limited together hold the beneficial ownership of SIG Building Products Limited, WeGo Systembaustoffe
GmbH & Co.oHG, Société de l’Ouest des Produits Isolants SA, SIG Nederland B.V. and WKT Polska Sp. zo.o.
SIG-USA, Inc., an intermediate holding company, owns the entire share capital of SIG-Southwest Inc. and BWI Group, Inc.
The Group owns 80% of the ordinary share capital of Insulation Distributors Limited, via SIG Trading Limited.
The Group owns 93.5% of the ordinary share capital of LS Group Limited. This company owns the entire share capital of Leaderflush + Shapland Limited,
via Leaderflush + Shapland Holdings Limited.
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Principal Trading Subsidiaries

SIG’s strategy is to develop and grow the
Group as a leading supplier of specialist
products to the construction and related
markets, in order to achieve sustainable
long term growth in shareholder value.

At 31 December 2005 the Company’s principal
trading subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned
except where stated, were as follows:

United Kingdom
SIG Trading Limited
Miller Pattison Limited
Leaderflush + Shapland Limited

Insulation

Roofing

Commercial
interiors

I
I

I

I

Specialist construction
and safety
products

I

I

Ireland
SIG Building Products Limited
Insulation Distributors Limited

I
I

Germany
WeGo Systembaustoffe GmbH & Co.oHG

I

I

France
Société de l’Ouest des Produits Isolants SA

I

I

The Netherlands
SIG Nederland B.V.

I

I

Poland
WKT Polska Sp. zo.o.

I

I

USA
SIG-Southwest Inc.
BWI Group, Inc.

I
I

I

I

All of the above companies are registered in the country referred to above, with the exception of SIG Trading Limited, Miller Pattison Limited and
Leaderflush + Shapland Limited which are registered in England and Wales.
Fibreglass Insulations Limited and Past and Forward Limited together hold the beneficial ownership of SIG Building Products Limited, WeGo Systembaustoffe
GmbH & Co.oHG, Société de l’Ouest des Produits Isolants SA, SIG Nederland B.V. and WKT Polska Sp. zo.o.
SIG-USA, Inc., an intermediate holding company, owns the entire share capital of SIG-Southwest Inc. and BWI Group, Inc.
The Group owns 80% of the ordinary share capital of Insulation Distributors Limited, via SIG Trading Limited.
The Group owns 93.5% of the ordinary share capital of LS Group Limited. This company owns the entire share capital of Leaderflush + Shapland Limited,
via Leaderflush + Shapland Holdings Limited.

Accounts

A Barry Leonard has worked for SIG for 19 years. He started
as a lorry driver and is now the Logistics Manager for our
new Birmingham insulation warehouse, which covers
80,000 square feet.
B Pauline Rowley is an Administrative Assistant, has worked
for the Company for 20 years, and is responsible for
coordinating customer requirements and liaising with the
warehouse to ensure that all customer orders are fulfilled.
C Robert O’Brien, Sales Executive, explains the benefits
of acoustic insulation material to a customer at an SIG
trade counter.

A

B

D

D Providing excellent service to customers is vitally
important, SIG therefore invests in appropriate delivery
vehicles to meet customer requirements.

C
E

E SIG works closely with architects and contractors to
provide products which meet the required specifications.
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